


DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

‘ In 2016, MGM Resorts reported consolidated Net Revenue of $9.5
. billion, Net Income attributable to MGM Resorts of $1.1 billion,

and Adjusted Property EBITDA of $3.1 billion. Our domestic

resorts achieved Net Revenue of $7.1 billion and Adjusted Property

EBITDA of $2.1 billion, an increase year-over-year of 9% and 22%,

respectively. CityCenter resort operations experienced a record year

with strong financial performance campus-wide and completed
the sale of The Shops at Crystals for $1.1 billion, resulting in a
$540 million dividend to MGM Resorts. In August, we acquired
the remaining 50% interest in Borgata, and in December opened
MGM National Harbor, expanding our presence on the East Coast. ——
In Macau, MGM China continues to shine earning Net Revenue
and Adjusted EBITDA of $1.9 billion and $521 million, respectively.
In September, MGM purchased an additional 5% stake in T e T
MGM China—increasing its ownership to 56% and is a direct LTI
reflection of our continued confidence in the future of the Macau
marketplace and the ongoing success of MGM China as we expand

into Cotai in 2017.

MGM Resorts International has evolved into one of the world’s
leading entertainment companies, widely regarded for creating
unforgettable experiences through our iconic suite of resort brands.
This success is rooted in a deeply held belief that the desire for fun

——
E—
m and enjoyment is more than a pastime, it’s a fundamental human

need. It’s born of our refusal to accept the status quo and our passion

for delivering with excellence. It also stems from our commitment to

corporate responsibility that ensures the greatest possible return to

you, our shareholders. So with each new endeavor, we ask ourselves:

Will it endure? Is it transformational to the destination? Does it meet

the standard of discipline required to deliver greater value?

This past year, we celebrated several new and exciting additions that

met both our high creative standards and our commitment to fiscal

responsibility. We also accomplished many strategic objectives that

strengthened our balance sheet, assured our leading position in

new markets and further cemented our reputation among the most

recognizable hospitality brands in the U.S. and around the world.
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ANCHORING OUR LEADERSHIP IN ENTERTAINMENT

MGM Resorts continues to invest in targeted opportunities to elevate the customer experience and drive
visitation to our destinations. We expanded our spectrum of live entertainment with the opening of the
highly awarded T-Mobile Arena and Park Theater at Monte Carlo in Las Vegas and The Theater at MGM
National Harbor in Maryland. These additions to our portfolio, along with our enduring partnerships with

Cirque du Soleil, AEG and Live Nation, solidify our dominance as the leader in live entertainment.

INNOVATING TO CREATE VALUE
On April 25, 2016, MGM Growth Properties (“MGP”) completed its $1.2 billion initial public offering,

and has become a leading publicly traded real estate investment trust (“REIT”), majority controlled by
MGM Resorts, and engaged in the acquisition, ownership, and leasing of large scale hospitality and leisure
assets. The successful formation of MGP highlights the significant underlying value of MGM Resorts’
irreplaceable assets and brings numerous strategic and financial benefits, including deleveraging our

balance sheet and enhancing our financial flexibility to execute on our growth strategy.

CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT DRIVES
OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE

The success of the Profit Growth Plan and the transformation from within the organization to embrace

our “One Company, One Culture” vision has fundamentally changed the way we operate our business,
as demonstrated by our improved operating efficiency since the launch of the plan in mid-2015. In 2016,
our domestic resorts produced same-store Adjusted Property EBITDA margins of approximately 30%, an
improvement of over 500 basis points since 2014. The plan showcases our persistence to drive continuous
improvement throughout all aspects of the Company and remain the industry leader in innovation and

operational excellence.

DEVELOPMENT DRIVES MARKET DOMINANCE

Looking forward, we are excited about the highly anticipated unveiling of our second property in Asia,
MGM COTAI opening in the second half of 2017. This incredible property, designed as the “jewelry box”
of Cotai, will offer approximately 1,500 hotel rooms and suites, retail and food and beverage offerings
as well as the first international Mansion at MGM for the ultimate luxury experience. In addition,
MGM COTALI will offer Asia’s first versatile theater and a Spectacle to wow every guest who steps foot
in the resort. MGM MACAU and MGM COTALI each possess distinct characteristics that will enhance
Macau’s diversified offerings and bring more innovative forms of entertainment to this growing, global
tourism destination. Expanding our presence on the East Coast in the United States, MGM Springfield — our
dynamic development in western Massachusetts—continues to progress as planned with an anticipated
opening in late 2018. Sure to ignite a cultural and economic renaissance in this historic New England town,
the approximately two-million-square-foot development combines new construction with revived historic
buildings and offers more than 125,000 square feet of gaming space, a 250-room boutique hotel along Main

Street with spa services, engaging dining and diverse retail.



TODAY: A STRONGER COMPANY

A strong operational foundation built through our Profit Growth Plan, the successful initial public offering of MGM Growth
Properties, our disciplined approach to value-generating opportunities and our focus on reducing leverage have significantly
improved the Company’s financial position and resulted in a more sustainable, enduring organization. This has resulted in
upgrades to our corporate credit rating by the Big Three rating agencies—Moody’s, Standard & Poor’s and Fitch Ratings. Your
Company’s keen focus in executing on these strategic milestones has created a path to free cash flow and returning value to you,
our shareholders, and is exemplified by the Company’s adoption of a quarterly dividend policy with the first dividend of $0.11 per
share paid on March 15, 2017.

As we expand our presence across the U.S. and around the world, our reputation as a leading corporate citizen continues to grow.
We are once again named among FORTUNE® Magazine’s Most Admired Companies® and we remain committed to the
fundamental imperative of helping build and strengthen the communities in which we operate through our commitments to
corporate social responsibility, diversity and inclusion. I'd like to thank our shareholders for their continued support and
acknowledge the dedication it takes from each of our 77,000 employees to make MGM Resorts a leader in global hospitality. The

future has never been more exciting.

Jim Murren
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following reflects selected historical financial data that should be read in conjunction with
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The historical
results are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations to be expected in the future.

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
(In thousands, except per share data)
NEt FEVENUES ... eeveieieeieiieaiiiaaeeennen $ 9,455,123 $§ 9,190,068 $ 10,081,984 $ 9,809,663 § 9,160,844
Operating income (10S8) ...................... 2,079,787 (156,232) 1,323,538 1,137,281 121,351
Net income (10SS).....c.ovvvveinieiiiiiniann... 1,236,878 (1,039,649) 127,178 41,374 (1,616,912)
Net income (loss) attributable to MGM
Resorts International ....................... 1,101,440 (447,720) (149,873) (171,734) (1,767,691)
Earnings per share of common stock
attributable to MGM Resorts
International:
Basic:
Net income (loss) per share............. $ 194 % 0.82) $ 0.31) $ 035 $ (3.62)
Weighted average number of shares ... 568,134 542,873 490,875 489,661 488,988
Diluted:
Net income (loss) per share............. $ 192 § 0.82) $ 0.31) $ (0.35) $ (3.62)
Weighted average number of shares ... 573,317 542,873 490,875 489,661 488,988
At-year end:
Total @ssets.......ovvveirieiiieiiiiiannnns $ 28,173,301 $ 25,215,178 $ 26,593,914 § 25,961,843 § 26,157,799
Total debt, including capital leases ....... 13,000,792 12,713,416 14,063,563 13,326,441 13,462,968
Stockholders’ equity ....................... 9,969,312 7,764,427 7,628,274 7,860,495 8,116,016
MGM Resorts International
stockholders’ equity ..................... 6,220,180 5,119,927 4,090,917 4,216,051 4,365,548
MGM Resorts International
stockholders’ equity per share........... $ 10.83 3 9.06 $ 833 § 8.60 $ 8.92
Number of shares outstanding.............. 574,124 564,839 491,292 490,361 489,234

The following events/transactions affect the year-to-year comparability of the selected financial data
presented above:

Acquisitions, Dispositions, and MGP Transaction

* In 2016, we recorded a $401 million gain for our share of CityCenter’s gain on the sale of the Shops at Crystals
(“Crystals”). The gain included $200 million representing our share of the gain recorded by CityCenter and
$201 million representing the reversal of certain basis differences. The basis differences primarily related to
other-than-temporary impairment charges recorded on our investment in CityCenter that were allocated to
Crystals’ building assets.

* In 2016, we received proceeds of $1.2 billion and paid $75 million in issuance costs in connection with MGP’s
IPO. See Note 1 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional information.

* In 2016, we recorded a gain of $430 million on the acquisition of Boyd Gaming’s ownership interest in
Borgata. Upon acquisition of Borgata on August 1, 2016, we began consolidating the results of Borgata and
ceased recording of Borgata’s results as an equity method investment.

e In 2016, we opened MGM National Harbor, an integrated casino, hotel and entertainment resort in Prince
George’s County at National Harbor, which is a waterfront development located on the Potomac River just
outside of Washington, D.C.



Other

* In 2012, we recorded non-cash impairment charges of $85 million related to our investment in Grand Victoria,
$65 million related to our investment in Borgata, $366 million related to our land on the north end of the Las
Vegas Strip, $167 million related to our Atlantic City land and $47 million for the South Jersey Transportation
Authority special revenue bonds we hold.

 In 2012, we recorded a charge of $18 million related to our share of the CityCenter residential real estate
impairment charge and a charge of $16 million related to our share of CityCenter’s Harmon demolition costs.

 In 2012, we recorded a $563 million loss on debt retirement in connection with the February 2012 amendment
and restatement of our senior credit facility and in connection with our December 2012 refinancing
transactions.

* In 2013, we recorded non-cash impairment charges of $37 million related to our investment in Grand Victoria,
$20 million related to our land in Jean and Sloan, Nevada, and $45 million related to corporate buildings
expected to be removed from service.

* In 2013, we recorded a $70 million loss for our share of CityCenter’s non-operating loss on retirement of long-
term debt, primarily consisting of premiums associated with the redemption of the existing first and second
lien notes as well as the write-off of previously unamortized debt issuance costs and a gain of $12 million
related to our share of Silver Legacy’s non-operating gain on retirement of long-term debt.

* In 2014, we recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $29 million related to our investment in Grand Victoria.

 In 2015, we recorded non-cash impairment charges of $1.5 billion to reduce the historical carrying value of
goodwill related to the MGM China reporting unit and $17 million related to our investment in Grand Victoria.

* In 2015, we recorded an $80 million gain for our share of CityCenter’s gain resulting from the final resolution
of its construction litigation and related settlements.

* In 2015, we recorded a gain of $23 million related to the sale of Circus Circus Reno and our 50% interest in
Silver Legacy and associated real property.

* In 2016, we recorded a $22 million loss related to our redemption of outstanding 7.50% senior notes due 2016
and 10% senior notes due 2016, and a $16 million loss on the early retirement of debt related to outstanding
7.625% senior notes due 2017.

* In 2016, we recorded a $28 million loss on debt retirement in connection with the amendment and restatement
of our senior credit facility.

 In 2016, we recorded a $152 million expense related to our strategic decision to exit the fully bundled sales
system of NV Energy, which included $13 million related to our share of CityCenter’s portion of the payment.



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Executive Overview

Our primary business is the ownership and operation of casino resorts, which offer gaming, hotel,
convention, dining, entertainment, retail and other resort amenities. We own or invest in several of the finest
casino resorts in the world and we continually reinvest in our resorts to maintain our competitive advantage.
Most of our revenue is cash-based, through customers wagering with cash or paying for non-gaming services
with cash or credit cards. We rely heavily on the ability of our resorts to generate operating cash flow to fund
capital expenditures, provide excess cash flow for future development and repay debt financings. We make
significant investments in our resorts through newly remodeled hotel rooms, restaurants, entertainment and
nightlife offerings, as well as other new features and amenities.

During the year ended December 31, 2016, Las Vegas visitor volume increased 1%, Las Vegas Strip
REVPAR increased 6% and Las Vegas Strip gaming revenue increased by less than 1% compared to the prior
year period according to information published by the Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority. Results of
operations for our domestic resorts during 2016 benefited from an increase in operating margins resulting from
increases in gaming revenue and REVPAR, and the results of our Profit Growth Plan, discussed below. Our
rooms revenue benefited from increased visitation to the Las VVegas market and robust convention business at our
Las Vegas Strip resorts, which allowed us to yield higher room rates across our portfolio of resorts.

Gross gaming revenues in the Macau market decreased 3% in 2016 compared to 2015, and gross gaming
revenues decreased 34% in 2015 compared to 2014. As a significant number of MGM Macau’s customers are
from mainland China, we believe operating results were negatively affected by economic conditions in mainland
China as well as certain policy initiatives in mainland China and Macau. Specifically, a continuing slowdown in
China’s economic growth rate, the Chinese government’s restrictions on travel and cross-border currency
transactions, new compliance regulations for gaming promoters and gaming operators enacted by the Macau
government and implemented in late 2015 and in 2016 and a ban on mobile phone usage at gaming tables in an
attempt to eliminate “proxy” bets have all negatively affected MGM Macau’s high-end customers and the
gaming promoters with which we conduct our VIP casino gaming operations. In addition, the Chinese
government’s anti-corruption campaign has changed consumption patterns and affected the propensity of our
clients to spend on certain areas like gaming or luxury items. The Macau government also implemented a full
main floor casino smoking ban in October 2014. These factors led to a continued decrease in gross gaming
revenues for the Macau market beginning in the second half of 2014 and lasted into 2016 primarily impacting
VIP casino gaming operations and, to a lesser extent, main floor operations throughout the Macau market.
Despite concerns over the recent events and the sustainability of economic growth in China, we expect the
Macau market to grow on a long-term basis due to further development, penetration of the mainland China
market and infrastructure improvements expected to facilitate more convenient travel to and within Macau, and
we believe recent trends reflect stabilization within the Macau market. According to statistics published by the
Statistics and Census Service of the Macau Government, after several quarters of declines in visitation
throughout 2015, visitor arrivals increased slightly by 1% and overnight visitors increased 10% in 2016
compared to 2015. Additionally, gross gaming revenue increased year over year in each of the months from
August 2016 through December 2016.

Our results of operations are affected by decisions we make related to our capital allocation, our access to
capital and our cost of capital. While we continue to be focused on improving our financial position, we are also
dedicated to capitalizing on development opportunities. In Macau, we estimate costs to develop MGM Cotai will
be approximately $3.3 billion, excluding development fees eliminated in consolidation, capitalized interest and
land related costs. MGM Cotai is a casino resort with capacity for up to 500 gaming tables and up to 1,500 slots,
and featuring approximately 1,500 hotel rooms, built on an approximately 18 acre site on the Cotai Strip in
Macau. The actual number of gaming tables allocated to MGM Cotai will be determined by the Macau
government prior to opening, and such allocation is expected to be less than our 500 gaming table capacity.
MGM Cotai is expected to open in the second half of 2017.

4



We were awarded a casino license to build and operate MGM Springfield in Springfield, Massachusetts.
MGM Springfield will be developed on approximately 14 acres of land in downtown Springfield. MGM’s plans
for the resort currently include a casino with approximately 3,000 slots and 100 table games including poker; a
250-room hotel; 100,000 square feet of retail and restaurant space; 44,000 square feet of meeting and event
space; and a 3,375-space parking garage; with an expected development and construction cost of approximately
$865 million, excluding capitalized interest and land-related costs. Construction of MGM Springfield is expected
to be completed in late 2018.

In August 2015, we announced the implementation of a Profit Growth Plan for sustained growth and margin
enhancement. The Profit Growth Plan’s initiatives focused on improving business processes to leverage our scale
for greater efficiency and lower costs, and to identify areas of opportunity to organically drive incremental
revenue growth. The Profit Growth Plan included a large number of initiatives to optimize operations and we
continue to explore additional opportunities to drive further improvement. In June 2016, we announced that we
expect to achieve approximately $400 million of annualized Adjusted EBITDA benefit compared to our baseline,
which we expect to be fully realized by the end of 2017.

Formation and Initial Public Offering of MGP

On April 25, 2016, MGM Growth Properties LLC (“MGP”’) completed its TPO of 57,500,000 of its Class A
shares representing limited liability company interests (inclusive of the full exercise by the underwriters of their
option to purchase 7,500,000 Class A shares) at an initial offering price of $21 per share. MGP used the proceeds
from the IPO to purchase Operating Partnership units in MGM Growth Properties Operating Partnership LP (the
“Operating Partnership”), to which we contributed the real estate assets associated with The Mirage, Mandalay
Bay, Luxor, New York-New York, Monte Carlo, Excalibur, The Park, Gold Strike Tunica, MGM Grand Detroit
and Beau Rivage in exchange for Operating Partnership units in the Operating Partnership in connection with the
IPO.

MGP is organized as an umbrella partnership REIT (commonly referred to as an “UPREIT”) structure in
which substantially all of its assets are owned by, and substantially all of its businesses are conducted through the
Operating Partnership. MGP contributed the proceeds from the IPO to the Operating Partnership in exchange for
26.7% of the units in the Operating Partnership. The general partner of the Operating Partnership is also a
wholly-owned subsidiary of MGP. As a result, MGP controls and consolidates the Operating Partnership. MGP
has two classes of authorized and outstanding voting common shares (collectively, the “shares”): Class A shares
and a single Class B share. We own MGP’s Class B share, which does not provide its holder any rights to profits
or losses or any rights to receive distributions from operations of MGP or upon liquidation or winding up of
MGP. MGP’s Class A sharcholders are entitled to one vote per share, while we, as the owner of the Class B
share, are entitled to an amount of votes representing a majority of the total voting power of MGP’s shares so
long as our and our controlled affiliates’ (excluding MGP) aggregate beneficial ownership of the combined
economic interests in MGP and the Operating Partnership does not fall below 30%. As such, we control MGP
through our majority voting rights and consolidate MGP in our financial results. Subsequent to our acquisition of
Borgata and subsequent contribution of Borgata’s real estate assets to MGP as discussed below, our ownership in
the Operating Partnership, increased from 73.3% to 76.3%. As a result of the Borgata transaction, MGP’s
ownership in the Operating Partnership was correspondingly reduced from 26.7% to 23.7%.

In connection with the formation of MGP, we borrowed $4.0 billion under certain bridge facilities, the
proceeds of which were used to repay outstanding obligations under our prior senior credit facility and to redeem
our 7.5% senior notes due 2016 and our 10% senior notes due 2016. The bridge facilities were subsequently
assumed by the Operating Partnership pursuant to the master contribution agreement. The Operating Partnership
repaid the bridge facilities with a combination of proceeds from certain financing transactions and the proceeds
from the IPO.



Acquisition of Borgata Hotel Casino & Spa

On August 1, 2016, we completed the acquisition of Boyd Gaming Corporation’s (“Boyd Gaming”)
ownership interest in Borgata, at which time Borgata became a consolidated subsidiary of ours. Accordingly, we
recorded a gain of approximately $430 million as a result of the acquisition of Borgata and resulting
consolidation of Borgata, which we previously accounted for under the equity method. See Note 4 in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional information. Following completion of the
acquisition, MGP subsequently acquired Borgata’s real property from a subsidiary of ours in exchange for
MGP’s assumption of $545 million of indebtedness from our subsidiary and the issuance of $27.4 million
Operating Partnership units to our subsidiary. In connection with the Borgata transaction, we borrowed $545
million under certain bridge facilities, which were subsequently contributed to the Operating Partnership. The
Operating Partnership repaid the bridge facilities with a combination of cash on hand and a draw down on their
revolving credit facility, which it subsequently refinanced with proceeds from its offering of its 4.5% senior notes
due 2026. Pursuant to an amendment to the master lease, MGP leased back the real property of Borgata to a
subsidiary of ours and as a result, initial rent payments to MGP increased by $100 million, prorated for the
remainder of the first lease year after the Borgata transaction. Consistent with the master lease terms, 90% of this
rent is fixed and will contractually grow at 2% per year until 2022.

Reportable Segments

We have two reportable segments: domestic resorts and MGM China. We currently own and operate 14
resorts in the United States. MGM China’s operations consist of MGM Macau resort and the development of
MGM Cotai on the Cotai Strip in Macau. We have additional business activities including investments in
unconsolidated affiliates, and certain other corporate and management operations. CityCenter is our most
significant unconsolidated affiliate, which we also manage for a fee. Our operations that are not segregated into
separate reportable segments are reported as “corporate and other” operations in our reconciliations of segment
results to consolidated results.

Domestic resorts. At December 31, 2016, our domestic resorts consisted of the following casino resorts:

Las Vegas, Nevada: Bellagio, MGM Grand Las Vegas (including The Signature), Mandalay Bay
(including Delano and Four Seasons), The Mirage, Luxor, New York-New York,
Excalibur, Monte Carlo and Circus Circus Las Vegas.

Other: MGM Grand Detroit in Detroit, Michigan; Beau Rivage in Biloxi, Mississippi;
Gold Strike Tunica in Tunica, Mississippi; Borgata in Atlantic City, New Jersey;
and MGM National Harbor in Prince George’s County, Maryland.

Over half of the net revenue from our domestic resorts is derived from non-gaming operations including
hotel, food and beverage, entertainment and other non-gaming amenities. We market to different customer
groups and utilize our significant convention and meeting facilities to maximize hotel occupancy and customer
volumes which also leads to better labor utilization. Our operating results are highly dependent on demand for
our services, and the volume of customers at our resorts, which in turn affects the price we can charge for our
hotel rooms and other amenities. Also, we generate a significant portion of our revenue from our domestic resorts
in Las Vegas, Nevada, which exposes us to certain risks, such as increased competition from new or expanded
Las Vegas resorts, and from the expansion of gaming in the United States generally.

Key performance indicators related to gaming and hotel revenue at our domestic resorts are:

» Gaming revenue indicators: table games drop and slots handle (volume indicators); “win” or “hold”
percentage, which is not fully controllable by us. Our normal table games hold percentage is in the range
of 19% to 23% of table games drop and our normal slots hold percentage is in the range of 8.5% to 9% of
slots handle; and



» Hotel revenue indicators: hotel occupancy (a volume indicator); average daily rate (“ADR,” a price
indicator); and revenue per available room (“REVPAR,” a summary measure of hotel results, combining
ADR and occupancy rate). Our calculation of ADR, which is the average price of occupied rooms per
day, includes the impact of complimentary rooms. Complimentary room rates are determined based on an
analysis of retail or “cash” rates for each customer segment and each type of room product to estimate
complimentary rates which are consistent with retail rates. Complimentary rates are reviewed at least
annually and on an interim basis if there are significant changes in market conditions. Because the mix of
rooms provided on a complimentary basis, particularly to casino customers, includes a disproportionate
suite component, the composite ADR including complimentary rooms is slightly higher than the ADR for
cash rooms, reflecting the higher retail value of suites.

MGM China. Subsequent to the acquisition of an additional 4.95% of the outstanding common shares of
our MGM China subsidiary in September 2016, we own an approximate 56% controlling interest in MGM
China, which owns MGM Grand Paradise, the Macau company that owns and operates MGM Macau and the
related gaming subconcession and land concessions, and is in the process of developing MGM Cotai. We believe
our investment in MGM China plays an important role in extending our reach internationally and will foster
future growth and profitability.

Revenues at MGM Macau are generated from three primary customer segments in the Macau gaming market:
VIP casino gaming operations, main floor gaming operations, and slot machine operations. VIP players play mostly
in dedicated VIP rooms or designated gaming areas. VIP customers can be further divided into customers sourced
by in-house VIP programs and those sourced through gaming promoters. A significant portion of our VIP volume is
generated through the use of gaming promoters. Gaming promoters introduce VIP gaming players to MGM Macau,
assist these customers with travel arrangements, and extend gaming credit to these players. In exchange for their
services, gaming promoters are compensated through payment of revenue-sharing arrangements or rolling chip
turnover based commissions. In-house VIP players also typically receive a commission based on the program in
which they participate. MGM Macau main floor operations primarily consist of walk-in and day trip visitors. Unlike
gaming promoters and in-house VIP players, main floor players do not receive commissions. The profit contribution
from the main floor segment exceeds the VIP segment due to commission costs paid to gaming promoters. Gaming
revenues from the main floor segment have become an increasingly significant portion of total gaming revenues in
recent years and we believe this segment represents the most potential for sustainable growth in the future.

VIP gaming at MGM Macau is conducted by the use of special purpose nonnegotiable gaming chips.
Gaming promoters purchase these nonnegotiable chips from MGM Macau and in turn they sell these chips to
their players. The nonnegotiable chips allow MGM Macau to track the amount of wagering conducted by each
gaming promoters’ clients in order to determine VIP gaming play. Gaming promoter commissions are based on a
percentage of the gross table games win or a percentage of the table games turnover they generate. They also
receive a complimentary allowance based on a percentage of the table games turnover they generate, which can
be applied to hotel rooms, food and beverage and other discretionary customers-related expenses. The estimated
portion of the gaming promoter payments that represent amounts passed through to VIP customers is recorded as
a reduction of casino revenue, and the estimated portion retained by the gaming promoter for its compensation is
recorded as casino expense. In-house VIP commissions are based on a percentage of rolling chip turnover and are
recorded as a reduction of casino revenue.

In addition to the key performance indicators used by our domestic resorts, MGM Macau utilizes
“turnover,” which is the sum of nonnegotiable chip wagers won by MGM Macau calculated as nonnegotiable
chips purchased plus nonnegotiable chips exchanged less nonnegotiable chips returned. Turnover provides a
basis for measuring VIP casino win percentage. Win for VIP gaming operations at MGM Macau is typically in
the range of 2.7% to 3.0% of turnover.

Corporate and other. Corporate and other includes our investments in unconsolidated affiliates and certain
management and other operations. See Note 1 and Note 7 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements
for discussion of the Company’s unconsolidated affiliates.
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Results of Operations

The following discussion is based on our consolidated financial statements for the years ended
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014.

Summary Operating Results

The following table summarizes our operating results:

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)
NEE TEVEIUES ...ttt e e e e eeeeaaeeeeaes $ 9,455,123 $ 9,190,068 $ 10,081,984
Operating income (10SS) ......ccevvviiiiiiiieiiiiiieaiians 2,079,787 (156,232) 1,323,538

Consolidated net revenues for 2016 increased 3% compared to 2015 due primarily to the Borgata transaction
on August 1, 2016, the opening of MGM National Harbor in December 2016 and an increase in casino revenue,
rooms revenue, food and beverage revenue, and other revenue including parking fee revenue at our domestic
resorts, partially offset by a decrease in casino revenue at MGM China. Consolidated net revenues for 2015
decreased 9% compared to 2014 due primarily to a decrease in casino revenue at MGM China, offset by
increases in casino and non-casino revenue at our domestic resorts. See “Operating Results — Detailed Segment
Information” below for additional information related to segment revenues.

Consolidated operating income of $2.1 billion in 2016 compared to an operating loss of $156 million in
2015. Operating income in 2016 benefited from $39 million of operating income from Borgata subsequent to the
acquisition, a $430 million gain recognized on the Borgata transaction, and an increase in income from
unconsolidated affiliates primarily due to a $401 million gain related to the sale of Crystals at CityCenter (see
“Operating Results — Income (Loss) from Unconsolidated Affiliates” for further discussion). Operating income in
2016 was also negatively affected by charges of $152 million of NV Energy exit expense associated with the
Company’s strategic decision to exit the fully bundled sales system of NV Energy, which includes expense at our
domestic resorts as well as our 50% share of expense recognized at CityCenter, an increase in preopening
expense, and an increase in corporate expense. See “Operating Results — Details of Certain Charges” below for
additional detail on our preopening expense. Corporate expense increased to $313 million in 2016, due primarily
to costs incurred to implement initiatives related to the Profit Growth Plan of $23 million, costs associated with
the initial public offering of MGP of $25 million, transaction costs incurred in connection with the Borgata
transaction, incremental performance-based compensation expense, and costs associated with a litigation
settlement.

Consolidated operating loss of $156 million in 2015 was negatively affected by an operating loss for MGM
China that included a $1.5 billion non-cash impairment charge to goodwill recognized in the acquisition of a
controlling interest in MGM China in 2011. In connection with that acquisition, we recorded a $3.5 billion non-
cash gain. The 2015 impairment charge, which represents approximately 42% of the amount of the previously
recognized gain, resulted from our annual review of our goodwill carrying values and was incurred as a result of
reduced cash flow forecasts for MGM China’s resorts based on market conditions at that time and lower
valuation multiples for gaming assets in the Macau market. In addition, the operating loss was affected by a
decrease in operating results at MGM Macau. The operating loss for MGM China was partially offset by an
increase in operating income at our domestic resorts and an increase in income from unconsolidated affiliates,
primarily from CityCenter, which included $80 million related to our share of the gain recognized by CityCenter
as a result of the final resolution of its construction litigation and related settlements. In addition, corporate
expense increased 15% to $275 million in 2015, due primarily to costs incurred to implement initiatives in
relation to the Profit Growth Plan of $24 million and $20 million in costs associated with the MGP transaction.
Preopening expense, primarily related to our MGM Cotai, MGM Springfield and MGM National Harbor
development projects, increased to $71 million in 2015 compared to $39 million in 2014. Consolidated operating
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loss in 2015 was also negatively affected by impairment charges and losses on disposal of certain assets recorded
in “Property transactions, net.” See “Operating Results — Details of Certain Changes” below for additional detail
related to property transactions.

Operating Results — Detailed Segment Information

The following table presents a detail by segment of consolidated net revenue and Adjusted EBITDA.
Management uses Adjusted Property EBITDA as the primary profit measure for its reportable segments. See
“Non-GAAP Measures” for additional information:

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)

Net Revenues

DOMESHIC TESOTES ...ttt ettt et e $ 7055718 $§ 6,497,361 $§ 6,342,084

MGM China .....ooviiiiiiii e 1,920,487 2,214,767 3,282,329

Reportable segment net revenues .......................... 8,976,205 8,712,128 9,624,413

Corporate and other ... 478,918 477,940 457,571

$ 9455123 $§ 9,190,068 $ 10,081,984

Adjusted EBITDA

DOMESHIC TESOTES .. v et et e $ 2063016 $ 1,689966 $ 1,518,307

MGM China ......ooviiiiiiiii e 520,736 539,881 850,471

Reportable segment Adjusted Property EBITDA ........ 2,583,752 2,229,847 2,368,778
Corporate and other ...............coiiiiiiiii i 211,932 9,073 (149,216)

$ 2795684 $ 2,238,920 $ 2,219,562

Domestic resorts. The following table is a reconciliation of domestic resorts net revenues to domestic
resorts same-store net revenues:

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)

Domestic TESOTES NEL TEVENUES . ......uute ettt $ 7,055,718 $ 6,497,361 $ 6,342,084
Net revenues related to Borgata .................oooeiiiiiinian (348,462) - -
Net revenues related to National Harbor ......................... (53,005) - -
Net revenues related to sold resort operations ................... - (78,792) (118,035)

Domestic resorts same-store net reVenuesS........oo.veeeeeennnnn.... $ 6,654,251 $§ 6,418,569 $ 6,224,049




The following table presents detailed net revenues at our domestic resorts:

Year Ended December 31,

2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)

Casino revenue, net

Table GamMeS . ......iet it $ 1,051,147 $ 880,318 $ 892,842
SLOtS e 1,920,284 1,720,028 1,679,981
O heT . 83,020 70,148 64,419
CaSINO FEVENUE, NEL ... .ttt ettt 3,054,451 2,670,494 2,637,242
Non-casino revenue

ROOMS 1,965,378 1,813,838 1,705,395
Food and beverage ...........cccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii 1,578,704 1,500,039 1,470,315
Entertainment, retail and other ...l 1,166,477 1,167,488 1,184,343
NON-CaSINO TEVENUE .....vvvrerieeeeeiiiiiieeeee e 4,710,559 4,481,365 4,360,053
7,765,010 7,151,859 6,997,295

Less: Promotional allowances ...............cc.ovviiiiiiiiiiinnn.... (709,292) (654,498) (655,211)

$ 7,055,718 § 6,497,361 $§ 6,342,084

The following table presents detailed domestic resorts same-store net revenues:

Year Ended December 31,

2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)

Casino revenue, net

Table aMES ... .ouiti e $ 951,836 $ 874,879 $ 886,449
SOt ettt 1,723,576 1,693,717 1,641,268
Other ..o 60,398 69,114 62,705
Casino revenuUe, NEt............ooiiiiiiiiiiii i, 2,735,810 2,637,710 2,590,422
Non-casino revenue

ROOIMS .o 1,910,765 1,794,289 1,682,677
Food and beverage ...........coovviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 1,511,189 1,486,175 1,450,086
Entertainment, retail and other .................................... 1,143,361 1,148,877 1,145,672
NON-CASINO TEVENUE ...ttt ettiieee e et iiiieeaeeaans 4,565,315 4,429,341 4,278,435
7,301,125 7,067,051 6,868,857

Less: Promotional allowances ...................ocoviiiiiiiinnnn (646,874) (648,482) (644,808)

$ 6,654251 $ 6,418,569 $ 6,224,049

Casino revenue increased 14% in 2016 compared to 2015 due primarily to the Borgata transaction and an
increase in both table games revenue and slots revenue on a same-store basis. Same-store casino revenue
increased 4% compared to prior year due primarily to an increase in table games revenue. Same-store table
games revenue increased 9% in 2016 compared to 2015 due to an increase in same-store table games hold
percentage to 23.2% from 20.5% in 2015. On a same-store basis, slots revenue increased 2% compared to the
prior year.

Casino revenue increased 1% in 2015 compared to 2014 due to a 2% increase in slots revenue as a result of
a 3% increase in slots volume. Same-store casino revenue in 2015 increased 2% compared to 2014 due primarily
to a 3% increase in slots revenue as a result of a 4% increase in slots volume.
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Rooms revenue increased 8% and same-store rooms revenue increased 6% in 2016 compared to 2015 as a
result of a 6% increase in REVPAR at our Las Vegas Strip resorts. Rooms revenue increased 6% and same-store
rooms revenue increased 7% in 2015 compared to 2014 as a result of a 7% increase in REVPAR at our Las
Vegas Strip resorts.

The following table shows key hotel statistics for our Las Vegas Strip resorts:

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
(0T 1Y T 93% 93% 93%
Average Daily Rate (ADR) .........cooovviviiiiiiiiiiiinininn, $ 157 % 149 % 139
Revenue per Available Room (REVPAR) .................... 146 138 129

Food and beverage revenues increased 5% in 2016 compared to 2015 due primarily to the Borgata
transaction, an increase in convention and banquet business, and the opening of several new outlets. Same-store
food and beverage revenue increased 2% in 2016 compared to 2015. Food and beverage revenues increased 2%
in 2015 compared to 2014 primarily as a result of increased convention and banquet business as well as the
opening of several new outlets. Same-store food and beverage revenue increased 2% in 2015 compared to 2014.
Entertainment, retail and other revenues decreased less than 1% in 2016 compared to 2015 due primarily to a 5%
decrease in entertainment revenue as a result of our strategic decision to lease MGM Grand Garden Arena to a
subsidiary of the Las Vegas Arena Company, LLC effective on January 1, 2016 offset by a 7% increase in other
revenue primarily as a result of valet and self-parking fees which were implemented in June 2016. Same-store
entertainment, retail and other revenues decreased less than 1% in 2016 compared to 2015. Entertainment, retail
and other revenues decreased 1% in 2015 compared to 2014 due primarily to a 5% decrease in revenue from
Cirque du Soleil production shows, partially offset by a 5% increase in retail revenue. Same-store entertainment,
retail and other revenues decreased less than 1% in 2015 compared to 2014.

The following table is a reconciliation of domestic resorts Adjusted Property EBITDA to domestic resorts
Same-store Adjusted Property EBITDA. See “Non-GAAP Measures” for additional information on domestic
resorts Same-store Adjusted Property EBITDA:

Year Ended December 31,

2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)

Domestic resorts Adjusted Property EBITDA ...................... $ 2,063,016 $ 1,689,966 $ 1,518,307
Adjusted Property EBITDA related to Borgata .................. (81,281) - -
Adjusted Property EBITDA related to National Harbor ........ (9,596) - -
Adjusted Property EBITDA related to sold resort operations .. - (3,441) 223

Domestic resorts Same-store Adjusted Property EBITDA ........ $ 1,972,139 $ 1,686,525 $ 1,518,530

Adjusted Property EBITDA at our domestic resorts was $2.1 billion in 2016, an increase of 22% compared
to 2015 due primarily to approximately $244 million of incremental Adjusted Property EBITDA growth
generated from the Company’s Profit Growth Plan initiatives as well as $81 million of Adjusted Property
EBITDA resulting from the Borgata transaction and $10 million of Adjusted Property EBITDA resulting from
the December 2016 opening of MGM National Harbor as well as an increase in revenues as discussed above.
Same-store Adjusted Property EBITDA increased 17% in 2016 compared to 2015. Same-store Adjusted Property
EBITDA margin in 2016 increased by 336 basis points compared to 2015 to 29.6%.

Adjusted Property EBITDA at our domestic resorts was $1.7 billion in 2015, an increase of 11% compared
to 2014 due primarily to improved casino and non-casino revenue results at our domestic resorts as discussed
above, and approximately $71 million of incremental Adjusted Property EBITDA as a result of the Company’s



Profit Growth Plan initiatives. Same-store Adjusted Property EBITDA increased 11% in 2015 compared to 2014
and Same-store Adjusted Property EBITDA margin in 2015 increased by 188 basis points compared to 2014 to
26.3%.

MGM China. The following table presents detailed net revenue for MGM China:

Year Ended December 31,

2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)

Casino revenue, net

VIPtable games ..........cooiiiiiiiii $ 720,522 $ 977,182 $§ 1,742,034
Main floor table games...............cooveiiiiiiiiiiiinnnn.. 999,506 986,063 1,237,528
SlOtS e 161,586 209,098 261,971
Casino revenue, NEt...........ooveeeiiiieiiiiieiiiiainnnns 1,881,614 2,172,343 3,241,533
NON-CASINO FEVENUE ...ttt ettt 119,419 135,585 147,754
2,001,033 2,307,928 3,389,287

Less: Promotional allowances ...............c.coeeveviieniannn. (80,546) (93,161) (106,958)

$ 1,920,487 § 2,214,767 $§ 3,282,329

Net revenue for MGM China decreased 13% in 2016 compared to 2015 primarily as a result of a decrease in
VIP table games revenue of 26%, which was slightly offset by a 1% increase in main floor table games revenue.
VIP table games turnover decreased 24% compared to the prior year, and VIP table games hold percentage
decreased to 3.2% in 2016 from 3.3% in 2015. Slots revenue decreased 23% in 2016 compared to 2015 due to an
18% decrease in slots volume. Casino revenue continued to be negatively affected in 2016 by the changes in
economic factors and policy initiatives in China that began to take place in 2014, and VIP table games revenue
was further impacted by the new regulatory compliance requirements implemented in late 2015 and in 2016 for
gaming promoters and operators, as well as the curtailing of “proxy” bets as a result of the ban on mobile phone
usage at gaming tables, which began in 2016.

MGM China’s Adjusted EBITDA was $521 million in 2016 and $540 million in 2015. Excluding branding
fees of $34 million and $39 million for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, Adjusted
EBITDA decreased 4% compared to 2015. Adjusted EBITDA margin increased 274 basis points to 27.1% in
2016 primarily as a result of an increase in main floor table games mix and cost reduction efforts.

Net revenue for MGM China decreased 33% in 2015 compared to 2014 primarily as a result of a decrease in
VIP table games revenue of 44%, as well as a decrease in main floor table games revenue of 20%. VIP table
games turnover decreased 54% compared to the prior year, while VIP table games hold percentage increased to
3.3% in 2015 from 2.8% in 2014. Slots revenue decreased 20% in 2015 compared to 2014 due to a 23% decrease
in slots volume. Casino revenue was negatively affected throughout 2015 by the changes in economic factors and
policy initiatives in China that began to take place in 2014.

MGM China’s Adjusted EBITDA was $540 million in 2015 and $850 million in 2014. Excluding branding
fees of $39 million and $43 million for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, Adjusted
EBITDA decreased 35% compared to 2014. Adjusted EBITDA margin decreased approximately 150 basis points
to 24.4% in 2015 primarily as a result of a decrease in casino revenue.

Corporate and other. Corporate and other revenue includes revenues from other corporate operations,
management services and reimbursed costs revenue primarily related to our CityCenter management agreement.
Reimbursed costs revenue represents reimbursement of costs, primarily payroll-related, incurred by us in
connection with the provision of management services and was $397 million, $399 million and $383 million for
2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.



Adjusted EBITDA related to corporate and other in 2016 increased due to our gain recognized from the sale
of Crystals at CityCenter. See “Operating Results — Income (Loss) from Unconsolidated Affiliates” for further
discussion. The increase in income from unconsolidated affiliates was partially offset by an increase in corporate
expense discussed previously under “Summary Operating Results” and an increase in stock-based compensation.

Adjusted EBITDA related to corporate and other in 2015 included our share of operating income from
CityCenter, including certain basis difference adjustments, compared to our share of operating loss from
CityCenter in the prior year, and an increase in our share of operating income from Borgata in 2015 compared to
2014. See “Operating Results — Income (Loss) from Unconsolidated Affiliates” for further discussion. The
increases in income from CityCenter and Borgata were partially offset by increased corporate expenses as
discussed previously under “Summary Operating Results.”

Operating Results — Details of Certain Charges

Stock compensation expense is recorded within the department of the recipient of the stock compensation
award. The following table shows the amount of compensation expense recognized after reimbursed costs and
capitalized costs related to employee stock-based awards:

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)
CASINO ..ottt $ 8491 $ 7,571  $ 7,351
Other operating departments ................oovvvvireeennannns 3,577 2,580 2,257
General and administrative ..............coocevviieiiiiienia.... 12,338 10,729 9,323
Corporate expense and other .................coceviiiiiiniinn 29,851 20,966 18,333
$ 54257 $ 41,846 $ 37,264
Preopening and start-up expenses consisted of the following:
Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)
MGM China ..ot $ 27,848 $ 13,863 $ 9,091
MGM National Harbor...............oooooi 77,242 32,837 19,521
MGM Springfield ..........ccooiiiiiii 26,210 19,654 5,261
(0111 8,775 4,973 5,384
$ 140,075 $ 71327 $ 39,257

Preopening and start-up expenses increased in 2016 due primarily to an increase in preopening and start-up
expenses at MGM National Harbor (which opened in December of 2016) and an increase in preopening and start-
up expenses at MGM China related to MGM Cotai (which is expected to open in 2017). Preopening and start-up
expenses at MGM China include $7 million of amortization of the Cotai land concession premium in each of the
years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014. Preopening and start-up expenses at MGM National Harbor
include $15 million, $19 million and $13 million of rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015
and 2014, respectively, which relates to the ground lease for the land on which MGM National Harbor was
developed.



Property transactions, net consisted of the following:

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)

Grand Victoria investment impairment........................ $ - S 17,050 $ 28,789
Gain on sale of Circus Circus Reno and Silver Legacy

INVESTMENL ...ttt ettt e - (23,002) -

Other property transactions, net ..................oeveennennn. 17,078 41,903 12,213

$ 17,078  $ 35951  § 41,002

See Note 17 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for a discussion of property
transactions, net for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014.

Operating Results — Income (Loss) from Unconsolidated Affiliates

The following table summarizes information related to our income (loss) from unconsolidated affiliates:

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)
Borgata (through July 31,2016) ...........cccoiiiiiiiin.... $ 61,169 § 75,764 $ 52,017
(01 0S4 1 1<) N 445,181 158,906 (11,842)
Other. . 21,266 23,213 23,661
$ 527,616 $ 257,883 % 63,836

We completed our acquisition of Borgata on August 1, 2016, at which time the subsidiary operating Borgata
became a consolidated subsidiary. Prior to the acquisition, we held a 50% interest in Borgata, which was
accounted for under the equity method.

In 2016, our share of CityCenter’s operating results, including certain basis difference adjustments, was
$445 million, which included $13 million related to our share of NV Energy exit expense representing
CityCenter’s share of a charge associated with our strategic decision to exit the fully bundled sales system of NV
Energy, $41 million related to our share of accelerated depreciation related to the April 2016 closure of the
Zarkana theatre, as well as $401 million related to our share of a gain recognized by CityCenter on the sale of
Crystals and the reversal of certain basis differences. At Aria, casino revenues decreased 2% in 2016 compared to
2015, due to a 7% decrease in table games volume partially offset by an increase in hold percentage to 24.6% in
2016 compared to 23.8% in 2015. The decrease in table games revenue was partially offset by a 2% increase in
slots revenue. REVPAR increased by 4% and 8% at Aria and Vdara, respectively, which led to a 7% increase in
CityCenter’s rooms revenue in 2016 compared to 2015.

In 2015, our share of CityCenter’s operating results, including certain basis difference adjustments, was
$159 million and included $80 million related to our share of a gain recognized by CityCenter as a result of the
final resolution of its construction litigation and related settlements, compared to an operating loss of $12 million
in 2014. Casino revenue at Aria increased 6% in 2015 compared to 2014 due primarily to an increase in table
games volume and slots volume of 2% and 3%, respectively. CityCenter’s rooms revenue increased 5% in 2015
compared to 2014, due to increases in REVPAR of 6% and 8% at Aria and Vdara, respectively. The increase in
revenues from resort operations was partially offset by a decrease in residential revenues. CityCenter’s operating
income in 2015 benefited from a $99 million decrease in depreciation expense as a result of certain furniture and
equipment becoming fully depreciated in December 2014 offset in part by $20 million in accelerated
depreciation for certain assets associated with the Zarkana theatre, which was closed in April 2016. CityCenter’s
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operating income also benefited from a $26 million decrease in legal and professional fees as a result of the final
resolution of construction litigation and related settlements. Our share of Borgata’s operating income increased in
2015 compared to 2014 due to an increase in casino and non-casino revenues and improved operating margins.

Non-operating Results

Interest expense. The following table summarizes information related to interest on our long-term debt:

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)
Total interest incurred — MGM Resorts (excluding MGM
China) ..o $ 746,467 3 808,733 $ 816,345
Total interest incurred —MGM China ......................... 68,264 53,644 29,976
Interest capitalized .............ccoeiiiiiiiiii (119,958) (64,798) (29,260)
$ 694,773  $ 797,579 $ 817,061
Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitalized ............ $ 661,166 $ 776,540 $ 776,778
End-of-year ratio of fixed-to-floating debt.................... 68/32 67/33 77/23
End-of-year weighted average interest rate ................... 5.4% 5.9% 6.0%

In 2016, interest cost related to MGM Resorts, excluding MGM China, decreased compared to 2015
primarily as a result of a decrease in the average long-term debt outstanding, and also due to a decrease in the
weighted average interest rate, partially offset by an increase in amortization of debt issuance cost associated
with the MGP related financing transactions in April 2016. Interest cost related to MGM China increased in 2016
compared to 2015 due to an increase in the average outstanding amounts borrowed under the MGM China credit
facility partially offset by a decrease in amortization of debt issuance costs. In 2015, interest cost related to MGM
Resorts, excluding China, decreased compared to 2014 as a result of a decrease in the average long-term debt
outstanding during the year related to our senior notes. Interest cost related to MGM China increased in 2015
compared to 2014 due to an increase in the average outstanding amounts borrowed under the MGM China credit
facility and an increase in the amortization of debt issuance costs resulting from costs incurred associated with
the refinancing of the MGM China credit facility in June 2015.

Capitalized interest in 2016 increased compared to 2015 due primarily to the MGM Cotai, MGM National
Harbor, and MGM Springfield projects. Capitalized interest in 2015 increased compared to 2014 due primarily to
the MGM Cotai, MGM National Harbor, and MGM Springfield projects, and our investment in Las Vegas Arena
Company, LLC.

Non-operating items from unconsolidated affiliates. Non-operating expense from unconsolidated
affiliates decreased $23 million in 2016 compared to 2015, due primarily to the acquisition of Borgata on
August 1, 2016, at which time the subsidiary operating Borgata became a consolidated subsidiary of our
company. Prior to the acquisition, we held a 50% ownership interest in Borgata, which was accounted for under
the equity method. Non-operating expense from unconsolidated affiliates decreased $11 million in 2015
compared to 2014, due primarily to a decrease in interest expense at CityCenter.

Other, net. Other expense increased in 2016 compared to 2015 due primarily to a $16 million loss on the
early retirement of debt related to the $743 million 7.625% senior notes due 2017, as well as a $49 million loss
incurred on the early retirement of debt related to the $1.23 billion aggregate principal amount of our outstanding
7.5% senior notes due 2016 and 10% senior notes due 2016 and our prior senior credit facility, recorded in the
second quarter of 2016.



Income taxes. The following table summarizes information related to our income taxes:

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)
Income (loss) before iNCOME taXes ........c.ovveviiririniinianianna.. $ 1,259,177 $ (1,046,243) $ 410,386
Benefit (provision) for income taxes ..............coooeveiiieiniiannn.. (22,299) 6,594 (283,708)
Effective income tax rate ...........c.ooiiiiiiiiieiiiiiee i, 1.8% 0.6% 69.0%
Federal, state and foreign income taxes paid, net of refunds ......... $ 68,236 $ 11,801 $§ 42,272

Our effective tax rate in 2016 was favorably impacted by income tax benefits attributable to a decrease in
valuation allowance on foreign tax credit carryovers and permanent exclusion of a portion of the gain on the
Borgata transaction, partially offset by income tax expense attributable to the remeasurement of Macau deferred
tax liabilities resulting from a change in assumption concerning renewal of the exemption from the Macau
complementary tax on gaming profits. Our effective tax rate in 2015 was unfavorably impacted by the non-cash
impairment charge on MGM China goodwill for which we did not record income tax benefit. Our effective tax
rate decreased in 2015 compared to 2014 primarily as a result of providing greater tax benefit in 2015 than in
2014 for foreign tax credits, net of valuation allowance, partially offset by tax benefit resulting from audit
settlements in 2014.

Cash taxes paid increased in 2016 compared to 2015 primarily as a result of an increase in federal income
taxes paid due to increased U.S. taxable income. Cash taxes paid decreased in 2015 compared to 2014 primarily
as a result of a $16 million refund of taxes and associated interest received in 2015 on the closure of the IRS
examination of CityCenter, which is treated as a partnership for income tax purposes which partially offset
federal income tax estimated tax payments of $23 million made during the year. The remaining $5 million of
cash taxes paid in 2015 consist of state and foreign income taxes.

Non-GAAP Measures

“Adjusted EBITDA” is earnings before interest and other non-operating income (expense), taxes,
depreciation and amortization, preopening and start-up expenses, NV Energy exit expense, gain on Borgata
transaction, goodwill impairment charges, and property transactions, net. “Adjusted Property EBITDA” is
Adjusted EBITDA before corporate expense and stock compensation expense related to both the MGM Resorts
and MGP stock-based compensation plans, which are not allocated to each reportable segment or operating
segment, as applicable. MGM China recognizes stock compensation expense related to its stock-based
compensation plan which is included in the calculation of Adjusted EBITDA for MGM China. “Same-store
Adjusted Property EBITDA” is Adjusted Property EBITDA related to the operating resorts which were
consolidated by the Company for both the entire current and prior year periods presented. Adjusted EBITDA and
Adjusted Property EBITDA information is presented solely as a supplemental disclosure to reported GAAP
measures because management believes these measures are 1) widely used measures of operating performance in
the gaming and hospitality industry, and 2) a principal basis for valuation of gaming and hospitality companies.
We present Adjusted Property EBITDA on a “same-store” basis as supplemental information for investors
because management believes that providing performance measures on a “same-store” basis is useful for
evaluating the period-to-period performance of our domestic casino resorts.

We believe that while items excluded from Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted Property EBITDA and Same-Store
Adjusted Property EBITDA may be recurring in nature and should not be disregarded in evaluation of our
earnings performance, it is useful to exclude such items when analyzing current results and trends compared to
other periods because these items can vary significantly depending on specific underlying transactions or events
that may not be comparable between the periods being presented. Also, we believe excluded items may not relate
specifically to current operating trends or be indicative of future results. For example, preopening and start-up
expenses will be significantly different in periods when we are developing and constructing a major expansion
project and will depend on where the current period lies within the development cycle, as well as the size and
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scope of the project(s). Property transactions, net includes normal recurring disposals, gains and losses on sales
of assets related to specific assets within our resorts, but also includes gains or losses on sales of an entire
operating resort or a group of resorts and impairment charges on entire asset groups or investments in
unconsolidated affiliates, which may not be comparable period over period. In addition, capital allocation, tax
planning, financing and stock compensation awards are all managed at the corporate level. Therefore, we use
Adjusted Property EBITDA and Same-store Adjusted Property EBITDA as the primary measure of domestic
resorts operating performance.

Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted Property EBITDA or Same-store Adjusted Property EBITDA should not be
construed as an alternative to operating income or net income, as an indicator of our performance; or as an
alternative to cash flows from operating activities, as a measure of liquidity; or as any other measure determined
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. We have significant uses of cash flows, including
capital expenditures, interest payments, taxes and debt principal repayments, which are not reflected in Adjusted
EBITDA, Adjusted Property EBITDA, or Same-store Adjusted Property EBITDA. Also, other companies in the
gaming and hospitality industries that report Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted Property EBITDA or Same-store
Adjusted Property EBITDA information may calculate Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted Property EBITDA or Same-
store Adjusted Property EBITDA in a different manner.

The following table presents a reconciliation of net income (loss) attributable to MGM Resorts International
to Adjusted EBITDA:

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)

Net income (loss) attributable to MGM Resorts

International ................cocoiiiii i $ 1,101,440 $ (447,720) $ (149,873)
Plus: Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling

1T o R SR 135,438 (591,929) 277,051
Net income (10SS) ..vvvvieriieie i 1,236,878 (1,039,649) 127,178

Provision (benefit) for income taxes ..................... 22,299 (6,594) 283,708
Income (loss) before income taxes ...............ceeouvennn. 1,259,177 (1,046,243) 410,886
Non-operating expense

Interest expense, net of amounts capitalized............. 694,773 797,579 817,061

Non-operating items from unconsolidated affiliates .... 53,139 76,462 87,794

Other, Net ..ot 72,698 15,970 7,797

820,610 890,011 912,652

Operating income (10SS) .......ovvieiiiiiiiii i, 2,079,787 (156,232) 1,323,538

NV Energy exit eXpense........coovvevivrienieiannnnn.. 139,335 - -

Preopening and start-up expenses ........................ 140,075 71,327 39,257

Property transactions, net ................c.ooeeiiiiiin... 17,078 35,951 41,002

Goodwill impairment ................coiiiiiiiiiiiiiia - 1,467,991 -

Gain on Borgata transaction .......................o.o.e (430,118) - -

Depreciation and amortization ............................ 849,527 819,883 815,765
Adjusted EBITDA ... $ 2,795,684 $ 2,238,920 $ 2,219,562




The following tables present reconciliations of operating income (loss) to Adjusted Property EBITDA and
Adjusted EBITDA:

Year Ended December 31, 2016

Property
Transactions,
Preopening  Net and Gain  Depreciation
Operating NV Energy  and Start-up on Borgata and Adjusted
Income (Loss) Exit Expense Expenses Transaction  Amortization EBITDA
(In thousands)

Bellagio .....oovvviiiiiiiiii $ 366,543 § 23,815 $ -8 118 § 88,783 $ 479,259
MGM Grand Las Vegas................. 231,327 25,365 82 1,719 72,188 330,681
Mandalay Bay ..........c.cooeiiiiiinnn. 114,202 29,123 252 2,377 89,655 235,609
The Mirage ........ccoevvvviiiiinnnnn. 85,300 13,813 - 44 40,270 139,427
LuXor....ooviiiii 57,653 11,594 1,625 708 36,612 108,192
New York-New York.................... 93,169 7,439 479 210 20,432 121,729
Excalibur ..........cooooiiiiiii 71,885 9,083 - 4,405 16,152 101,525
Monte Carlo 33,291 8,409 1,929 1,131 34,102 78,862
Circus Circus Las Vegas ................ 33,516 10,694 - 816 16,963 61,989
MGM Grand Detroit..................... 147,865 - - (59) 23,608 171,414
BeauRivage ..........cooveiiiiiiiin. 68,054 - - (172) 25,880 93,762
Gold Strike Tunica....................... 39,831 - - 67 9,792 49,690
Borgata ............... 38,616 - 90 8,652 33,923 81,281
National Harbor (13,626) - 17,986 - 5,236 9,596
Domestic Resorts ..................... 1,367,626 139,335 22,443 20,016 513,596 2,063,016
MGM China.........oooevviiiiiininn. 255,264 - 27,848 (216) 237,840 520,736
Unconsolidated resorts .................. 524,448 - 3,168 - - 527,616
Management and other operations...... 4316 - 1,150 29 7,505 13,000
2,151,654 139,335 54,609 19,829 758,941 3,124,368
Stock compensation ..................... (44,957) - - - - (44,957)
COrporate ..........vuvveuinnnnininnenn.. (26,910) - 85,466 (432,869) 90,586 (283,727)

$ 2,079,787 § 139,335 § 140,075 $ (413,040) $ 849,527 § 2,795,684




Year Ended December 31, 2015

Property
Preopening Transactions, Depreciation
Operating and Start-up  Net and Goodwill and Adjusted
Income (Loss) Expenses Impairment Amortization EBITDA
(In thousands)
Bellagio ....oeovvviiiiii $ 303,858 $ -8 1,085 $ 90,442 § 395,385
MGM Grand Las Vegas ...................... 206,896 - 110 73,260 280,266
Mandalay Bay ..........ccocviiiiiiiiiin. 120,142 - 3,599 79,733 203,474
The Mirage ...... 66,069 115 1,729 44,562 112,475
Luxor......coooovviiiiai. . 49,369 2) 94 37,708 87,169
New York-New York ..... 81,618 (74) 4,931 19,982 106,457
Excalibur..........cooooiiiiiiii 67,545 - 111 14,591 82,247
Monte Carlo ........c.oooeviiiiiiiiii 55,594 - 3,219 27,149 85,962
Circus Circus Las Vegas.............ceeuenn. 27,305 280 21 15,639 43,245
MGM Grand Detroit .............ccoeveeninnn. 131,016 - (36) 23,999 154,979
Beau Rivage ........cocoovviiiiiiiiiiiiin. 62,613 - (5) 26,235 88,843
Gold Strike Tunica ............cooevviiiinn. 34,362 - 221 11,440 46,023
Other resort Operations........................ 2,975 - - 466 3,441
Domestic Resorts ...........coeeeueninann. 1,209,362 319 15,079 465,206 1,689,966
MGM China ........coovviiiiiiiiiaenns (1,212,377) 13,863 1,472,128 266,267 539,881
Unconsolidated resorts................ 254,408 3,475 - - 257,883
Management and other operations ........... 27,395 1,179 1,080 7,765 37,419
278,788 18,836 1,488,287 739,238 2,525,149
Stock compensation ........................... (32,125) - - - (32,125)
COTPOTate . .o'veviniieiiieieee e (402,895) 52,491 15,655 80,645 (254,104)
$ (156,232) $ 71,327 $ 1,503,942 $ 819,883 § 2,238,920
Year Ended December 31, 2014
Preopening Property Depreciation
Operating and Start-up Transactions, and Adjusted
Income (Loss) Expenses Net Amortization EBITDA
(In thousands)
Bellagio ....ovovviiiiiii $ 304,144 $ -8 900 $ 88,658 § 393,702
MGM Grand Las Vegas .... 174,297 197 (667) 81,027 254,854
Mandalay Bay ............... 95,449 1,133 2,307 76,737 175,626
The Mirage .......cccoevviiiiiiiiiiiiniinn. 57,338 452 2,464 49,900 110,154
LUXOr cooviiiiiii 31,801 2 432 37,849 70,084
New York-New York ...............o.ooooiee 75,360 732 427 18,586 95,105
Excalibur..........cooooiiiiiiii 52,915 - 500 14,804 68,219
Monte Carlo ................. 48,937 1,507 290 21,046 71,780
Circus Circus Las Vegas.... 8,135 85 61 15,334 23,615
MGM Grand Detroit ........ 118,755 - 2,728 23,315 144,798
Beau Rivage ........cooooevviiiiiiiiiin. 43,152 - 1,000 26,109 70,261
Gold Strike Tunica ...........cccocevviiiiinn. 27,460 - 392 12,480 40,332
Other resort Operations........................ (2,318) - 336 1,759 (223)
Domestic Resorts ............coeeeueninann. 1,035,425 4,108 11,170 467,604 1,518,307
MGM China ......cccoeviiiiiiiiiiiiin. 547,977 9,091 1,493 291,910 850,471
Unconsolidated resorts........................ 62,919 917 - - 63,836
Management and other operations ........... 26,152 359 415 9,058 35,984
1,672,473 14,475 13,078 768,572 2,468,598
Stock compensation ........................... (28,372) - - - (28,372)
COrPOTate ... (320,563) 24,782 27,924 47,193 (220,664)
$ 1,323,538 § 39,257 $ 41,002 $ 815,765 § 2,219,562




Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flows — Summary

We require a certain amount of cash on hand to operate our resorts. In addition to required cash on hand for
operations, we utilize company-wide cash management procedures to minimize the amount of cash held on hand or
in banks. Funds are swept from accounts at our resorts daily into central bank accounts, and excess funds are
invested overnight or are used to repay borrowings under our senior credit facility. In addition, from time to time we
may use excess funds to repurchase our outstanding debt securities subject to limitations in our senior credit facility.
At December 31, 2016 and 2015, we held cash and cash equivalents of $1.4 billion and $1.7 billion, respectively.
Cash and cash equivalents related to MGM China at December 31, 2016 and 2015 was $454 million and
$700 million, respectively. Cash and cash equivalents related to MGP at December 31, 2016 was $360 million.

Our cash flows consisted of the following:

Net cash provided by operating activities..............c...cooeoeeiiiiea....

Investing cash flows:
Capital expenditures, net of construction payable.......................
Dispositions of property and equipment ................coouveieienninn...
Proceeds from partial disposition of investment in unconsolidated
affiliate . ...
Proceeds from sale of business units and investment in
unconsolidated affiliate ...
Acquisition of Borgata, net of cash acquired ............................
Investments in and advances to unconsolidated affiliates ..............
Distributions from unconsolidated affiliates in excess of cumulative
CATTINES vt ettt et e ettt et et e et et et et et et
Net proceeds from treasury securities - maturities longer than 90
Qa8 et s
Net proceeds (investments) from (in) cash deposits - original
maturities longer than 90 days ...
Payments for gaming licenses ...........c..ccoveiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinian..
OtheT .

Net cash used in investing activities ..........c.vvvevviiieiieennnnn...

Financing cash flows:
Net borrowings (repayments) under bank credit facilities..............
Issuance of long-term debt ...
Retirement of SENIOr NOLES ........ovuvitiitiitiiiiiiiiei e
Repayment of Borgata credit facility................cooeiiiiiiiinn..
Debt 1SSUANCE COSLS ... nutnttinttet ettt ettt e
Issuance of MGM Growth Properties common stock in public
Offering ..o
MGM Growth Properties common stock issuance costs ...............
Acquisition of MGM China shares ...............ccocoviiiiiiinnnnnn..
Distributions to noncontrolling interest owners .........................
Excess tax benefit from exercise of stock options ......................
Proceeds from issuance of redeemable noncontrolling interests........
Other ...

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ..................
Effect of exchange rate oncash ...

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents.....................ccooiiian

Year Ended December 31,

2016

2015

2014

(In thousands)

1,533,972 $ 1,005,079 $ 1,130,670
(2,262,473) (1,466,819) (872,041)
3,944 8,032 7,651
15,000 - -

. 92,207 -
(559,443) - -
(3,633) (196,062) (103,040)
542,097 201,612 132

- - 87,167
- 570,000 (570,000)
- - (85,000)

(11,696) (4,028) 10,981
(2,276,204) (795,058) (1,524,150)
491,032 977,275 (28,000)
2,050,000 - 1,250,750
(2,258,053) (875,504) (508,900)
(583,598) - -
(139,584) (46,170) (13,681)
1,207,500 - -
(75,032) . .
(100,000) - -
(103,367) (307,227) (386,709)
13,277 12,369 4,671
47325 6,250 -
(30,078) (24,872) (10,054)
519,422 (257,879) 308,077
(921) 793 (889)
(223,731) ' $  (47,065) $  (86,292)




Cash Flows

Operating activities. Trends in our operating cash flows tend to follow trends in operating income,
excluding non-cash charges, but can be affected by changes in working capital, cash paid for interest, the timing
of significant tax payments or refunds, and distributions from unconsolidated affiliates. Cash provided by
operating activities was $1.5 billion in 2016 compared to $1.0 billion in 2015. Operating cash flows increased in
the current period due to an increase in operating income at our domestic resorts and a decrease in cash paid for
interest, partially offset by an increase in cash paid for taxes. Cash provided by operating activities in the prior
year was negatively affected by changes in working capital primarily related to short-term gaming liabilities.

Cash provided by operating activities in 2015 decreased due to a decrease in operating cash flows at MGM
China which were $383 million in 2015 compared to $642 million in 2014, partially offset by an increase in
operating cash flows at our domestic resorts. In 2015, cash provided by operating activities at MGM China was
negatively affected by changes in working capital related to short-term gaming liabilities but to a lesser extent
than in 2014.

We paid net taxes of $68 million, $12 million and $42 million in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Investing activities. Our investing cash flows can fluctuate significantly from year to year depending on our
decisions with respect to strategic capital investments in new or existing resorts, business acquisitions or
dispositions, and the timing of more regular capital investments to maintain the quality of our resorts. Capital
expenditures related to more regular investments in our existing resorts can also vary depending on timing of
larger remodel projects related to our public spaces and hotel rooms. Most of such costs relate to construction
materials, furniture and fixtures, and external labor costs.

* In 2016, we had capital expenditures of $2.3 billion, which included $971 million at MGM China,
excluding development fees and capitalized interest on development fees eliminated in consolidation.
Capital expenditures at MGM China included $948 million related to the construction of MGM Cotai and
$23 million related to improvements at MGM Macau. Capital expenditures at our domestic resorts and
corporate entities of $1.3 billion included $741 million related to the construction of MGM National
Harbor, $121 million related to the construction of MGM Springfield, $39 million related to the
construction of The Park, as well as various room remodels including the tower rooms at Mandalay Bay,
construction of additional exhibit space at the Mandalay Bay Convention Center, construction of the Park
Theater and rebranding at Monte Carlo, construction of the parking garage at Excalibur and restaurant
and entertainment venue remodels.

e In 2015, we had capital expenditures of $1.5 billion, which included $579 million at MGM China,
excluding development fees and capitalized interest on development fees eliminated in consolidation.
Capital expenditures at MGM China included $543 million related to the construction of MGM Cotai and
$36 million related to improvements at MGM Macau. Capital expenditures at our domestic resorts and
corporate entities of $888 million included $361 million and $35 million related to the construction of
MGM National Harbor and MGM Springfield, respectively, various room remodels including the tower
rooms at Mandalay Bay and the suites at Bellagio, construction of additional exhibit space at the
Mandalay Bay Convention Center, construction of the Park Theatre, construction of The Park
entertainment district, and restaurant and entertainment venue remodels.

 In 2014, we had capital expenditures of $872 million, which included $346 million at MGM China,
excluding capitalized interest on development fees eliminated in consolidation. Capital expenditures at
MGM China included $301 million related to the construction of MGM Cotai and $45 million related to
improvements at MGM Macau. Capital expenditures at our domestic resorts and corporate entities
included $97 million related to the construction of MGM National Harbor, various room remodels
including the Delano rooms at Mandalay Bay and suites at Bellagio, a remodel of the facades of New
York-New York and Monte Carlo, construction of The Park entertainment district, restaurant and
entertainment venue remodels and costs incurred to relocate and renovate certain corporate offices.
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During 2016, we received $15 million of proceeds related to the sale of a portion of our investment in the
Las Vegas Arena Company, LLC, and we paid approximately $604 million and acquired cash of approximately
$43 million in connection with the acquisition of Boyd Gaming’s ownership interest in Borgata. Distributions
from unconsolidated affiliates for 2016 primarily related to a $540 million distribution paid by CityCenter in
May 2016.

In 2015, investments in and advances to unconsolidated affiliates primarily represented investments in
CityCenter pursuant to the completion guarantee of $141 million and investments in the Las Vegas Arena
Company, LLC of $50 million. In 2014, investments and advances to unconsolidated affiliates primarily
represented investments in CityCenter of $56 million, investments in the Las Vegas Arena Company, LLC of
$36 million, and investments in MGM Hakkasan of $10 million.

In 2015, investing activities also included proceeds of $20 million related to the sale of Railroad Pass and
Gold Strike Jean, proceeds of $72 million (net of cash included in the sale) related to the sale of Circus Circus
Reno and the Company’s 50% interest in Silver Legacy, and $202 million of distributions received from
unconsolidated affiliates, which includes a $200 million distribution paid by CityCenter in April 2015. In
addition, we invested $200 million in certificates of deposit with original maturities longer than 90 days and
received proceeds of $770 million related to the maturity of certificates of deposit with original maturities longer
than 90 days.

Investing activities also include activity related to investments of funds held by the trust that held our 50%
ownership interest in Borgata prior to its dissolution in September 2014. In addition, in 2014 we invested $570
million in certificates of deposit with original maturities longer than 90 days.

Financing activities. In 2016, we repaid net debt of $301 million. In April 2016, in connection with the
MGP IPO and related financing transactions we permanently repaid $2.7 billion under our prior senior credit
facility and entered into an amended and restated senior credit facility under which we borrowed $250 million.
The Operating Partnership borrowed net debt of $2.1 billion during 2016 under its senior credit facility. In
addition, MGM National Harbor borrowed $450 million under its credit facility, MGM China borrowed $374
million under its revolving credit facility, and we permanently repaid $584 million under Borgata’s credit
facility. The following senior notes were issued during 2016:

 $500 million 4.625% senior notes, due 2026 issued by us;
 $500 million 4.5% senior notes, due 2026 issued by the Operating Partnership; and
 $1.05 billion 5.625% senior notes, due 2024 issued by the Operating Partnership.

We redeemed the following senior notes during 2016:

» $743 million 7.625% senior notes, due 2017 at a premium;

» $732.7 million 7.5% senior notes, due 2016 at a premium;
 $500 million 10% senior notes, due 2016 at a premium; and

» $242.9 million 6.875% senior notes in April 2016 at maturity.

Additionally, we paid $140 million of debt issuance costs related to the senior notes issued in August 2016,
the MGP financing transactions, the MGM National Harbor credit facility and the February 2016 amendment to
the MGM China credit facility.

In 2015, we had net borrowings of $102 million, including $1.0 billion of borrowings under the MGM
China credit facility, the repayment of $28 million under our senior credit facility and the repayment of the $875
million 6.625% senior notes at maturity in July 2015 using cash on hand. Additionally, we paid $46 million of
debt issuance costs related to the refinancing of the MGM China credit facility. In 2014, we had net borrowings
of $714 million, including the repayment of $28 million under our senior credit facility. During the year we
repaid our $509 million 5.875% senior notes at maturity and issued $1.25 billion of 6% senior notes, due 2023
for net proceeds of $1.24 billion.
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During the year ended 2016, MGP received proceeds of $1.2 billion in connection with the MGP IPO in
April 2016 and paid $75 million of issuance costs related to the IPO, and we paid $100 million as part of the
consideration for the purchase of an additional 188.1 million common shares of our MGM China subsidiary.
MGP paid a $15 million dividend and a $22 million dividend to its Class A shareholders in July 2016 and
October 2016, respectively. In August 2016, MGM China paid an interim dividend of $58 million, of which $29
million was distributed to noncontrolling interests. In June 2016, MGM China paid a final dividend of $46
million of which $23 million was distributed to noncontrolling interests.

MGM China paid a $400 million special dividend in March 2015, a $120 million final dividend in June
2015 and a $76 million interim dividend in August 2015, of which $196 million, $59 million and $37 million was
distributed to noncontrolling interests, respectively. Additionally, we received $6 million in 2015 related to
proceeds from the issuance of non-voting membership interests in MGM National Harbor. MGM China paid a
$499 million special dividend in March 2014, a $127 million final dividend in June 2014, and a $137 million
interim dividend in September 2014, of which $245 million, $62 million and $67 million was distributed to
noncontrolling interests, respectively.

Other Factors Affecting Liquidity

Anticipated uses of cash. We have significant outstanding debt and contractual obligations in addition to
planned capital expenditures. At December 31, 2016, we had $13.1 billion in principal amount of indebtedness,
including $250 million of borrowings outstanding under our $1.5 billion senior credit facility, $2.1 billion
outstanding under the $2.73 billion Operating Partnership credit facility, $1.9 billion outstanding under the $3.0
billion MGM China credit facility and $450 million outstanding under the $525 million MGM National Harbor
credit facility. We have an estimated $751 million of cash interest payments based on current outstanding debt
and applicable interest rates within the next twelve months including the estimated impact of changes in our
interest rates on the MGP term loan B and new interest rate swap agreements entered into subsequent to year end.
We believe we have the ability to meet known obligations, including principal and interest obligations as well as
planned capital expenditures over the next twelve months from the balance sheet date with existing cash and cash
deposits, cash flows from operations, dividends and distributions from MGM China and the Operating
Partnership, and availability under our senior credit facility, the MGM China credit facility, the Operating
Partnership credit facility and the MGM National Harbor credit facility.

In addition, we have made significant investments through December 31, 2016 and we expect to make
capital investments as described below during 2017. See “Executive Overview” for further information regarding
the scope and timing of our significant development projects.

» Approximately $530 million in capital expenditures at our domestic resorts and corporate entities,
excluding MGM National Harbor and MGM Springfield;

 Approximately $270 million in capital expenditures related to the MGM Springfield project; and

 Approximately $150 million in capital expenditures related to MGM National Harbor.

During 2017, MGM China expects to spend approximately $100 million in maintenance capital
improvements at MGM Macau and MGM Cotai once opened, and $990 million on the MGM Cotai project,
excluding capitalized interest, development fees and land related costs.

Our capital expenditures fluctuate depending on our decisions with respect to strategic capital investments
in new or existing resorts and the timing of capital investments to maintain the quality of our resorts, the amounts
of which can vary depending on timing of larger remodel projects related to our public spaces and hotel rooms.
Future capital expenditures could vary from our current expectations depending on the progress of our
development efforts and the structure of our ownership interests in future developments.

MGM Resorts International dividends. On February 15, 2017 the Board of Directors approved a quarterly
dividend to holders of record on March 10, 2017 of $0.11 per share, totaling $63 million, which will be paid on
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March 15, 2017. Our intention is to pay a quarterly dividend in each future quarter subject to our operating
results, cash requirements and financial conditions, any applicable provisions of state law that may limit the
amount of funds available to us, and compliance with covenants and financial ratios related to existing or future
agreements governing the indebtedness at our subsidiaries and any limitations in other agreements such
subsidiaries may have with third parties.

MGP distributions. On December 15, 2016, MGP’s Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of
$0.3875 per Class A share totaling $22 million, which was paid on January 16, 2017 to holders of record on
December 31, 2016. We concurrently received a $72 million distribution attributable to Operating Partnership
units owned by us from the Operating Partnership, which remained within the consolidated entity. MGP expects
to pay quarterly distributions in cash of approximately $22 million, equal to $0.3875 per share ($89 million on an
annualized basis, equal to $1.55 per share) to its Class A shareholders, which amount may be changed in the
future without advance notice.

MGM China dividend. On February 16, 2017, as part of its regular dividend policy, the Board of Directors
of MGM China announced it will recommend a final dividend for 2016 of $78 million to MGM China
shareholders subject to approval at the MGM China 2017 annual shareholders meeting to be held in May. If
approved, we will receive our 56% share or $44 million, of which $4 million will be paid to Grand Paradise
Macau under the $50 million deferred cash payment arrangement related to our acquisition of the additional
4.95% of MGM China shares in August of 2016. See Note 13 in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements for additional information regarding the deferred cash payment.

Principal Debt Arrangements

As discussed in “Executive Overview” in connection with the formation and IPO of MGP, we and MGP
entered into several financing transactions including new principal debt agreements. See Note 10 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional information regarding those agreements.

In April 2016, we entered into an amended and restated credit agreement comprised of a $1.25 billion
revolving facility and a $250 million term loan A facility. The revolving facility and the term loan A facility bear
interest determined by reference to a total net leverage ratio pricing grid which results in an interest rate of
LIBOR plus 1.75% to 2.75%. Both the term loan A facility and the revolving facility will mature in April 2021.
The term loan A facility is subject to amortization of principal in equal quarterly installments (commencing with
the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2017), with 5.0% of the initial aggregate principal amount of the term loan A
facility to be payable each year. No amounts have been drawn on the revolving credit facility.

The amended and restated credit agreement contains customary representations and warranties, events of
default, and positive, negative and financial covenants, including that we maintain compliance with a maximum
total net leverage ratio, a maximum first lien net leverage ratio and a minimum interest coverage ratio. We were
in compliance with our amended and restated credit agreement covenants at December 31, 2016.

The amended and restated credit agreement is secured by (i) a mortgage on the real properties comprising
the MGM Grand Las Vegas and the Bellagio, (ii) a pledge of substantially all existing and future personal
property of our subsidiaries that own the MGM Grand Las Vegas and the Bellagio; and (iii) a pledge of the
equity or limited liability company interests of the entities that own MGM Grand Las Vegas and the Bellagio.

Mandatory prepayments of the credit facilities will be required upon the occurrence of certain events,
including sales of certain assets, casualty events and the incurrence of certain additional indebtedness, subject to
certain exceptions and reinvestment rights.

In April 2016, the Operating Partnership entered into a credit agreement comprised of a $300 million senior
secured term loan A facility, a $1.85 billion senior secured term loan B facility, and a $600 million senior
secured revolving credit facility. The term loan B facility was originally issued at 99.75% to initial leaders. The
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revolving credit facility and term loan A facility bear interest determined by reference to a total net leverage ratio
pricing grid which results in an interest rate of LIBOR plus 2.25% to 2.75%. On October 26, 2016 the term loan
B facility was re-priced at par and bore interest at LIBOR plus 2.75%, with a LIBOR floor of 0.75%, which
represented a 50 basis point reduction compared to the prior rate. In addition, the Operating Partnership received
a further reduction in pricing to LIBOR plus 2.50%, with a LIBOR floor of 0.75%, as a result of it achieving a
minimum corporate family rating of Ba3/BB- in February 2017. The revolving credit facility and the term loan A
facility will mature in 2021 and the term loan B facility will mature in 2023. The term loan facilities are subject
to amortization of principal in equal quarterly installments, with 5.0% of the initial aggregate principal amount of
the term loan A facility and 1.0% of the initial aggregate principal amount of the term loan B facility to be
payable each year.

The Operating Partnership credit agreement contains customary representations and warranties, events of
default, and positive, negative and financial covenants, including that the Operating Partnership maintain
compliance with a maximum senior secured net debt to adjusted total assets ratio, maximum total net debt to
adjusted assets ratio and a minimum interest coverage ratio. The Operating Partnership was in compliance with
its credit agreement covenants at December 31, 2016.

MGM China and MGM Grand Paradise, as co-borrowers, are parties to a fourth amended and restated credit
facility which consists of $1.55 billion of term loans and a $1.45 billion revolving credit facility. The interest rate
on the facility fluctuates annually based on HIBOR plus a margin that ranges between 1.375% and 2.5% based
on MGM China’s leverage ratio. The credit facility matures in April 2019, with scheduled amortization payments
of the term loans beginning in October 2017. The MGM China credit facility is secured by MGM Grand
Paradise’s interest in the Cotai land use right, and MGM China, MGM Grand Paradise and their guarantor
subsidiaries have granted a security interest in substantially all of their assets to secure the facility.

The MGM China credit facility contains customary representations and warranties, events of default, and
positive, negative and financial covenants, including that MGM China maintains compliance with a maximum
leverage ratio and a minimum interest coverage ratio. MGM China was in compliance with its credit facility
covenants at December 31, 2016. In February 2017, the MGM China credit facility was amended to increase the
maximum total leverage ratio to 6.00 to 1.00 through December 31, 2017, declining to 5.50 to 1.00 at March 31,
2018, 5.00 to 1.00 at June 30, 2018 and 4.50 to 1.00 at September 30, 2018 and thereafter.

In January 2016, MGM National Harbor, LLC entered into a credit agreement consisting of a $100 million
revolving credit facility and a $425 million term loan facility. The revolving and term loan facilities bear interest
at LIBOR plus an applicable rate determined by MGM National Harbor, LLC’s total leverage ratio (2.25% as of
December 31, 2016). The term loan and revolving facilities are scheduled to mature in January 2021 and the term
loan facilities are subject to scheduled amortization payments on the last day of each calendar quarter beginning
the fourth full fiscal quarter following the opening date of MGM National Harbor, initially in an amount equal to
1.25% of the aggregate principal balance and increasing to 1.875% and 2.50% of the aggregate principal balance
on the last day of the twelfth and sixteenth full fiscal quarters, respectively.

The MGM National Harbor credit agreement is secured by a leasehold mortgage on MGM National Harbor
and substantially all of the existing and future property of MGM National Harbor. Mandatory prepayments will
be required upon the occurrence of certain events, including sales of certain assets, casualty events and the
incurrence of certain additional indebtedness, subject to certain exceptions and reinvestment rights. In addition,
to the extent MGM National Harbor generates excess cash flow (as defined in the MGM National Harbor credit
agreement), a percentage of such excess cash flow (ranging from 0% to 50% based on a total leverage ratio) will
be required to be used to prepay the term loan facilities commencing with the fiscal year ending 2017.

The MGM National Harbor credit agreement contains customary representations and warranties, events of
default, and positive, negative and financial covenants, including that MGM National Harbor, LLC and its restricted
subsidiaries maintain compliance with a maximum total leverage ratio and a minimum interest coverage ratio.
MGM National Harbor, LLC was in compliance with its credit agreement covenants at December 31, 2016.
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Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

Our off-balance sheet arrangements consist primarily of investments in unconsolidated affiliates, which
consist primarily of our investments in CityCenter, Grand Victoria, and Las Vegas Arena Company, LLC. We
have not entered into any transactions with special purpose entities, nor have we engaged in any derivative
transactions, other than our MGP cash flow hedges. See Note 11 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements for additional information. Our unconsolidated affiliate investments allow us to realize the
proportionate benefits of owning a full-scale resort or other entertainment properties in a manner that minimizes
our initial investment. We guarantee the T-Mobile Arena credit facility as described below. In addition, there are
no other provisions in the agreements with our investees which we believe are unusual or subject us to risks to
which we would not be subjected if we had full ownership of the resort.

In conjunction with the Las Vegas Arena Company, LLC entering into a senior secured credit facility in
September 2014, we and AEG each entered into joint and several completion guarantees for the project (which
were subsequently terminated in February 2017), as well as a repayment guarantee for the term loan B (which is
subject to increases and decreases in the event of a rebalancing of the principal amount of indebtedness between
the term loan A and term loan B facilities). As of December 31, 2016, term loan A was $150 million and term
loan B was $50 million.

Commitments and Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our scheduled contractual obligations as of December 31, 2016:

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Thereafter

(In millions)

Long-termdebt ... § 138§ 1,323 8 1,997 § 1,583 § 2,057 § 6,046
Estimated interest payments on long-term

debt (1) 745 722 612 550 437 656
Construction commitments (2)..................... 643 79 - - - -
Operating Leases (3) .....ovvvviiiiiiniiiineann.. 37 33 30 30 32 1,380
Capital leases ........ .. 9 3 2 - - -
Tax liabilities (4) 21 - - - - -
Long-term liabilities .............ccooviiiiinan. 4 5 5 4 52 39
Other obligations (5) .......ccovviviiiiiiiiiiann.. 406 100 47 21 17 96

§ 2,003 § 22658 2,693 § 2,188 § 2,595 § 8,217

(1) Estimated interest payments are based on principal amounts and expected maturities of debt outstanding at December 31, 2016 and
management’s forecasted LIBOR rates for our senior credit facility and HIBOR rates for the MGM China credit facility. In December
2016, the Operating Partnership entered into interest rate swap agreements to mitigate the interest rate risk inherent in its senior secured
term loan B facility. These interest rate swaps are designated as cash flow hedges and have a notional value of $500 million and mature
on November 30, 2021. The weighted average fixed rate paid is 1.825%, and the variable rate received resets monthly to the one-month
LIBOR subject to a minimum rate of 0.75%.

(2) The amount for 2017 includes $471 million related to MGM Cotai and $39 million and $76 million related to MGM National Harbor
and MGM Springfield, respectively.

(3) The table above excludes our future lease obligations to a subsidiary of the Operating Partnership pursuant to the master lease
agreement discussed in Note 19 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements. We own 76.3% of the Operating Partnership
units as of December 31, 2016. MGM National Harbor is located on land subject to a long-term ground lease. See Note 13 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements for further discussion.

(4)  Approximately $12 million of liabilities related to uncertain tax positions and other tax liabilities are excluded from the table as we cannot
reasonably estimate when examination and other activity related to these amounts will conclude or when these amounts will be paid, if ever.

(5) The amount for 2017 includes $124 million related to employment agreements, $129 million for entertainment agreements and
$120 million of open purchase orders. Other commitments include various contracted amounts, including information technology,
advertising, maintenance and other service agreements. Our largest entertainment commitments consist of minimum contractual
payments to Cirque du Soleil, which performs shows at several of our resorts. Our contractual commitments for these shows generally
do not exceed 12 months and are based on our ability to exercise certain termination rights; however, we expect these shows to continue
for longer periods.
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While we have significant indebtedness and other obligations, we believe we have the ability to meet known
obligations, including principal and interest obligations as well as planned capital expenditures over the next
twelve months from the balance sheet date with existing cash and cash deposits, cash flows from operations,
dividends and distributions from MGM China and the Operating Partnership, and availability under our senior
credit facility, the MGM China credit facility, the Operating Partnership credit facility and the MGM National
Harbor credit facility. We have $138 million of maturities of long-term debt in 2017. See “Liquidity and Capital
Resources — Other Factors Affecting Liquidity” for further discussion of anticipated uses of cash.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Management’s discussion and analysis of our results of operations and liquidity and capital resources are
based on our consolidated financial statements. To prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, we must make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements. We regularly evaluate
these estimates and assumptions, particularly in areas we consider to be critical accounting estimates, where
changes in the estimates and assumptions could have a material effect on our results of operations, financial
position or cash flows. Senior management and the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors have reviewed the
disclosures included herein about our critical accounting estimates, and have reviewed the processes to determine
those estimates. However, by their nature, judgments are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty and
therefore actual results can differ from our estimates.

Allowance for Doubtful Casino Accounts Receivable

Marker play represents a significant portion of the table games volume at certain of our Las Vegas resorts.
Our other casinos do not emphasize marker play to the same extent, although we offer markers to customers at
those casinos as well. MGM China extends credit to certain in-house VIP gaming customers and gaming
promoters. We maintain strict controls over the issuance of markers and aggressively pursue collection from our
customers who fail to pay their marker balances timely. These collection efforts are similar to those used by most
large corporations when dealing with overdue customer accounts, including the mailing of statements and
delinquency notices, personal contacts, the use of outside collection agencies and civil litigation. Markers are
generally legally enforceable instruments in the United States and Macau. At December 31, 2016 and 2015,
approximately 53% and 42%, respectively, of our casino accounts receivable at our domestic resorts were owed
by customers from the United States. Markers are not legally enforceable instruments in some foreign countries,
but the United States assets of foreign customers may be reached to satisfy judgments entered in the United
States. At December 31, 2016 and 2015, approximately 35% and 37%, respectively, of our casino accounts
receivable at our domestic resorts were owed by customers from the Far East. We consider the likelihood and
difficulty of enforceability, among other factors, when we issue credit to customers at our domestic resorts who
are not residents of the United States. MGM China performs background checks and investigates the credit
worthiness of gaming promoters and casino customers prior to issuing credit.

We maintain an allowance, or reserve, for doubtful casino accounts at all of our operating casino resorts.
The provision for doubtful accounts, an operating expense, increases the allowance for doubtful accounts. We
regularly evaluate the allowance for doubtful casino accounts. At domestic resorts where marker play is not
significant, the allowance is generally established by applying standard reserve percentages to aged account
balances. At domestic resorts where marker play is significant, we apply standard reserve percentages to aged
account balances under a specified dollar amount and specifically analyze the collectability of each account with
a balance over the specified dollar amount, based on the age of the account, the customer’s financial condition,
collection history and any other known information. MGM China specifically analyzes the collectability of
casino receivables on an individual basis taking into account the age of the account, the financial condition and
the collection history of the gaming promoter or casino customer.

In addition to enforceability issues, the collectability of unpaid markers given by foreign customers at our
domestic resorts is affected by a number of factors, including changes in currency exchange rates and economic
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conditions in the customers’ home countries. Because individual customer account balances can be significant,
the allowance and the provision can change significantly between periods, as information about a certain
customer becomes known or as changes in a region’s economy occur.

The following table shows key statistics related to our casino receivables:

December 31,

2016 2015
(In thousands)
Casino TECEIVADIES .....uet i $ 332,443 § 285,182
Allowance for doubtful casino accounts receivable ..............................oo.. 92,424 86,010
Allowance as a percentage of casino accounts receivable...............coovviiinnt, 28% 30%
Percentage of casino accounts outstanding over 180 days .................ccoeviient, 21% 26%

Approximately $35 million and $40 million of casino receivables and $8 million and $9 million of the
allowance for doubtful casino accounts receivable relate to MGM China at December 31, 2016 and 2015,
respectively. Casino receivables increased in the current year as a result of the Borgata transaction and the
opening of MGM National Harbor. The allowance for doubtful accounts as a percentage of casino accounts
receivable has decreased in the current year due to a decrease in the age of outstanding account balances. At
December 31, 2016, a 100 basis-point change in the allowance for doubtful accounts as a percentage of casino
accounts receivable would change income before income taxes by $3 million.

Fixed Asset Capitalization and Depreciation Policies

Property and equipment are stated at cost. For the majority of our property and equipment, cost was
determined at the acquisition date based on estimated fair values in connection with the August 2016 Borgata
acquisition, the June 2011 MGM China acquisition, the April 2005 Mandalay acquisition and the May 2000
Mirage Resorts acquisition. Maintenance and repairs that neither materially add to the value of the property nor
appreciably prolong its life are charged to expense as incurred. Depreciation and amortization are provided on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets. When we construct assets, we capitalize direct
costs of the project, including fees paid to architects and contractors, property taxes, and certain costs of our
design and construction subsidiaries. In addition, interest cost associated with major development and
construction projects is capitalized as part of the cost of the project. Interest is typically capitalized on amounts
expended on the project using the weighted-average cost of our outstanding borrowings. Capitalization of interest
starts when construction activities begin and ceases when construction is substantially complete or development
activity is suspended for more than a brief period.

We must make estimates and assumptions when accounting for capital expenditures. Whether an
expenditure is considered a maintenance expense or a capital asset is a matter of judgment. When constructing or
purchasing assets, we must determine whether existing assets are being replaced or otherwise impaired, which
also may be a matter of judgment. In addition, our depreciation expense is highly dependent on the assumptions
we make about our assets’ estimated useful lives. We determine the estimated useful lives based on our
experience with similar assets, engineering studies, and our estimate of the usage of the asset. Whenever events
or circumstances occur which change the estimated useful life of an asset, we account for the change
prospectively.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets, Goodwill and Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets

We evaluate our property and equipment and other long-lived assets for impairment based on our
classification as held for sale or to be held and used. Several criteria must be met before an asset is classified as
held for sale, including that management with the appropriate authority commits to a plan to sell the asset at a
reasonable price in relation to its fair value and is actively seeking a buyer. For assets classified as held for sale,
we recognize the asset at the lower of carrying value or fair market value less costs of disposal, as estimated
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based on comparable asset sales, offers received, or a discounted cash flow model. For assets to be held and used,
we review for impairment whenever indicators of impairment exist. We then compare the estimated future cash
flows of the asset, on an undiscounted basis, to the carrying value of the asset. If the undiscounted cash flows
exceed the carrying value, no impairment is indicated. If the undiscounted cash flows do not exceed the carrying
value, then an impairment is recorded based on the fair value of the asset. For operating assets, fair value is
typically measured using a discounted cash flow model whereby future cash flows are discounted using a
weighted-average cost of capital, developed using a standard capital asset pricing model, based on guideline
companies in our industry. If an asset is still under development, future cash flows include remaining
construction costs. All recognized impairment losses, whether for assets to be held for sale or assets to be held
and used, are recorded as operating expenses.

There are several estimates, assumptions and decisions in measuring impairments of long-lived assets. First,
management must determine the usage of the asset. To the extent management decides that an asset will be sold,
it is more likely that an impairment may be recognized. Assets must be tested at the lowest level for which
identifiable cash flows exist. This means that some assets must be grouped, and management has some discretion
in the grouping of assets. Future cash flow estimates are, by their nature, subjective and actual results may differ
materially from our estimates.

On a quarterly basis, we review our major long-lived assets to determine if events have occurred or
circumstances exist that indicate a potential impairment. Potential factors which could trigger an impairment
include underperformance compared to historical or projected operating results, negative industry or economic
factors, significant changes to our operating environment, or changes in intended use of the asset group. We
estimate future cash flows using our internal budgets and probability weight cash flows in certain circumstances
to consider alternative outcomes associated with recoverability of the asset group, including potential sale.
Historically, undiscounted cash flows of our significant operating asset groups have exceeded their carrying
values by a substantial margin.

We review indefinite-lived intangible assets and goodwill at least annually and between annual test dates in
certain circumstances. We perform our annual impairment test for indefinite-lived intangible assets in the fourth
quarter of each fiscal year. Indefinite-lived intangible assets consist primarily of license rights, which are tested
for impairment using a discounted cash flow approach, and trademarks, which are tested for impairment using
the relief-from-royalty method. See Note 8 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for further
discussion of goodwill and other intangible assets.

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price over the fair market value of net assets acquired in
business combinations. We test goodwill for relevant reporting units for impairment in the fourth quarter of each
year and in interim periods if circumstances exist such that it is more likely than not that the carrying value of a
reporting unit exceeds its fair value. Accounting guidance provides entities the option to perform a qualitative
assessment of goodwill (commonly referred to as “step zero”) in order to determine whether further impairment
testing is necessary. In performing the step zero analysis we take into account macroeconomic conditions,
industry and market considerations, current and forecasted financial performance, entity-specific events, and
changes in the composition or carrying amount of net assets of reporting units. In addition, management takes
into consideration the amount of excess of fair value over carrying value determined in the last quantitative
analysis that was performed, as well as the period of time that has passed since the last quantitative analysis. If
the step zero analysis indicates that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its
carrying value, further quantitative analysis is not required. If the step zero analysis indicates that it is more
likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, the entity would proceed to a
two-step quantitative analysis.

Under the two-step quantitative analysis, goodwill for relevant reporting units is tested for impairment using
a discounted cash flow analysis based on our budgeted future results discounted using a weighted average cost of
capital, developed using a standard capital asset pricing model based on guideline companies in our industry, and
market indicators of terminal year capitalization rates, as well as a market approach that utilizes business
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enterprise value multiples based on a range of multiples in our peer group. If the carrying value of the reporting
unit exceeds its fair value, an indication of impairment exists and we must proceed to measure an impairment
loss, if any. In measuring an impairment loss, the implied fair value of a reporting unit’s goodwill is compared to
the carrying value of that goodwill. The implied fair value of goodwill is determined by allocating the fair value
of the reporting unit to its assets and liabilities and the amount remaining, if any, is the implied fair value of
goodwill. If the implied fair value of goodwill is less than its carrying value then it must be written down to its
implied fair value.

With the exception of our MGM China reporting unit, discussed below, none of our other reporting units
incurred any goodwill impairment charges in 2016, 2015 or 2014. For our 2016 annual impairment test, we
utilized the option to perform a step zero analysis for certain of our domestic resorts reporting units and
concluded it was more likely than not that the fair values of such reporting units exceeded their carrying values
by a substantial margin. The estimated fair values of reporting units for which we elected to forego the step zero
analysis and instead utilized the two-step quantitative analysis were substantially in excess of their carrying
values. As discussed below, management makes significant judgments and estimates as part of these analyses. If
future operating results of our reporting units do not meet current expectations it could cause carrying values of
our reporting units to exceed their fair values in future periods, potentially resulting in a goodwill impairment
charge.

During the fourth quarter of 2015, we conducted our annual impairment tests of goodwill by reviewing each
of our reporting units, including our MGM China reporting unit. The step one goodwill analysis of the MGM
China reporting unit indicated the fair value was less than its carrying value by 4%. The decrease in fair value
resulted from a decrease in forecasted cash flows based on then current market conditions and a sustained decline
in the enterprise value multiples of the MGM China reporting unit as well as those of the MGM China reporting
unit’s peer group. As a result of the indication of impairment from the step one analysis, we proceeded to
perform a step two impairment analysis to measure the impairment loss. As such, we determined the fair values
of all assets of the MGM China reporting unit, including its separately identifiable intangible assets. The fair
values of each of the separately identifiable intangible assets exceeded their respective carrying values by a
significant amount, leading to a lower implied fair value of goodwill. Therefore, we recorded a $1.5 billion non-
cash impairment charge to reduce the historical carrying value of goodwill related to the MGM China reporting
unit to its implied fair value in 2015.

There are several estimates inherent in evaluating these assets for impairment. In particular, future cash flow
estimates are, by their nature, subjective and actual results may differ materially from our estimates. In addition,
the determination of multiples, capitalization rates and the discount rates used in the impairment tests are highly
judgmental and dependent in large part on expectations of future market conditions.

See Note 8 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for further discussion of goodwill
impairment.

Impairment of Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates

We evaluate our investments in unconsolidated affiliates for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of our investment may have experienced an other-than-temporary
decline in value. If such conditions exist, we compare the estimated fair value of the investment to its carrying
value to determine whether an impairment is indicated and determine whether the impairment is other-than-
temporary based on our assessment of relevant factors, including consideration of our intent and ability to retain
our investment. We estimate fair value using a discounted cash flow analysis based on estimates of future cash
flows and market indicators of discount rates and terminal year capitalization rates, as well as a market approach
that utilizes business enterprise value multiples based on a range of multiples in our peer group. See Note 7 and
Note 17 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for discussion of other-than-temporary
impairment charges.
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Income Taxes

We recognize deferred tax assets, net of applicable reserves, related to net operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards and certain temporary differences with a future tax benefit to the extent that realization of such
benefit is more likely than not. Otherwise, a valuation allowance is applied.

As of December 31, 2016, we have a foreign tax credit carryover of $2.8 billion against which we have
recorded a valuation allowance of $2.5 billion based upon our assessment of future realization. The foreign tax
credits are attributable to the Macau Special Gaming Tax which is 35% of gross gaming revenue in Macau.
Because MGM Grand Paradise is presently exempt from the Macau 12% complementary tax on gaming profits,
we believe that payment of the Macau Special Gaming Tax qualifies as a tax paid in lieu of an income tax that is
creditable against U.S. taxes.

On September 7, 2016, MGM Grand Paradise was granted an additional extension of the complementary tax
exemption through March 31, 2020, concurrent with the end of the term of its current gaming subconcession. A
competitor of MGM Grand Paradise subsequently received an additional extension of its exemption through
March 31, 2020, which also runs concurrent with the end of the term of its current gaming concession. Based
upon these developments and the uncertainty concerning taxation after the concession renewal process, we have
concluded that we can no longer assume that MGM Grand Paradise will be entitled to additional exemption
periods beyond the end of the extension recently granted. Thus, for all periods beyond March 31, 2020, we have
assumed that MGM Grand Paradise will pay the Macau 12% complementary tax on gaming profits and will thus
not be able to credit the Macau Special Gaming Tax in such years, and have factored that assumption into our
assessment of the realization of the foreign tax credit deferred tax asset and the measurement of Macau deferred
tax liabilities.

Due to improvements in our U.S. operations, we have generated U.S. operating profits for the past eight
consecutive quarters and as of June 30, 2016 we no longer had cumulative U.S. losses in recent years.
Consequently, during 2016 we began to rely on future U.S. source operating income in assessing future foreign
tax credit realization during the 10-year foreign tax credit carryover period.

Our assessment of realization of our foreign tax credit deferred tax asset is based on available evidence,
including assumptions about future profitability of and distributions from MGM China and assumptions
concerning future U.S. operating profits. As a result, significant judgment is required in assessing the possible
need for a valuation allowance and changes to our assumptions may have a material impact on the amount of the
valuation allowance. For example, a change to our forecasts of future profitability of and distributions from
MGM China or a change in our assumptions concerning U.S. profitability could result in a material change in the
valuation allowance with a corresponding impact on the provision for income taxes in such period. In addition,
should we in a future period actually receive an additional exemption from the complementary tax, an additional
valuation allowance would likely need to be provided on some portion or all of the foreign tax credit deferred tax
asset, resulting in an increase in the provision for income taxes in such period and such increase may be
material.

In addition, there is a $3 million valuation allowance, after federal effect, provided on certain state deferred
tax assets, a valuation allowance of $71 million on certain Macau deferred tax assets, and a valuation allowance
of $2 million on Hong Kong net operating losses because we believe these assets do not meet the “more likely
than not” criteria for recognition.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, various state and local jurisdictions, and foreign
jurisdictions, although the income taxes paid in foreign jurisdictions are not material. Our income tax returns are
subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) and other tax authorities. Positions taken in tax
returns are sometimes subject to uncertainty in the tax laws and may not ultimately be accepted by the IRS or
other tax authorities. See Note 12 in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for a discussion of the
status and impact of examinations by tax authorities.
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We assess our tax positions using a two-step process. A tax position is recognized if it meets a “more likely
than not” threshold, and is measured at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than fifty percent likely of
being realized. Uncertain tax positions must be reviewed at each balance sheet date. Liabilities we record as a
result of this analysis are recorded separately from any current or deferred income tax accounts, and are classified
as current in “Other accrued liabilities” or long-term in “Other long-term liabilities” based on the time until
expected payment. Additionally, we recognize accrued interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax
benefits in income tax expense.

Stock-based Compensation

We account for stock options and stock appreciation rights (“SARs”) measuring fair value using the Black-
Scholes model. For restricted share units (“RSUs”), compensation expense is calculated based on the fair market
value of our stock on the date of grant. We account for performance stock units (“PSUs”) measuring fair value
using the Monte Carlo valuation model. There are several management assumptions required to determine the
inputs into the Black-Scholes model and Monte Carlo valuation model. Our volatility and expected term
assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model can significantly affect the fair value of stock options and SARs.
The Monte Carlo valuation model also utilizes multiple assumptions, including volatility, to determine the fair
value of the award. Changes in the subjective assumptions can materially affect the estimate of the fair value of
share-based compensation and consequently, the related amount recognized in the consolidated financial
statements. The extent of the impact will depend, in part, on the extent of awards in any given year.

Market Risk

In addition to the inherent risks associated with our normal operations, we are also exposed to additional
market risks. Market risk is the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices, such as
interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. Our primary exposure to market risk is interest rate risk
associated with our variable rate long-term debt. We attempt to limit our exposure to interest rate risk by
managing the mix of our long-term fixed rate borrowings and short-term borrowings under our bank credit
facilities. A change in interest rates generally does not have an impact upon our future earnings and cash flow for
fixed-rate debt instruments. As fixed-rate debt matures, however, and if additional debt is acquired to fund the
debt repayment, future earnings and cash flow may be affected by changes in interest rates. This effect would be
realized in the periods subsequent to the periods when the debt matures. We do not hold or issue financial
instruments for trading purposes and do not enter into derivative transactions that would be considered
speculative positions.

In December 2016, the Operating Partnership entered into interest rate swap agreements to mitigate the
interest rate risk inherent in its senior secured term loan B facility. These interest rate swaps are designated as
cash flow hedges and have a notional value of $500 million and mature on November 30, 2021. The weighted
average fixed rate paid is 1.825%, and the variable rate received resets monthly to the one-month LIBOR subject
to a minimum rate of 0.75%. In January 2017, the Operating Partnership entered into additional interest rate swap
agreements through November 2021 with a total $700 million notional amount to pay a fixed rate of 1.964% and
receive the 1-month LIBOR rate in order to mitigate the interest rate risk inherent in its senior secured term loan
B facility. The Company does not currently have any master netting arrangements related to its derivative
contracts. See Note 11 for additional information.

As of December 31, 2016, variable rate borrowings represented approximately 32% of our total borrowings
after giving effect to the $500 million notional amount Operating Partnership interest rate swaps discussed above.
Assuming a 100 basis-point increase in LIBOR (in the case of the MGP term loan B facility, over the 0.75%
floor specified in the Operating Partnership credit facility and after giving effect to the $500 million notional
amount Operating Partnership interest rate swaps discussed above), our annual interest cost would increase by
$23 million based on gross amounts outstanding at December 31, 2016. Assuming a 100 basis-point increase in
HIBOR for the MGM China credit facility, our annual interest cost would increase by $19 million based on
amounts outstanding at December 31, 2016. The following table provides additional information about our gross
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long-term debt subject to changes in interest rates excluding the effect of the Operating Partnership interest rate
swaps discussed above:

L Fair Value
Debt maturing in, December 31,
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Thereafter  Total 2016

(In millions)
Fixed-rate ..................oooae. $ -$ 475§ 850 § 1,500 $ 1,250 § 4303 $ 8378 § 9,114
Average interest rate .............. N/A  11.4% 8.6% 6.3% 6.6% 6.0% 6.7%
Variablerate ....................... $ 138 § 848 § 1,147 $ 82 $ 807 $ 1,744 $ 4,766 $ 4,772
Average interest rate .............. 3.0% 2.8% 2.7% 3.2% 3.2% 35% 3.1%

In addition to the risk associated with our variable interest rate debt, we are also exposed to risks related to
changes in foreign currency exchange rates, mainly related to MGM China and to our operations at MGM Macau
and the development of MGM Cotai. While recent fluctuations in exchange rates have not been significant,
potential changes in policy by governments or fluctuations in the economies of the United States, China, Macau
or Hong Kong could cause variability in these exchange rates. We cannot assure you that the Hong Kong dollar
will continue to be pegged to the U.S. dollar or the current peg rate for the Hong Kong dollar will remain at the
same level. The possible changes to the peg of the Hong Kong dollar may result in severe fluctuations in the
exchange rate thereof. As of December 31, 2016, a 1% increase in the Hong Kong dollar (the functional currency
of MGM China) to the U.S. dollar exchange rate would impact the carrying value of our cash balance by $4
million and a 1% decrease in the exchange rate would impact the carrying value of our debt balance by $20
million.
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MANAGEMENT’S ANNUAL REPORT
ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management’s Responsibilities

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Sections 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act) for MGM Resorts International
and subsidiaries (the “Company”).

Objective of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In establishing adequate internal control over financial reporting, management has developed and
maintained a system of internal control, policies and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that
information contained in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and other information presented in
this annual report is reliable, does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact, and fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
Company as of and for the periods presented in this annual report. These include controls and procedures
designed to ensure that this information is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management,
including its principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate for all timely decisions
regarding required disclosure. Significant elements of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
include, for example:

« Hiring skilled accounting personnel and training them appropriately;

 Written accounting policies;

» Written documentation of accounting systems and procedures;

 Segregation of incompatible duties;

« Internal audit function to monitor the effectiveness of the system of internal control; and
 Oversight by an independent Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

Management’s Evaluation

Management, with the participation of the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial
officer, has evaluated the Company’s internal control over financial reporting using the criteria established in
Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. In making its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2016, the Company has excluded the operations of Marina District Development Company, LLC, which owns
and operates Borgata Hotel Casino & Spa (“Borgata™) because these operations were acquired in a business
combination on August 1, 2016. These operations represent approximately 7% of the Company’s total assets at
December 31, 2016 and approximately 4% of the Company’s total net revenues for the year ended December 31,
2016. The Company intends to disclose any material changes in internal control over financial reporting with
respect to the Borgata operations in the year ending December 31, 2017, the first annual assessment of internal
control over financial reporting in which it is required to include Borgata.

Based on its evaluation as of December 31, 2016, management believes that the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting is effective in achieving the objectives described above.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Deloitte & Touche LLP audited the Company’s consolidated financial statements as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2016 and issued their report thereon, which is included in this annual report. Deloitte &
Touche LLP has also issued an attestation report on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting and such report is also included in this annual report.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
MGM Resorts International

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of MGM Resorts International and subsidiaries
(the “Company”) as of December 31, 2016, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. As
described in Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, management excluded
from its assessment the internal control over financial reporting at Marina District Development Company, LLC
(the Borgata Hotel Casino & Spa), which was acquired on August 1, 2016, and whose financial statements
constitute 7% of total assets and 4% of total net revenues of the Company’s consolidated financial statement
amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016. Accordingly, our audit did not include the internal
control over financial reporting at Marina District Development Company, LLC. The Company’s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our
audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based
on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of,
the company’s principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and
effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of
collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal
control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2016, based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016. Our report
dated March 1, 2017 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

/sl DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Las Vegas, Nevada
March 1, 2017
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
MGM Resorts International

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of MGM Resorts International and
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2016. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of MGM Resorts International and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2016, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, based on the
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 1, 2017, expressed an unqualified
opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Las Vegas, Nevada
March 1, 2017
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MGM RESORTS INTERNATIONAL AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share data)

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net

Inventories
Income tax

Prepaid expenses and other

Total current assets

receivable

Property and equipment, net ......... ...

Other assets

Investments in and advances to unconsolidated affiliates ...........................

Goodwill ..
Other intangible assets, net
Other long-

1S3 0010 0 FJ Y 1 U 1]

Total Other ASSELS ...\ttt

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities

Accounts payable
Construction payable

Income taxes payable ...t
Current portion of long-term debt .............cooiiiiiiiiii

Accrued interest on long-term debt

Other accrued Habilities . ........oviiiiiii e

Total current liabilities

Deferred income taxes, et ................... ...
Long-term debt ...

Other long-term obligations

Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)
Redeemable noncontrolling interests ...........................iii
Stockholders’ equity
Common stock, $.01 par value: authorized 1,000,000,000 shares, issued and
outstanding 574,123,706 and 564,838,893 shares............c.ccovvvvvineiinnn...
Capital in excess of par value .......... ..o
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) ..............cooiiiiiiii i

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Total MGM Resorts International stockholders’ equity ...............ccoeiuien.
Noncontrolling INEIESES ......ouuet ittt eree e

Total stockholders’ eqUItY .....oouuriiteei e e e

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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December 31,

2016

2015

$ 1,446,581

$ 1,670,312

542,924 480,559
97,733 104,200
- 15,993
142,349 137,685
2,229,587 2,408,749
18,425,023 15,371,795
1,220,443 1,491,497
1,817,119 1,430,767
4,087,706 4,164,781
393,423 347,589
7,518,691 7,434,634
$28,173,301  $25,215,178
$ 250477 $ 182,031
270,361 250,120
10,654 -
8,375 328,442
159,028 165,914
1,594,526 1,311,444
2293421 2,237,951
2,551,228 2,680,576
12,979,220 12,368,311
325,981 157,663
54,139 6,250
5,741 5,648
5,653,575 5,655,886
545,811 (555,629)
15,053 14,022
6,220,180 5,119,927
3,749,132 2,644,500
9,969.312 7,764,427
$28,173,301  $25,215,178




MGM RESORTS INTERNATIONAL AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
Revenues
CASINO . ettt ettt $ 4,936,490 $ 4,842,836 $ 5,878,775
ROOIMIS ... 2,023,841 1,876,733 1,768,012
Food and beverage ...........ovueiiii i e 1,639,910 1,575,496 1,558,937
ENntertainment ...........o.oiuiiiii e 517,433 539,318 560,116
Retail ..o 200,340 201,688 191,351
ONeT .. 533,528 506,934 507,639
Reimbursed COSS ...t 397,152 398,836 383,434
10,248,694 9,941,841 10,848,264
Less: Promotional allowances .............oouviiiiiiiiiiiieeiii it (793,571) (751,773) (766,280)
9,455,123 9,190,068 10,081,984
Expenses
CASINO - - ettt et e 2,718,483 2,882,752 3,643,881
ROOIMS ..t 576,426 564,094 548,993
Food and beverage ..........uvvuiiiiii s 943,803 917,993 908,916
Entertainment ..........oo.oiuititi e 411,657 410,284 422,115
Retail ..o 96,928 102,904 99,455
OheT .. 351,215 348,513 361,904
Reimbursed COSES .....oiiit s 397,152 398,836 383,434
General and adminiStratiVve . .........ooii e 1,378,617 1,309,104 1,318,749
COTPOTALE EXPEIISE - . v vv ettt ettt et e et e e e e e e et e e e e neeennnes 312,774 274,551 238,811
NV ENErgy eXit EXPENSE ... .o.uiriti it 139,335 - -
Preopening and Start-Up EXPEeNSES .........ueeueteneernit ittt 140,075 71,327 39,257
Property transactions, NEt ............ooueeeeeetieeit et eite it eieanaeanas 17,078 35,951 41,002
GoodWill IMPAITMENT ...ttt e e eae s - 1,467,991 -
Gain on Borgata transaction ................o.oieiiiiiiiiiii e (430,118) - -
Depreciation and amortization ..............eveiieeiitiiiie it 849,527 819,883 815,765
7,902,952 9,604,183 8,822,282
Income from unconsolidated affiliates .............................................. 527,616 257,883 63,836
Operating income (10SS) .........o.ooiiiiitii e 2,079,787 (156,232) 1,323,538
Non-operating income (expense)
Interest expense, net of amounts capitalized.................ooviiiiiiiiinan (694,773) (797,579) (817,061)
Non-operating items from unconsolidated affiliates ............................... (53,139) (76,462) (87,794)
Oher, Net ... (72,698) (15,970) (7,797)
(820,610) (890,011) (912,652)
Income (loss) before income taxes ..................cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i, 1,259,177 (1,046,243) 410,886
Benefit (provision) for iNCOME taXes ..........evvuieiiiiiiiiii et (22,299) 6,594 (283,708)
Net inCOME (10SS) ... ....oii it e e e e 1,236,878 (1,039,649) 127,178
Less: Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests .................. (135,438) 591,929 (277,051)
Net income (loss) attributable to MGM Resorts International .................. $ 1,101,440 § (447,720) $§ (149,873)
Net income (loss) per share of common stock attributable to MGM Resorts
International
BaaSIC .ttt $ 194 § (0.82) $ (0.31)
DUt ..o $ 192§ (0.82) $ (0.31)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MGM RESORTS INTERNATIONAL AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
Netincome (10SS) .......cooeiniii i $1,236,878  $(1,039,649) $ 127,178
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustment ......................coooene.. (2,680) 3,727 (1,293)
Unrealized gain on cash flow hedges ................c..coo, 1,879 - -
L 11 1T o - (672) 1,250
Other comprehensive income (10SS) .....ooovvvieiiiiiiiiiiiiiieean (801) 3,055 (43)
Comprehensive income (10SS) ... 1,236,077  (1,036,594) 127,135
Less: Comprehensive (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling
TIEETESTS . e ettt et e ettt ettt e et e (134,680) 589,905  (276,520)
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to MGM Resorts
International .............. .. .. .. ..., $1,101,397 $ (446,689) $(149,385)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MGM RESORTS INTERNATIONAL AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities
NEEINCOME (L0SS) .+ vttt ettt ettt ettt e e et ettt e e et et ettt e
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization .................oooeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiniiii .
Amortization of debt discounts, premiums and ISSUANCE COSES .....uuutnriuintitit ittt
Loss on retirement of long-term debt ...
Provision for doubtful accounts .....
Stock-based compensation.........
Property transactions, net ..
Goodwill impairment..........
Gain on Borgata transaction ............
(Income) loss from unconsolidated affi .
Distributions from unconsolidated affiliates .
Deferred income taxes .......................
Change in operating assets and liabilities .
Accounts Teceivable .......... ..o
INVEINTOTIES ...t
Income taxes receivable and payable, net .
Prepaid expenses and other ...............
Prepaid Cotai land concession premium .
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Net cash provided by operating aCtivities ..............ooouiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e

Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditures, net of construction Payable ... ... ..o
Dispositions of property and eqUIPIMENT .. ..........o.iuiu it
Proceeds from partial disposition of investment in unconsolidated affiliate ......
Proceeds from sale of business units and investment in unconsolidated affiliate .
Acquisition of Borgata, net of cash acquired...................cooo
Investments in and advances to unconsolidated affiliates...........................
Distributions from unconsolidated affiliates in excess of cumulative earnings ...
Investments in treasury securities—maturities longer than 90 days ...............
Proceeds from treasury securities—maturities longer than 90 days......
Investments in cash deposits—original maturities longer than 90 days .
Proceeds from cash deposits—original maturities longer than 90 days.. ..
Payments for gaming ICENSES ..........iuiuiuii i
OBReT . L

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Net borrowings (repayments) under bank credit facilities — maturities of 90 days orless ..............c.oooovinns
Borrowings under bank credit facilities — maturities longer than 90 days ................
Repayments under bank credit facilities — maturities longer than 90 days ...
Issuance of long-term debt
Retirement of senior notes ............ .
Repayment of Borgata credit facility ..o e
DDt ISSUANCE COSES ... ..ttt ettt e e
Issuance of MGM Growth Properties Class A shares in public offering
MGM Growth Properties Class A share issuance costs ...................
Acquisition of MGM China shares ........................
Distributions to noncontrolling interest owners.
Excess tax benefit from exercise of stock options .............
Proceeds from issuance of redeemable noncontrolling interes .
OO .

Net cash provided by (used in) financing aCtiVItIES ..........c.ouiiuiiitit i

Effect of exchange rate on cash

Cash and cash equivalents
Net decrease for the PEriod ...ttt
Change in cash related to assets held for sale . .
Balance, beginning of Period ....... ...

Balance, end 0f PEriod ...

Supplemental cash flow disclosures
Interest paid, net of amounts capitaliZed ...
Federal, state and foreign income taxes paid, net of refunds ...

Non-cash investing and financing activities
Common stock issued for acquisition of MGM China shares .............o.ooiviiiiiiiiii e
Deferred cash payment for acquisition of MGM China shares . ..
Conversion of convertible Senior NOLES 10 EQUILY . ........iuiuiuieititt ittt
Increase (decrease) in investment in and advances to CityCenter related to change in completion guarantee

liability
Increase in construction accounts payable

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
$ 1,236,878  $(1,039,649) $ 127,178
849,527 819,883 815,765
40,493 46,280 37,650
66,933 1,924 -
10,863 54,691 46,698
55,487 42,872 37,264
17,078 35,951 41,002
- 1,467,991 -
(430,118) - -
(471,309) (177,946) 24,875
16,905 29,333 15,568
(80,628) (3,615) 331,833
(33,208) (62,720) (32,435)
10,806 (2,649) 3,167
13,385 (5,946) (29,485)
20,192 (13,694) 22,144
(22,376) (22,427) (22,423)
272,828 (139,069) (288,955)
(39,764) (26,131) 824
1,533,972 1,005,079 1,130,670
(2,262,473)  (1,466,819) (872,041)
15,000 - -
- 92,207 -
(559,443) - -
(3,633) (196,062) (103,040)
542,097 201,612 132
- - (123,133)
- - 210,300
- (200,205) (570,000)
- 770,205 -
- - (85,000)
(11,696) (4,028) 10,981
(2,276,204) (795,058)  (1,524,150)
491,032 977,275 (28,000)
1,845,375 5,118,750 5,171,250
(1,845,375)  (5,118,750)  (5,171,250)
2,050,000 - 1,250,750
(2,258,053) (875,504) (508,900)
(583,598) - -
(139,584) (46,170) (13,681)
1,207,500 - -
(75,032) - -
(100,000) - -
(103,367) (307,227) (386,709)
13,277 12,369 4,671
47,325 6,250 -
(30,078) (24,872) (10,054)
519,422 (257,879) 308,077
921) 793 (889)
(223,731) (47,065) (86,292)
- K (3,662)
1,670,312 1,713,715 1,803,669

$ 1,446,581  $ 1,670,312

$ 1,713,715

$ 661,166 S 776,540
68,236 11,801

$ 174,041 $ -
43265 -

o 1,449,499

- (8,198)

20,241 79,681

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MGM RESORTS INTERNATIONAL AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the Years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014

(In thousands)
Total
Cg‘;’:}? n o Retai.ned Accumulated MGM Rgsorts
Capital in Earnings Other International Non- Total
Par  Excess of Par (Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders’ Controlling Stockholders’
Shares  Value Value Deficit) Income Equity Interests Equity
Balances, January 1,2014 ............ 490,361 $ 4,904 $ 4,156,680 $ 41,964 $ 12,503 $ 4,216,051 $ 3,644,444 $ 7,860,495
Net income (10SS) ......ccovvennnn.. - - - (149,873) - (149,873) 277,051 127,178
Currency translation adjustment .... - - - - (762) (762) (531) (1,293)
Other comprehensive income from
unconsolidated affiliates, net ..... - - - - 1,250 1,250 - 1,250
Stock-based compensation .......... - - 34,102 - - 34,102 4,266 38,368
Tax effect of stock-based
compensation ...................... - - (7,807) - - (7,807) - (7,807)
Issuance of common stock pursuant
to stock-based compensation
AWards ... ..oooiii 931 9 (8,893) - - (8,884) - (8,884)
Cash distributions to noncontrolling
interest OWNers .................... - - - - - - (387,211)  (387,211)
Issuance of performance share
UNIES et 7,529 7,529 - 7,529
Other ......cooovviiiiiiiiis - - (639) - - (689) (662) (1,351)
Balances, December 31,2014 ........ 491,292 4913 4,180,922 (107,909) 12,991 4,090,917 3,537,357 7,628,274
Net10SS .ouviviniiiiiiiiieen - - - (447,720) - (447,720)  (591,929) (1,039,649)
Currency translation adjustment .... - - - - 1,703 1,703 ,024 s
Other comprehensive loss from
unconsolidated affiliates, net ..... - - - - (672) (672) - (672)
Stock-based compensation .......... - - 38,464 - - 38,464 4,538 43,002
Tax effect of stock-based
CoOmMPensation ................e..... - - 7,740 - - 7,740 - 7,740
Issuance of common stock pursuant
to stock-based compensation
awards........oviiiiii 1,844 18 (24,896) - - (24,878) - (24,878)
Conversion of convertible debt to
common Stock ..................... 71,703 717 1,448,779 - - 1,449,496 - 1,449,496
Cash distributions to noncontrolling
interest OWNers .................... - - - - - - (307,494)  (307,494)
Issuance of performance share
UNIES «.vtieieiieieeeeeeaa - - 4,872 - - 4,872 - 4,872
Other ..o - - 5 - - 5 4 9
Balances, December 31,2015 ........ 564,839 5,648 5,655,886 (555,629) 14,022 5,119,927 2,644,500 7,764,427
Net income ........oevveuvneeninnannn. - - - 1,101,440 - 1,101,440 134,902 1,236,342
Currency translation adjustment ... - - - - (1,477) (1,477) (1,203) (2,680)
Stock-based compensation .......... - - 51,460 - - 51,460 4,147 55,607
Tax effect of stock-based
COmMpensation ...................... - - 13,580 - - 13,580 - 13,580
Issuance of common stock pursuant
to stock-based compensation
awards........o.ooiiiiiiiiii 9,285 22 (30,065) - - (30,043) - (30,043)
Issuance of performance share
UNIES e - - 5,817 - - 5,817 - 5,817
Cash distributions to noncontrolling
interest OWNers .................... - - - - - - (103,457)  (103,457)
MGM Growth Properties IPO ...... - - (150,414) - - (150,414) 1,334,252 1,183,838
MGP dividend payable to Class A
shareholders ....................... - - - - - - (22,281) (22,281)
MGM China common stock
acquisition ...........c.ooieiiinn... - 71 127,146 - 1,074 128,291 (270,903)  (142,612)
Borgata transaction - (18,385) - - (18,385) 28,752 10,367
Other comprehensive income - cash
flow hedges .............cooenin. - - - - 1,434 1,434 445 1,879
OHhr +.eeeeeee e, - - (1,450) - - (1,450) (22) (1,472)
Balances, December 31, 2016 ........ 574,124 $ 5,741 $ 5,653,575 $ 545811 § 15,053 § 6,220,180 $ 3,749,132 $ 9,969,312

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

41



MGM RESORTS INTERNATIONAL AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 — ORGANIZATION

Organization. MGM Resorts International (the “Company” together with its consolidated subsidiaries) is a
Delaware corporation that acts largely as a holding company and, through subsidiaries, owns and operates casino
resorts. The Company owns and operates the following integrated casino, hotel and entertainment resorts in Las
Vegas, Nevada: Bellagio, MGM Grand Las Vegas, The Mirage, Mandalay Bay, Luxor, New York-New York,
Monte Carlo, Excalibur and Circus Circus Las Vegas. Operations at MGM Grand Las Vegas include
management of The Signature at MGM Grand Las Vegas, a condominium-hotel consisting of three towers.
Along with local investors, the Company owns and operates MGM Grand Detroit in Detroit, Michigan. The
Company owns and operates the following resorts in Mississippi: Beau Rivage in Biloxi and Gold Strike in
Tunica. Subsequent to its acquisition on August 1, 2016, the Company owns and operates the Borgata Hotel
Casino & Spa (“Borgata™), located on Renaissance Pointe in the Marina area of Atlantic City, New Jersey. See
Note 4 for additional information on the Borgata transaction. The Company owns and operates Shadow Creek, an
exclusive world-class golf course located approximately ten miles north of its Las Vegas Strip resorts, Primm
Valley Golf Club at the California/Nevada state line and Fallen Oak golf course in Saucier, Mississippi.
Additionally, the Company owns and operates MGM National Harbor in Prince George’s County, Maryland,
which opened on December 8, 2016.

On April 25, 2016, MGM Growth Properties LLC (“MGP”), a consolidated subsidiary of the Company,
completed its initial public offering (“IPO”) of 57,500,000 of its Class A shares representing limited liability
company interests (inclusive of the full exercise by the underwriters of their option to purchase 7,500,000
Class A shares) at an initial offering price of $21 per share. In connection with the IPO, the Company and MGP
entered into a series of transactions and several agreements that, among other things, set forth the terms and
conditions of the TPO and provide a framework for the Company’s relationship with MGP.

MGP is organized as an umbrella partnership REIT (commonly referred to as an “UPREIT”) structure in
which substantially all of its assets are owned by, and substantially all of its businesses are conducted through, its
Operating Partnership subsidiary, MGM Growth Properties Operating Partnership LP (the “Operating
Partnership™). MGP contributed the proceeds from the IPO to the Operating Partnership in exchange for 26.7%
of the Operating Partnership units representing limited partner interests in the Operating Partnership. The general
partner of the Operating Partnership is also a subsidiary of MGP. MGP has two classes of authorized and
outstanding voting common shares (collectively, the “shares™): Class A shares and a single Class B share. The
Company owns MGP’s Class B share, which does not provide its holder any rights to profits or losses or any
rights to receive distributions from operations of MGP or upon liquidation or winding up of MGP. MGP’s
Class A shareholders are entitled to one vote per share, while the Company, as the owner of the Class B share, is
entitled to an amount of votes representing a majority of the total voting power of MGP’s shares so long as the
Company and its controlled affiliates’ (excluding MGP) aggregate beneficial ownership of the combined
economic interests in MGP and the Operating Partnership does not fall below 30%.

Pursuant to a master contribution agreement entered into in connection with the IPO by and between the
Company, MGP and the Operating Partnership, the Company contributed the real estate assets of The Mirage,
Mandalay Bay, Luxor, New York-New York, Monte Carlo, Excalibur, The Park, Gold Strike Tunica, MGM
Grand Detroit and Beau Rivage to newly formed subsidiaries and subsequently transferred 100% ownership
interest in such subsidiaries to the Operating Partnership in exchange for 73.3% of the Operating Partnership
units in the Operating Partnership on the closing date of the IPO. In addition, on August 1, 2016, the Company
completed its acquisition of Borgata and subsequently contributed Borgata’s real estate assets to MGP, as
discussed in Note 4. As a result of the Borgata transaction, as discussed in Note 20, the Company’s indirect
ownership in the Operating Partnership units increased to 76.3% and MGP’s Class A shareholders’ ownership
interest in Operating Partnership units was reduced to 23.7%. The Operating Partnership units held by the
Company are exchangeable into Class A shares of MGP on a one-to-one basis, or cash at the fair value of a
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Class A share. The determination of settlement method is at the option of MGP’s independent conflicts
committee. See Note 10 and Note 19 for additional information related to MGP, the IPO and certain other
intercompany agreements and debt financing transactions entered into in connection therewith.

The Company acquired an additional 4.95% interest in MGM China Holdings Limited (“MGM China”) on
September 1, 2016, which increased its ownership to approximately 56%. See Note 14 for additional information.
The Company has a controlling interest in MGM China, which owns MGM Grand Paradise, S.A. (“MGM Grand
Paradise”), the Macau company that owns and operates the MGM Macau resort and casino and the related
gaming subconcession and land concessions, and is in the process of developing an 18 acre site on the Cotai Strip
in Macau (“MGM Cotai”). MGM Cotai will be an integrated casino, hotel and entertainment resort with capacity
for up to 500 gaming tables and up to 1,500 slots, and featuring approximately 1,500 hotel rooms. The actual
number of gaming tables allocated to MGM Cotai will be determined by the Macau government prior to opening,
and such allocation is expected to be less than MGM Cotai’s 500 gaming table capacity. The total estimated
project budget is $3.3 billion excluding development fees eliminated in consolidation, capitalized interest and
land related costs.

The Company owns 50% of and manages CityCenter Holdings, LLC (“CityCenter”), located between
Bellagio and Monte Carlo. The other 50% of CityCenter is owned by Infinity World Development Corp, a
wholly owned subsidiary of Dubai World, a Dubai, United Arab Emirates government decree entity. CityCenter
consists of Aria, an integrated casino, hotel and entertainment resort; Mandarin Oriental Las Vegas, a hon-
gaming boutique hotel; and Vdara, a luxury condominium-hotel. In addition, CityCenter features residential units
in the Residences at Mandarin Oriental and Veer. In April 2016, CityCenter closed the sale of The Shops at
Crystals (“Crystals™), a retail, dining and entertainment district. See Note 7 and Note 19 for additional
information related to CityCenter.

The Company and a subsidiary of Anschutz Entertainment Group, Inc. (“AEG”) each own 42.5% of the Las
Vegas Arena Company, LLC (“Las Vegas Arena Company”), the entity which owns the T-Mobile Arena,
subsequent to the sale of a 7.5% ownership interest by each of the Company and AEG to Athena Arena, LLC on
September 1, 2016. The Company manages the T-Mobile Arena, which is located on a parcel of the Company’s
land between Frank Sinatra Drive and New York-New York, adjacent to the Las Vegas Strip. The T-Mobile
Arena is a 20,000 seat venue designed to host world-class events — from mixed martial arts, boxing, hockey,
basketball and bull riding, to high profile awards shows and top-name concerts. T-Mobile Arena commenced
operations in April 2016. Effective January 1, 2016, the Company leases the MGM Grand Garden Arena, located
adjacent to the MGM Grand Las Vegas, to the Las Vegas Arena Company. See Note 7 and Note 13 for additional
information regarding the Company’s investment in the Las Vegas Arena Company. In addition, the Company
owns and operates The Park, a dining and entertainment district, which opened in April 2016 and which connects
to T-Mobile Arena, New York-New York, Monte Carlo and the Park Theater, a 5,200 seat entertainment venue
which opened in December 2016.

The Company also has a 50% interest in Grand Victoria. Grand Victoria is a riverboat casino in Elgin,
Illinois; an affiliate of Hyatt Gaming owns the other 50% of Grand Victoria and also operates the resort. See
Note 7 for additional information regarding the Company’s investment in Grand Victoria.

A subsidiary of the Company was awarded a casino license to build and operate MGM Springfield in
Springfield, Massachusetts. MGM Springfield will be developed on approximately 14 acres of land in downtown
Springfield. The Company’s plans for the resort currently include a casino with approximately 3,000 slots and
100 table games including poker; a 250-room hotel; 100,000 square feet of retail and restaurant space; 44,000
square feet of meeting and event space; and a 3,375 space parking garage, with an expected development and
construction cost of approximately $865 million, excluding capitalized interest and land related costs.

The Company has two reportable segments: domestic resorts and MGM China. See Note 18 for additional
information about the Company’s segments.
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NOTE 2 — BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of consolidation. For entities not determined to be a variable interest entity (“VIE”), the
Company consolidates such entities in which the Company owns 100% of the equity. For entities in which the
Company owns less than 100% of the equity interest, the Company consolidates the entity if it has the direct or
indirect ability to control the entities’ activities based upon the terms of the respective entities’ ownership
agreements. For these entities, the Company records a noncontrolling interest in the consolidated balance sheets.
The Company’s investments in unconsolidated affiliates which are 50% or less owned are accounted for under
the equity method when the Company can exercise significant influence over or has joint control of the
unconsolidated affiliate. All intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.

The Company evaluates entities for which control is achieved through means other than voting rights to
determine if it is the primary beneficiary of a VIE. A VIE is an entity in which either (i) the equity investors as a
group, if any, lack the power through voting or similar rights to direct the activities of such entity that most
significantly impact such entity’s economic performance or (ii) the equity investment at risk is insufficient to
finance that entity’s activities without additional subordinated financial support. The Company identifies the
primary beneficiary of a VIE as the enterprise that has both of the following characteristics: (i) the power to
direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the entity’s economic performance; and (ii) the
obligation to absorb losses or receive benefits of the VIE that could potentially be significant to the entity. The
Company consolidates its investment in a VIE when it determines that it is its primary beneficiary. For these
VIEs, the Company records a noncontrolling interest in the consolidated balance sheets. The Company may
change its original assessment of a VIE upon subsequent events such as the modification of contractual
arrangements that affect the characteristics or adequacy of the entity’s equity investments at risk and the
disposition of all or a portion of an interest held by the primary beneficiary. The Company performs this analysis
on an ongoing basis.

Management has determined that MGP is a VIE because the Class A equity investors as a group lack the
power through voting or similar rights to direct the activities of such entity that most significantly impact such
entity’s economic performance. The Company has determined that it is the primary beneficiary of MGP and
consolidates MGP because (i) its ownership of MGP’s single Class B share entitles it to a majority of the total
voting power of MGP’s shares, and (ii) the exchangeable nature of the Operating Partnership units owned
provide the Company the right to receive benefits from MGP that could potentially be significant to MGP. The
Company has recorded MGP’s 26.7% interest in the Operating Partnership prior to the Borgata transaction and
23.7% interest subsequent to the Borgata transaction as noncontrolling interest in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements. As of December 31, 2016, on a consolidated basis MGP had total assets of $9.5 billion,
primarily related to its real estate investments, and total liabilities of $3.9 billion, primarily related to its
indebtedness.

Management’s use of estimates. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These principles require the
Company’s management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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Fair value measurements. Fair value measurements affect the Company’s accounting and impairment
assessments of its long-lived assets, investments in unconsolidated affiliates, cost method investments, assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in an acquisition, and goodwill and other intangible assets. Fair value
measurements also affect the Company’s accounting for certain of its financial assets and liabilities. Fair value is
defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date and is measured according to a hierarchy that includes:
Level 1 inputs, such as quoted prices in an active market; Level 2 inputs, which are observable inputs for similar
assets; or Level 3 inputs, which are unobservable inputs. The Company used the following inputs in its fair value
measurements:

 Level 1 and Level 2 inputs for its long-term debt fair value disclosures. See Note 10;

* Level 2 inputs when measuring the fair value of its interest rate swaps. See Note 11;

 Level 2 and Level 3 inputs when assessing the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed during
the Borgata transaction. See Note 4;

e Level 2 and Level 3 inputs when measuring the impairment of goodwill related to the MGM China
reporting unit. See Note 8; and

* Level 3 inputs when assessing the fair value of its investment in Grand Victoria. See Note 7

Cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include investments and interest bearing
instruments with maturities of 90 days or less at the date of acquisition. Such investments are carried at cost,
which approximates market value. Book overdraft balances resulting from the Company’s cash management
program are recorded as accounts payable or construction payable as applicable.

Accounts receivable and credit risk. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to
concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of casino accounts receivable. The Company issues credit to
approved casino customers and gaming promoters following background checks and investigations of
creditworthiness. At December 31, 2016, 47% of the Company’s casino receivables at its domestic resorts were
due from customers residing in foreign countries and 9% of the Company’s casino receivables related to MGM
China. Business or economic conditions or other significant events in these countries could affect the
collectability of such receivables.

Accounts receivable are typically non-interest bearing and are initially recorded at cost. Accounts are
written off when management deems the account to be uncollectible. Recoveries of accounts previously written
off are recorded when received. An estimated allowance for doubtful accounts is maintained to reduce the
Company’s receivables to their net carrying amount, which approximates fair value. The allowance is estimated
based on both a specific review of customer accounts as well as historical collection experience and current
economic and business conditions. Management believes that as of December 31, 2016, no significant
concentrations of credit risk existed for which an allowance had not already been recorded.

Inventories. Inventories consist primarily of food and beverage, retail merchandise and operating supplies,
and are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined primarily using the average cost
method for food and beverage and operating supplies. Cost for retail merchandise is determined using the cost
method.

Property and equipment. Property and equipment are stated at cost. A significant amount of the
Company’s property and equipment was acquired through business combinations and therefore recognized at fair
value at the acquisition date. Gains or losses on dispositions of property and equipment are included in the
determination of income or loss. Maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. As of December 31, 2016 and
2015, the Company had accrued $36 million and $17 million for property and equipment within accounts payable
and $32 million and $44 million related to construction retention accrued in other long-term liabilities,
respectively.
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Property and equipment are generally depreciated over the following estimated useful lives on a straight-line
basis:

Buildings and improvements ................c.ooeiiiiiiiiiiinn.. 20 to 40 years
Land improvements ............c.cooviuieiinieiineeiiinennneanns. 10 to 20 years
Furniture and fixtures .............cooiiiiiiiiii i 3 to 20 years
Equipment...........ooiiiiiiii e 3 to 15 years

The Company evaluates its property and equipment and other long-lived assets for impairment based on its
classification as held for sale or to be held and used. Several criteria must be met before an asset is classified as
held for sale, including that management with the appropriate authority commits to a plan to sell the asset at a
reasonable price in relation to its fair value and is actively seeking a buyer. For assets held for sale, the Company
recognizes the asset at the lower of carrying value or fair market value less costs to sell, as estimated based on
comparable asset sales, offers received, or a discounted cash flow model. For assets to be held and used, the
Company reviews for impairment whenever indicators of impairment exist. The Company then compares the
estimated future cash flows of the asset, on an undiscounted basis, to the carrying value of the asset. If the
undiscounted cash flows exceed the carrying value, no impairment is indicated. If the undiscounted cash flows do
not exceed the carrying value, then an impairment charge is recorded based on the fair value of the asset,
typically measured using a discounted cash flow model. If an asset is still under development, future cash flows
include remaining construction costs. All recognized impairment losses, whether for assets held for sale or assets
to be held and used, are recorded as operating expenses.

Capitalized interest. The interest cost associated with major development and construction projects is
capitalized and included in the cost of the project. When no debt is incurred specifically for a project, interest is
capitalized on amounts expended on the project using the weighted-average cost of the Company’s outstanding
borrowings. Capitalization of interest ceases when the project is substantially complete or development activity is
suspended for more than a brief period.

Investments in and advances to unconsolidated affiliates. The Company has investments in
unconsolidated affiliates accounted for under the equity method. Under the equity method, carrying value is
adjusted for the Company’s share of the investees’ earnings and losses, amortization of certain basis differences,
as well as capital contributions to and distributions from these companies. Distributions in excess of equity
method earnings are recognized as a return of investment and recorded as investing cash inflows in the
accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows. The Company classifies operating income and losses as
well as gains and impairments related to its investments in unconsolidated affiliates as a component of operating
income or loss, as the Company’s investments in such unconsolidated affiliates are an extension of the
Company’s core business operations.

The Company evaluates its investments in unconsolidated affiliates for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of its investment may have experienced an “other-than-
temporary” decline in value. If such conditions exist, the Company compares the estimated fair value of the
investment to its carrying value to determine if an impairment is indicated and determines whether the
impairment is “other-than-temporary” based on its assessment of all relevant factors, including consideration of
the Company’s intent and ability to retain its investment. The Company estimates fair value using a discounted
cash flow analysis based on estimated future results of the investee and market indicators of terminal year
capitalization rates, and a market approach that utilizes business enterprise value multiples based on a range of
multiples from the Company’s peer group. See Note 7 and Note 17 for results of the Company’s review of its
investment in certain of its unconsolidated affiliates.

Goodwill and other intangible assets. Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price over fair market
value of net assets acquired in business combinations. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets must be
reviewed for impairment at least annually and between annual test dates in certain circumstances. The Company
performs its annual impairment tests in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year. No impairments were indicated or
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recorded as a result of the annual impairment review for goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets in 2016
and 2014. An impairment of goodwill related to the MGM China reporting unit was recorded as a result of the
annual impairment review in 2015. See Note 8.

Accounting guidance provides entities the option to perform a qualitative assessment of goodwill
(commonly referred to as “step zero”) in order to determine whether further impairment testing is necessary. In
performing the step zero analysis the Company considers macroeconomic conditions, industry and market
considerations, current and forecasted financial performance, entity-specific events, and changes in the
composition or carrying amount of net assets of reporting units. In addition, the Company takes into
consideration the amount of excess of fair value over carrying value determined in the last quantitative analysis
that was performed, as well as the period of time that has passed since the last quantitative analysis. If the step
zero analysis indicates that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying
amount, the entity would proceed to a two-step quantitative analysis.

Under the two-step quantitative analysis, goodwill for relevant reporting units is tested for impairment using
a discounted cash flow analysis based on the estimated future results of the Company’s reporting units
discounted using market discount rates and market indicators of terminal year capitalization rates, and a market
approach that utilizes business enterprise value multiples based on a range of multiples from the Company’s peer
group. If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an indication of impairment exists and the
Company must proceed to measure an impairment loss, if any. To measure an impairment loss, the implied fair
value of a reporting unit’s goodwill is compared to the carrying value of that goodwill. The implied fair value of
goodwill is determined by allocating the fair value of the reporting unit to its assets and liabilities and the amount
remaining, if any, is the implied fair value of goodwill. If the implied fair value of goodwill is less than its
carrying value then it must be written down to its implied fair value. License rights are tested for impairment
using a discounted cash flow approach, and trademarks are tested for impairment using the relief-from-royalty
method. If the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset is less than its carrying amount, an impairment
loss is recognized equal to the difference.

Revenue recognition and promotional allowances. Casino revenue is the aggregate net difference
between gaming wins and losses, with liabilities recognized for funds deposited by customers before gaming play
occurs (“casino front money”) and for chips in the customers’ possession (“outstanding chip liability”). Hotel,
food and beverage, entertainment, retail and other operating revenues are recognized as services are performed
and goods are provided. Advance deposits on rooms and advance ticket sales are recorded as accrued liabilities
until services are provided to the customer.

Gaming revenues are recognized net of certain sales incentives, including discounts and points earned in
point-loyalty programs. The retail value of hotel rooms, food and beverage, and other services furnished to guests
without charge is included in gross revenue and then deducted as promotional allowances. The estimated cost of
providing promotional allowances is primarily included in casino expenses as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)
ROOMS Lo $ 120,369 $ 112,313  $ 115,463
Food and beverage ...........ccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 283,598 279,041 295,667
Entertainment, retail and other ...................................... 39,611 39,388 39,673

$ 443578 § 430,742 $§ 450,803
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Gaming promoters. A significant portion of the high-end (“VIP”) gaming volume at MGM Macau is
generated through the use of gaming promoters, also known as junket operators. These operators introduce VIP
gaming players to MGM Macau, assist these customers with travel arrangements, and extend gaming credit to
these players. VIP gaming at MGM Macau is conducted by the use of special purpose nonnegotiable gaming
chips. Gaming promoters purchase these nonnegotiable chips from MGM Macau and in turn sell these chips to
their players. The nonnegotiable chips allow MGM Macau to track the amount of wagering conducted by each
gaming promoter’s clients in order to determine VIP gaming play volume, or rolling chip turnover, which is the
amount of nonnegotiable chips wagered and lost. In exchange for the gaming promoters’ services, MGM Macau
compensates the gaming promoters through revenue-sharing arrangements and rolling chip turnover-based
commissions. The estimated portion of the gaming promoter commissions that represent amounts passed through
to VIP customers is recorded as a reduction of casino revenue, and the estimated portion retained by the gaming
promoter for its compensation is recorded as casino expense.

Reimbursed costs. The Company recognizes costs reimbursed pursuant to management services as revenue
in the period it incurs the costs. Reimbursed costs related primarily to the Company’s management of CityCenter.

Loyalty programs. The Company’s primary loyalty program is “M life Rewards” and is available to
patrons at most of the Company’s domestic resorts and CityCenter. Members may earn points and/or Express
Comps for their gaming play which can be redeemed at restaurants, box offices or the M life Rewards front desk
at participating properties. Points may also be redeemed for free slot play on participating machines. The
Company records a liability based on the points earned multiplied by the redemption value, less an estimate for
points not expected to be redeemed, and records a corresponding reduction in casino revenue. Customers also
earn Express Comps based on their gaming play which can be redeemed for complimentary goods and services,
including hotel rooms, food and beverage, and entertainment. The Company records a liability for the estimated
costs of providing goods and services for Express Comps based on the Express Comps earned multiplied by a
cost margin, less an estimate for Express Comps not expected to be redeemed and records a corresponding
expense in the casino department. MGM Macau also has a loyalty program, whereby patrons earn rewards that
can be redeemed for complimentary services, including hotel rooms, food and beverage, and entertainment.

Advertising. The Company expenses advertising costs the first time the advertising takes place. Advertising
expense, which is generally included in general and administrative expenses, was $171 million for 2016 and
$156 million for 2015 and 2014.

Corporate expense. Corporate expense represents unallocated payroll, aircraft costs, professional fees and
various other expenses not directly related to the Company’s casino resort operations. In addition, corporate
expense includes the costs associated with the Company’s evaluation and pursuit of new business opportunities,
which are expensed as incurred.

Preopening and start-up expenses. Preopening and start-up costs, including organizational costs, are
expensed as incurred. Costs classified as preopening and start-up expenses include payroll, outside services,
advertising, and other expenses related to new or start-up operations.

Property transactions, net. The Company classifies transactions such as write-downs and impairments,
demolition costs, and normal gains and losses on the sale of assets as “Property transactions, net.” See Note 17
for a detailed discussion of these amounts.

Redeemable noncontrolling interest. In 2015, MGM National Harbor issued non-voting economic
interests in MGM National Harbor (“Interests”) to noncontrolling interest parties, for a total purchase price of $6
million. In 2016, MGM National Harbor issued Interests to noncontrolling interest parties for a purchase price of
$47 million. Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests includes $0.5 million relating to redeemable
noncontrolling interests for the year ended December 31, 2016.
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The Interests provide for annual preferred distributions by MGM National Harbor to the noncontrolling
interest parties based on a percentage of its annual net gaming revenue (as defined in the MGM National Harbor
operating agreement). Such distributions will begin within ninety days after the end of the fiscal year in which
the opening date of MGM National Harbor occurs, and after the end of each subsequent fiscal year. Also,
beginning on the third anniversary of the last day of the calendar quarter in which the opening date of MGM
National Harbor occurs (and on each subsequent anniversary thereof) the noncontrolling interest parties will each
have the ability to require MGM National Harbor to purchase all or a portion of their Interests for a purchase
price based on a contractually agreed upon formula. Certain noncontrolling interest parties each have the right to
sell back all or a portion of their Interests prior to such date if MGM National Harbor were to guarantee or grant
liens to secure any indebtedness of the Company or its affiliates other than the indebtedness of MGM National
Harbor.

The Company has recorded the Interests as “Redeemable noncontrolling interests” in the mezzanine section
of the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and not stockholders’ equity because their redemption is not
exclusively in the Company’s control. Interests are initially accounted for at fair value. Subsequently, the
Company will recognize changes in the redemption value as they occur and adjust the carrying amount of the
redeemable noncontrolling interests to equal the maximum redemption value, provided such amount does not fall
below the initial carrying value, at the end of each reporting period. The Company records any changes caused
by such an adjustment in retained earnings or accumulated deficit. Additionally the carrying amount of the
redeemable noncontrolling interests is adjusted for annual preferred distributions, with changes caused by such
adjustments recorded within net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests.

Income (loss) per share of common stock. The table below reconciles basic and diluted income (loss) per
share of common stock. Diluted net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders includes adjustments for
redeemable noncontrolling interests and the potentially dilutive effect on the Company’s equity interests in MGP
and MGM China due to shares outstanding under their respective stock compensation plans. Diluted weighted-
average common and common equivalent shares includes adjustments for potential dilution of share-based
awards outstanding under the Company’s stock compensation plan.

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)
Numerator:
Net income (loss) attributable to MGM Resorts International ...... $ 1,101,440 $ (447,720) $ (149,873)
Adjustment related to redeemable noncontrolling interests ......... (28) - -
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders - basic ....... 1,101,412 (447,720) (149,873)
Potentially dilutive effect due to MGP Omnibus Plan............... (40) - -
Potentially dilutive effect due to MGM China Share Option Plan ..... (11) - (340)
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders - diluted ....... $ 1,101,361 $ (447,720) $ (150,213)
Denominator:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding basic ............... 568,134 542,873 490,875
Potential dilution from share-based awards .......................... 5,183 - -
Weighted-average common and common equivalent shares - diluted. .. 573,317 542,873 490,875
Antidilutive share-based awards excluded from the calculation of
diluted earnings pershare ..............ccoooiiiiiiiiiiii 4,207 18,276 19,254

The weighted-average common shares outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2015 included the
weighted average impact of the $300 million 4.25% convertible senior notes issued in June 2011 and the $1.15
billion 4.25% convertible senior notes issued in April 2010 from the date of their conversion on April 15, 2015.
The weighted-average impact of the assumed conversion of the convertible senior notes was excluded from the
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calculation of diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 as their effect would
be antidilutive. See Note 10 for additional information.

Currency translation. The Company translates the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries that are not
denominated in U.S. dollars. Balance sheet accounts are translated at the exchange rate in effect at each balance
sheet date. Income statement accounts are translated at the average rate of exchange prevailing during the period.
Translation adjustments resulting from this process are recorded to other comprehensive income (loss).

Derivative financial instruments. The Company reflects all derivative instruments at fair value as either
assets or liabilities. For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as hedging instruments, the
effective portion of the gain or loss on the cash flow hedge instruments is recorded as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive income. Any ineffective portion of a derivative’s change in fair value is
immediately recognized within net income. As of December 31, 2016, all of the Company’s derivative financial
instruments are interest rate swap agreements which have been designated as cash flow hedges and qualify for
hedge accounting.

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). Comprehensive income (loss) includes net income
(loss) and all other non-stockholder changes in equity, or other comprehensive income (loss). Elements of the
Company’s accumulated other comprehensive income are reported in the accompanying consolidated statements
of stockholders’ equity. The following table summarizes the changes in the accumulated balance of other
comprehensive income:

Currency
translation  Cash Flow
adjustments  Hedges Other Total
(In thousands)

Balance, December 31, 2014 $ 12,319 $ - $ 672 $ 12,991
Other comprehensive income (loss) before

reclassifications ..............cooiiiiiiiiiii 3,727 - (672) 3,055
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other

comprehensive inCome ..............ooveiiiiiiiiiann... - - - -
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax............ 3,727 - (672) 3,055
Other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to

noncontrolling interest ................ooceiiiiiiiiaina... (2,024) - - (2,024)
Balance, December 31, 2015 14,022 - - 14,022
Other comprehensive income (loss) before

reclassifications ..........ocoeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii (2,680) 1,521 1,074 (85)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other

comprehensive INCOME ......ovvevrieeeennnieeeninnnnnn.. - 358 - 358
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax............ (2,680) 1,879 1,074 273
Other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to

noncontrolling interest ...............cooovvviiiieinieann... 1,203 (445) - 758
Balance, December 31, 2016 $ 12545 $§ 1,434 $ 1,074 $ 15,053

Recently issued accounting standards. In August 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-15, “Presentation of Financial Statements-
Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40).” The guidance is intended to define management’s responsibility to evaluate
whether there is substantial doubt about an organization’s ability to continue as a going concern and to provide
related footnote disclosures. This ASU provides guidance to an organization’s management, with principles and
definitions that are intended to reduce diversity in the timing and content of disclosures that are commonly
provided by organizations today in the financial statement footnotes. The Company adopted this guidance
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prospectively at the beginning of the fourth quarter of 2016. The adoption of this guidance did not have an effect
on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, or disclosures.

In 2015 and 2016, the FASB issued the following ASUs related to revenue recognition, effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2017, pursuant to ASU 2015-14, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Topic 606): Deferral of the Effective Date™:

e ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606),” outlines a new, single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers
and supersedes most current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. ASU
2014-09 provides for a new revenue recognition model which includes a five-step analysis in determining
when and how revenue is recognized, including identification of separate performance obligations for
each contract with a customer. Additionally, the new model will require revenue recognition to depict the
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration a
company expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services;

e ASU 2016-08, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Principal versus Agent
Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net),” clarifies the implementation guidance on
principal versus agent considerations as it relates to ASU 2014-09. ASU 2016-08 provides guidance
related to the assessment an entity is required to perform to determine whether the nature of its promise is
to provide the specified good or service itself (that is, the entity is a principal) or to arrange for that good
or service to be provided by the other party (that is, the entity is an agent) when another party is involved
in providing goods or services to a customer;

e ASU 2016-10, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): ldentifying Performance
Obligations and Licensing,” clarifies guidance related to identifying performance obligations and
licensing implementation guidance as it relates to ASU 2014-09. ASU 2016-10 includes targeted
improvements based on input the FASB received from the Transition Resource Group for Revenue
Recognition and other stakeholders. It seeks to proactively address areas in which diversity in practice
potentially could arise, as well as to reduce the cost and complexity of applying certain aspects of the
guidance both at implementation and on an ongoing basis; and

e ASU 2016-12, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Narrow-Scope Improvements and
Practical Expedients,” addresses narrow-scope improvements to the guidance on collectability, noncash
consideration and completed contracts at transition as it relates to ASU 2014-09. ASU 2016-12 provides
for a practical expedient for contract modifications at transition and an accounting policy election related
to the presentation of sales taxes and other similar taxes collected from customers.

The Company is currently assessing the impact that the adoption of the above ASUs related to revenue
recognition will have on its consolidated financial statements and footnote disclosures. However, the Company
has identified a few significant impacts. Under the new guidance the Company expects it will no longer be
permitted to recognize revenues for goods and services provided to customers for free as an inducement to
gamble as gross revenue with a corresponding offset to promotional allowances to arrive at net revenues as
discussed above. The Company expects the majority of such amounts will offset casino revenues. In addition,
accounting for Express Comps granted under the Company’s M life Rewards program as outlined above will also
change. Under the new guidance Express Comps earned by customers through past revenue transactions will be
identified as separate performance obligations and recorded as a reduction in gaming revenues when earned at
the retail value of such benefits owed to the customer (less estimated breakage). When customers redeem such
benefits and the performance obligation is fulfilled by the Company, revenue will be recognized in the
department that provides the goods or services (i.e. hotel, food and beverage, entertainment). In addition, given
that M life Rewards is an aspirational loyalty program with multiple customer tiers which provide certain
benefits to tier members, the Company will need to assess if such benefits are deemed to be separate performance
obligations under the new guidance.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842),” (“ASU 2016-02”), which
replaces the existing guidance in Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 840, “Leases.” ASU 2016-02 is
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effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2018. ASU 2016~
02 requires a dual approach for lessee accounting under which a lessee would account for leases as finance leases
or operating leases. Both finance leases and operating leases will result in the lessee recognizing a right-of-use
(“ROU”) asset and a corresponding lease liability. For finance leases the lessee would recognize interest expense
and amortization of the ROU asset and for operating leases the lessee would recognize a straight-line total lease
expense. The Company is currently assessing the impact that adoption of ASU 2016-02 will have on its
consolidated financial statements and footnote disclosures.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, “Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification
of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments (a consensus of the Emerging Issues Task Force),” (“ASU 2016-
15”), effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017. ASU 2016-15 amends the guidance of ASC
230 on the classification of certain cash receipts and payments in the statement of cash flows. The primary
purpose of ASU 2016-15 is to reduce the diversity in practice that has resulted from the lack of consistent
principles, specifically clarifying the guidance on eight cash flow issues. The Company does not expect the
adoption of ASU 2016-15 to have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements.

In January 2017, the Company adopted ASU No. 2016-09, “Compensation — Stock Compensation (Topic
718),” (“ASU 2016-09”). ASU 2016-09 simplifies the accounting for share-based payment transactions,
including the income tax consequences, accounting for forfeitures, classification of awards as either equity or
liabilities, and classification on the statement of cash flows. ASU 2016-09 has separate transition guidance for
each element of the new standard. The adoption of ASU 2016-09 will not have a material effect on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements and footnote disclosures.

In January 2017, the Company adopted ASU No. 2016-17, “Consolidation (Topic 810): Interests Held
Through Related Parties that are Under Common Control,” (“ASU 2016-17"). The amendments affect the
evaluation of whether to consolidate a VIE in certain situations involving entities under common control.
Specifically, the amendments change the evaluation of whether an entity is the primary beneficiary of a VIE for
an entity that is a single decision maker of a variable interest by changing how an entity treats indirect interests in
the VIE held through related parties that are under common control with the reporting entity. The guidance in
ASU 2016-17 must be applied retrospectively to all relevant periods. The adoption of ASU 2016-17 will not have
a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and footnote disclosures.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04, “Intangibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 350):
Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment.” The amended guidance simplifies the subsequent measurement
of goodwill by eliminating step two from the goodwill impairment test. Under the amended guidance, the
Company will perform its annual or interim goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of a reporting
unit with its carrying value, and an impairment charge will be recognized for the amount by which the carrying
value exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value, not to exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that
reporting unit. This guidance is effective for annual or any interim goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2021, with early adoption permitted for interim or annual goodwill impairment
tests performed on testing dates after January 1, 2017. The Company is currently evaluating the impact and
timing of adopting this guidance, but anticipates early adoption in 2017.
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NOTE 3 — ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET

Accounts receivable, net consisted of the following:

December 31,

2016 2015
(In thousands)
L0 3 ' o T $ 332,443 § 285,182
HOtEl .o 169,321 157,489
Ot L 139,080 127,677
640,844 570,348
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts .............coocevviiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeennnn (97,920) (89,789)

$ 542,924 $ 480,559

NOTE 4 — BORGATA TRANSACTION

On August 1, 2016, the Company completed the acquisition of Boyd Gaming Corporation’s (“Boyd
Gaming”) ownership interest in Borgata. Following the completion of the acquisition of Boyd Gaming’s interest,
MGP acquired Borgata’s real property from the Company and leased back the real property to a subsidiary of the
Company. See Note 19 for additional information.

As part of the purchase and sale agreement, the Company agreed to pay Boyd Gaming half of any net
amount received or utilized by the Company as it relates to the Atlantic City property tax refund owed to Borgata
at the time of the transaction. Pursuant to tax court judgments, The City of Atlantic City, New Jersey (“Atlantic
City”) owes Borgata property tax refunds of approximately $106 million, plus interest, related to the over-
assessment of property values for the 2009-2012 tax years. As a result of funding shortfalls, the City of Atlantic
City has not paid the refunds due to Borgata and therefore, Borgata has withheld its current property tax
obligations in satisfaction of the tax court judgment. Borgata applied $33 million of such credits as of
December 31, 2016. After taking into account contingent consideration paid related to property tax refunds
realized by Borgata, cash paid to Boyd Gaming for its interest in Borgata was $604 million.

Through the acquisition of Boyd Gaming’s interest in Borgata, the Company obtained 100% of the equity
interests in Borgata and therefore consolidated Borgata as of August 1, 2016. The Company recognized 100% of
the assets and liabilities of Borgata at fair value at the date of the acquisition. Prior to the acquisition, the
Company held a 50% ownership interest in Borgata, which was accounted for under the equity method. The fair
value of the equity interests of Borgata was determined by the transaction price and equaled approximately $1.2
billion. The carrying value of the Company’s equity method investment was significantly less than its share of
the fair value of Borgata at the acquisition date, resulting in a $430 million gain on the acquisition. Under the
acquisition method, the fair value was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the transaction.
The allocation of fair value has been finalized as of December 31, 2016.
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The following table sets forth the finalized allocation at December 31, 2016 (in thousands):

Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed:

CUITENT ASSEES ..ttt ittt ettt e e e e $ 112,221
Property and equipment and other 1ong-term assets ...........c..ovieieiiiieiinieiiie i aieaanns 1,373,567
GOOAWILL . 386,892
Trade NAME ... ..o 83,000
CUSTOMIET LISt . ... e 22,000
Current HaADIIITIES . ...ttt et ettt et et et et e e e e (122,743)
Long-term debt ......ooi e (583,187)
D (el 0 a7 b (12,124)
Other 1ong-term ODIIZAtIONS ... ...ttt ettt et et et et e et et e e e e eeaeanes (51,894)

$ 1,207,732

As discussed above, the Company recognized the identifiable intangible assets of Borgata at fair value. The
trade name and customer relationship intangible assets did not have historical cost bases at Borgata. The
estimated fair values of the intangible assets were determined using methodologies under the income approach
based on significant inputs that were not observable.

Unfavorable lease liability. The Company has assumed the liability of a series of ground leases for a total
of approximately 11 acres of land on which the Borgata employee parking garage, public space expansion, rooms
expansion, and modified surface parking lot. The Company recorded an unfavorable lease liability of $1 million
in “Current liabilities” and $47 million in “Other long-term obligations” for the excess contractual lease
obligations over the market value of the leases, which will be amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease contracts through December 2070. Both a market and income approach using Level 2 and Level 3
inputs were utilized to determine the fair value of these leases.

Deferred taxes. The Company recorded an additional net deferred tax liability of $89 million, of which $82
million and $7 million was recorded to income tax expense and goodwill, respectively. The net deferred tax
liability represents the excess of the financial reporting amounts of the net assets of Borgata over their respective
basis under U.S. and New Jersey tax law expected to be applied to taxable income in the periods such differences
are expected to be realized.

Consolidated results. Borgata’s net revenue for the period from August 1, 2016 through December 31,
2016 was $348 million, operating income was $39 million and net income was $8 million.

Pro forma information. The operating results for Borgata are included in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations from the date of acquisition. The following unaudited pro forma consolidated financial
information for the Company has been prepared assuming the Company’s acquisition of its controlling interest
has occurred as of January 1, 2015 and excludes the transaction gain recognized by the Company. The unaudited
pro forma financial information below is not necessarily indicative of either future results of operations or results
that might have been achieved had the acquisition been consummated as of January 1, 2015.

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015
(In thousands, except per share data)
(unaudited)

NEETEVENURS .. nveenee et et e e et e e e e e e $ 9,940,176 $ 9,993,718
Net income (loss) attributable to MGM Resorts International ...................... 819,278 (417,671)
Basis net income (10ss) per share ..............ccoiiiiiiiiiiii i $ 144 S (0.77)
Diluted net income (10SS) per Share ...........c.ooeiiiriiiiiiiii i $ 143§ (0.77)
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NOTE 5 — DISPOSITIONS

On April 1, 2015, the Company closed the sale of Railroad Pass. At closing, the Company received $8
million in cash proceeds. On April 30, 2015, the Company closed the sale of Gold Strike and related assets in
Jean, Nevada. At closing, the Company received $12 million in cash proceeds. On July 7, 2015, the Company
entered into an agreement with Eldorado Resorts, Inc. to sell Circus Circus Reno, as well as the Company’s 50%
interest in Silver Legacy and associated real property. On November 23, 2015, the Company closed the sale and
received $80 million in cash proceeds and recorded a gain of $23 million related to the sale, classified within
“Property transactions, net.” See Note 7 for further discussion of the sale of the Company’s 50% investment in
Silver Legacy. Railroad Pass, Gold Strike and Circus Circus Reno were not classified as discontinued operations
because the Company concluded that the sales did not have a major effect on the Company’s operations or its
financial results and they do not represent a disposal of a major geographic segment or product line.

NOTE 6 — PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following:

December 31,

2016 2015
(In thousands)

Land .o $ 6,530,988 $ 6,495,391
Buildings, building improvements and land improvements ...................... 11,969,984 9,429,945
Furniture, fixtures and equipment .............ooeoviriiiiiiiiiii i eiieeannens 4,863,647 4,274,537
CONSIIUCHION 1N PLOZIESS ... vvvtenttt ettt ettt ettt e et e eteeeaeeeaeeeaaeenneens 2,628,603 2,111,860
25,993,222 22,311,733

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization ....................c.ooeeinen... (7,568,199) (6,939,938)
$ 18,425,023 §$§ 15,371,795

NOTE 7 — INVESTMENTS IN AND ADVANCES TO UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES

Investments in and advances to unconsolidated affiliates consisted of the following:

December 31,

2016 2015
(In thousands)
CityCenter Holdings, LLC — CityCenter (50%) ...........cceevviiiiiiiaan.. $ 1,007,358 § 1,136,452
Marina District Development Company — Borgata (0% at December 31,

2016; 50% at December 31, 2015) ......c.oiiiiii i - 134,454
Elgin Riverboat Resort-Riverboat Casino — Grand Victoria (50%) ............. 123,585 122,500
Las Vegas Arena Company, LLC (42.5% at December 31, 2016; 50% at

December 31, 2015) ..ouiiniiii i 80,339 90,352
L0111 PR 9,161 7,739

$ 1,220,443 § 1,491,497
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The Company recorded its share of the net income (loss) from unconsolidated affiliates, including
adjustments for basis differences, as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)
Income from unconsolidated affiliates ........................ $ 527,616 $ 257,883  $ 63,836
Preopening and start-up eXpenses ...........ooeeverieeniannns (3,168) (3,475) 917)
Non-operating items from unconsolidated affiliates ......... (53,139) (76,462) (87,794)

$ 471,309 $ 177,946 $ (24,875)

CityCenter

Crystals sale. In April 2016, CityCenter closed the sale of Crystals for approximately $1.1 billion. During
the year ended December 31, 2016, CityCenter recognized a gain on the sale of Crystals of $400 million and the
Company recognized a $401 million gain, which included $200 million representing its 50% share of the gain
recorded by CityCenter and $201 million representing the reversal of certain basis differences. The basis
differences primarily related to other-than-temporary impairment charges previously recorded on the Company’s
investment in CityCenter that were allocated to Crystals’ building assets.

CityCenter distribution. In March 2016, a $90 million distribution was declared in accordance with
CityCenter’s annual distribution policy and in April 2016, CityCenter declared a $990 million special distribution
in connection with the Crystals sale. The Company’s $540 million share of such distributions was paid in May
2016. In April 2015, CityCenter declared a special distribution of $400 million, of which the Company received
its 50% share of $200 million.

CityCenter litigation settlement. During the first quarter of 2015, CityCenter recognized a $160 million
gain as a result of the final resolution of its construction litigation and related settlements, of which the Company
recorded $80 million, its 50% share of the gain.

CityCenter credit facility. CityCenter’s senior secured credit facility consisted of a $75 million revolving
credit facility, maturing in October 2018 and a $1.2 billion term loan B facility maturing in October 2020.
CityCenter used cash on hand to permanently repay $266 million of the term loan B facility during 2016. On
January 27, 2017, CityCenter completed an amendment to re-price its $1.2 billion term loan B senior credit
facility and re-price and extend its $75 million revolving facility. The term loan B facility was re-priced at par
and will now bear interest at LIBOR plus 2.75%, with a LIBOR floor of 0.75% which represents a 50 basis point
reduction compared to the prior rate and a 25 basis point reduction compared to the prior LIBOR floor. The
revolving facility was re-priced at LIBOR plus 2.00%, which represents a 175 basis point reduction compared to
the prior rate. The revolving facility was also extended to July 2020. All other principal provisions of the existing
credit facility remain unchanged.

Borgata

As discussed in Note 4, the Company acquired Boyd Gaming’s ownership interest in Borgata on August 1,
2016, and therefore began to consolidate Borgata beginning on that date. Prior thereto, the Company’s
investment in Borgata was accounted for under the equity method.

Grand Victoria

At December 31, 2015, the Company reviewed the carrying value of its Grand Victoria investment for
impairment due to a greater than anticipated decline in operating results due in part to a continued loss of market
share to video gaming terminals, as well as a decrease in forecasted cash flows compared to the prior forecast.
The Company used a blended discounted cash flow analysis and guideline public company method to determine
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the estimated fair value from a market participant’s viewpoint. Key assumptions included in the discounted cash
flow analysis were estimates of future cash flows including outflows for capital expenditures, a long-term growth
rate of 2% and a discount rate of 10.5%. Key assumptions in the guideline public company method included
business enterprise value multiples selected based on the range of multiples in Grand Victoria’s peer group. As a
result of the analysis, the Company determined that it was necessary to record an other-than-temporary
impairment charge of $17 million at December 31, 2015, based on an estimated fair value of $123 million for the
Company’s 50% interest. The Company performed a sensitivity analysis surrounding its long-term growth rate
assumption and noted that if a long-term growth rate of 1.5% had been used, the resulting estimated fair value of
the Company’s 50% interest in Grand Victoria would have been approximately $120 million. The Company
intends to, and believes it will be able to, retain its investment in Grand Victoria; however, due to the extent of
the shortfall and the Company’s assessment of the uncertainty of fully recovering its investment, the Company
has determined that the impairment was other-than-temporary.

At June 30, 2014, the Company reviewed the carrying value of its Grand Victoria investment for
impairment due to a greater than anticipated decline in operating results and loss of market share due to the
proliferation of video gaming terminals in the Illinois market, as well as a decrease in forecasted cash flows
compared to the prior forecast. The Company used a blended discounted cash flow analysis and guideline public
company method to determine the estimated fair value from a market participant’s viewpoint. Key assumptions
included in the discounted cash flow analysis were estimates of future cash flows including outflows for capital
expenditures, a long-term growth rate of 2% and a discount rate of 10.5%. Key assumptions in the guideline
public company method included business enterprise value multiples selected based on the range of multiples in
Grand Victoria’s peer group. As a result of the analysis, the Company determined that it was necessary to record
an other-than-temporary impairment charge of $29 million at June 30, 2014, based on an estimated fair value of
$140 million for the Company’s 50% interest.

Las Vegas Arena Company, LLC

Athena Arena transaction. On September 1, 2016, the Company and AEG each sold a 7.5% membership
interest in the Las Vegas Arena Company, LLC to Athena Arena, LLC. As a result of this transaction, the
Company received $15 million in proceeds and recorded a $3 million gain in “Property transactions, net”.

Arena financing. In September 2014, a subsidiary of Las Vegas Arena Company entered into a senior
secured credit facility to finance construction of the T-Mobile Arena. In connection with this senior credit
facility, MGM Resorts International and AEG each entered into a repayment guarantee for the term loan B
(which is subject to increases and decreases in the event of rebalancing of the principal amount of indebtedness
between the term loan A and term loan B facilities). As of December 31, 2016, the senior secured credit facility
consisted of a $150 million term loan A and a $50 million term loan B. The senior secured credit facility matures
in September 2019. The senior secured credit facility is secured by substantially all the assets of the Las Vegas
Arena Company, and contains certain financial covenants which became applicable upon the opening of the T-
Mobile Arena in April 2016. In accordance with the Las Vegas Arena Company’s senior secured credit facility,
the Company and AEG contributed equal amounts totaling $175 million for construction, all of which had been
contributed as of December 31, 2015. See Note 13 for discussion of the Company’s joint and several completion
and repayment guarantees related to the Las Vegas Arena Company.

Silver Legacy

Silver Legacy sale. As discussed in Note 5, the Company closed the sale of its 50% interest in Silver
Legacy on November 23, 2015, received proceeds of $58 million, and recorded a gain of $20 million. The
Company’s investment in Silver Legacy was not classified as discontinued operations because the Company
concluded that the sale would not have a major effect on the Company’s operations or its financial results and it
did not represent a disposal of a major geographic segment or product line.
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Unconsolidated Affiliate Financial Information

Summarized balance sheet information of the unconsolidated affiliates is as follows:

December 31,

2016 2015
(In thousands)
CUTITENE ASSEES . . . vttt ettt e e e e e e e $ 518,632 $ 1,260,834
Property and other assets, Net ............ooviiiiiiiiiii i 7,106,361 8,460,915
Current Habilities . ... ... 384,370 482,633
Long-term debt and other long-term obligations ..................cceevvvieinnn... 1,454,575 2,268,157
BUILY ottt 5,786,048 6,970,959

As of December 31, 2015, assets held for sale related to Crystals of $668 million and associated liabilities of
Crystals were classified as current within the summarized balance sheet information.

Summarized results of operations of the unconsolidated affiliates are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)

NEETEVENUES ...ttt e $ 1,944,127 $§ 2298179 $ 2,238,419
Operating EXPENSES . ... vuurteenrteentteerteeaneeaireeanneeanns (1,781,809) (1,901,044) (2,237,921)

Operating iNCOME . ... uvee et et et e e e aaeaanns 162,318 397,135 498
INtereSt EXPEINSE . .. ettt ettt et et et e et (92,014) (141,925) (163,723)
Non-operating eXPenses ...........eeeueeemneeemnueemineennenns (12,851) (14,942) (13,669)

Net income (10SS) «oennviiie i 57,453 240,268 (176,894)
Income from discontinued operations ......................... 407,187 22,681 21,161

Net income (10SS) ...voviiriiniir i $ 464,640 $ 262,949 $ (155,733)

Results of operations of the unconsolidated affiliates includes the results of Silver Legacy through the date
of disposition on November 23, 2015 and the results of Borgata through the date of acquisition on August 1,
2016. The results of Crystals, including the gain on sale recognized in 2016, are classified as discontinued
operations in the summarized results of operations for all periods presented.

Basis Differences

The Company’s investments in unconsolidated affiliates do not equal the Company’s share of venture-level
equity due to various basis differences. Basis differences related to depreciable assets are being amortized based
on the useful lives of the related assets and liabilities and basis differences related to non—depreciable assets, such
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as land and indefinite-lived intangible assets, are not being amortized. Differences between the Company’s share
of venture-level equity and investment balances are as follows:

December 31,

2016 2015
(In thousands)

Venture-level equity attributable to the Company ....................ooceevenn. $ 2,883,324 § 3,486,117
Adjustment to CityCenter equity upon contribution of net assets by MGM

Resorts International (1) .........ooiuiiiiiiii i (537,819) (573,163)
CityCenter capitalized interest (2) ........covviiriiiiniiiiie i 215,467 241,374
CityCenter completion guarantee (3).........oouvevirieeinieeinieeiieeineennnnnns 337,223 372,785
CityCenter deferred gain (4) ......oovriiiiiiiii e (221,638) (236,327)
CityCenter capitalized interest on sponsor notes (5) .........cevvevveinneennnn.n. (42,095) (47,158)
Other-than-temporary impairments of CityCenter investment (6) ............... (1,555,509) (1,800,191)
Other-than-temporary impairments of Borgata investment (7) .................. - (126,446)
Acquisition fair value adjustments net of other-than-temporary impairments

of Grand Victoria investment (8) ..........cooiviiiiiiii 99,619 99,619
Other adjuStMENtS . .....vt et e 41,871 74,887

$ 1220443 $ 1,491,497

(1)  Primarily relates to land and fixed assets.

(2) Relates to interest capitalized on the Company’s investment balance during development and construction stages.

(3) Created by contributions to CityCenter under the completion guarantee recognized as equity contributions by CityCenter split
between the members.

(4) Relates to a deferred gain on assets contributed to CityCenter upon formation of CityCenter.

(5) Relates to interest on the sponsor notes capitalized by CityCenter during development. Such sponsor notes were converted to
equity in 2013.

(6)  The impairment of the Company’s CityCenter investment includes $379 million and $426 million of impairments allocated to
land as of December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.

(7)  The impairment of the Company’s Borgata investment included $90 million of impairments allocated to land as of December 31,
2015.

(8) Relates to indefinite-lived gaming license rights for Grand Victoria and other-than-temporary impairments of the Company’s
investment in Grand Victoria.
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NOTE 8 — GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill and other intangible assets consisted of the following:

Goodwill:
DOMESTIC TESOITS ittt ettt et
MGM CRING ..o

Indefinite-lived intangible assets:
Detroit development rights ......... ..o
Trademarks, license rights and other ...,
Total indefinite-lived intangible assets ..............c.coviiiiiiiiiiinann...

Finite-lived intangible assets:
MGM Grand Paradise gaming subconcession ...........c...cooevvieiiuienenn...
Less: Accumulated amortization..............cooeeiuiiiiiiiiiiiii i,

MGM Macau land CONCESSION .....uuuunete ittt
Less: Accumulated amortization ..........ooeeviriieeeeeeeiiiiiiiieeeeeeennns

MGM China customer LiStS . ........uuuuee e
Borgata customer LiSt .........o.uivuiiiii i
Less: Accumulated amortization .............c..veeeieiiiiiiiii i

Maryland license, Massachusetts license and other intangible assets ........
Less: Accumulated amortization..............cooeiiuiiiiiiiiiiiiii i,

Total finite-lived intangible assets, Nt .............ccovvviiiiiiniiinnieann...

Total other intangible assets, Net............ccoviiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i,

December 31,

2016 2015
(In thousands)
$ 457,867 $ 70,975
1,359,252 1,359,792
$ 1,817,119 $ 1,430,767
$ 98,098 3 98,098
312,022 229,022
410,120 327,120
4,514,073 4,515,867
(1,024,185) (858,531)
3,489,888 3,657,336
84,736 84,769
(23,817) (19,554)
60,919 65,215
128,974 129,025
22,000 -
(135,574) (126,003)
15,400 3,022
136,127 136,127
(24,748) (24,039)
111,379 112,088
3,677,586 3,837,661
$ 4,087,706 $ 4,164,781

Goodwill. A summary of changes in the Company’s goodwill by reportable segment is as follows for 2016

and 2015:
2016
Balance at Currency Balance at
January 1 Acquisitions exchange December 31
(In thousands)
Goodwill, net by reportable segment:
Domestic 1€SOrtS .....ovvuvvieeeeiieeannns $ 70,975 $ 386,892 $ - 9 457,867
MGM China ........cooveviiiiiiiiiiiiinen. 1,359,792 - (540) 1,359,252
$ 1,430,767 $ 386,892 $ (540) $ 1,817,119
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2015

Balance at Impairments and Balance at
January 1 Acquisitions  currency exchange December 31

(In thousands)

Goodwill, net by reportable segment:

DOmeSticC T€SOTtS ... nveeeeeeaeennn.. $ 70,975 $ -3 -3 70,975
MGMChina ......oooovvviiiiiiian... 2,826,135 - (1,466,343) 1,359,792
$ 2,897,110 $ - 3 (1,466,343) $ 1,430,767

Goodwill concerning domestic resorts relates to the acquisition of Mirage Resorts in 2001, the acquisition of
Mandalay Resort Group in 2005, and the acquisition of Borgata in August 2016. See Note 4 for goodwill
recognized in connection with the Borgata transaction. The Company recognized goodwill resulting from its
acquisition of a controlling interest in MGM China in 2011.

During the fourth quarter of 2015, the Company conducted its annual impairment tests of goodwill by
reviewing each of its reporting units, including its MGM China reporting unit. The step one goodwill analysis of
the MGM China reporting unit indicated the fair value was less than its carrying value by 4%. The decrease in
fair value resulted from a decrease in forecasted cash flows based on then current market conditions and a
sustained decline in the enterprise value multiples of the MGM China reporting unit as well as the multiples of
the reporting unit’s peer group.

As a result of the indication of impairment from its step one analysis, the Company performed a step two
impairment analysis to measure the impairment loss. As such, the Company determined the fair values of all
assets of the MGM China reporting unit, including its separately identifiable intangible assets. The fair values of
each of the separately identifiable intangible assets exceeded their respective carrying values by a significant
amount, leading to a lower implied fair value of goodwill. Therefore, the Company recorded a $1.5 billion non-
cash impairment charge to reduce the historical carrying value of goodwill related to the MGM China reporting
unit to its implied fair value. The carrying value of goodwill related to the MGM China reporting unit as of
December 31, 2015 following the impairment charge was $1.4 billion.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets. The Company’s indefinite-lived intangible assets consist primarily of
development rights in Detroit, trademarks and license rights, of which $210 million consists of trademarks and
trade names related to the Mandalay Resort Group acquisition and $83 million related to the Borgata trade name.

MGM Grand Paradise gaming subconcession. Pursuant to the agreement dated June 19, 2004 between
MGM Grand Paradise and Sociedade de Jogos de Macau, S.A., a gaming subconcession was acquired by MGM
Grand Paradise for the right to operate casino games of chance and other casino games for a period of 15 years
commencing on April 20, 2005. The Company cannot provide any assurance that the gaming subconcession will
be extended beyond the original terms of the agreement; however, management believes that the gaming
subconcession will be extended, given that the Cotai land concession agreement with the government extends
significantly beyond the gaming subconcession. As such, the Company is amortizing the gaming subconcession
intangible asset on a straight-line basis over the term of the Cotai land concession, ending in January 2038.

MGM Macau land concession. MGM Grand Paradise entered into a contract with the Macau government
to use the land under MGM Macau commencing from April 6, 2006. The land use right has an initial term
through April 6, 2031, subject to renewal for additional periods. The land concession intangible asset is
amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining initial contractual term.

Customer lists. The Company recognized an intangible asset related to MGM China’s customer lists, which
was amortized on an accelerated basis over its estimated useful life of five years. The MGM China customer list
intangible asset became fully amortized in 2016. The Company recognized an intangible asset related to the

61



Borgata customer list, which is amortized on an accelerated basis over its estimated useful life of two years and
five months.

Gaming licenses. The Company was granted a license to operate a casino in Maryland. The consideration
paid to the State of Maryland for the license fee of $22 million is considered a finite-lived intangible asset that is
amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of 15 years, beginning in December 2016, when the casino started
operations. The Company was granted a license to operate a casino in Massachusetts. The consideration paid to
the State of Massachusetts for the license fee of $85 million is considered a finite-lived intangible asset that will
be amortized over a period of 15 years beginning upon the opening of the casino resort.

Other. The Company’s other finite—lived intangible assets consist primarily of lease acquisition costs
amortized over the life of the related leases, and certain license rights amortized over their contractual life.

Total amortization expense related to intangible assets was $180 million, $199 million and $232 million for
2016, 2015, and 2014, respectively. Estimated future amortization is as follows:

(In thousands)
Years ending December 31,
P $ 183,414
P 177,758
P 178,081
P 178,081
070 178,081
TR AT T ...t 2,782,171

5 3677.586

NOTE 9 — OTHER ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Other accrued liabilities consisted of the following:

December 31,

2016 2015
(In thousands)
Payroll and related ...........oooiii i $ 483,194 § 370,672
Advance deposits and ticket sales ... 135,592 104,461
Casino outstanding chip liability ...........c..cooiiiiiiiiiiiii 227,538 282,810
Casino front money deposits .........co.evtiiuiiitii i 214,727 127,947
MGM China gaming promoter COMMISSIONS ......couueueeuterueenteeneenneenne.. 31,445 33,064
Other gaming related accruals ... 119,446 91,318
Taxes, other than INCOME taXeS ..........oiiiiiiiiiiiii e 166,916 153,531
L7 T 215,668 147,641

$ 1,594,526 $ 1,311,444
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NOTE 10 — LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt consisted of the following:

December 31,

2016 2015
(In thousands)
Senior credit facility term loans........... ..o $ 250,000 $ 2,716,000
MGM Growth Properties senior credit facility .............cooooiiiiiii., 2,133,250 -
MGM China credit facility ...........cooiiiiii 1,933,313 1,559,909
MGM National Harbor credit facility .................cooiiiii i, 450,000 -
$242.9 million 6.875% senior notes, due 2016 ...............cceevvieeieniinnnn.. - 242,900
$732.7 million 7.5% senior notes, due 2016 ..............cooveiiniiiiiie .. - 732,749
$500 million 10% senior notes, due 2016..........c.ooviiiiiiii i - 500,000
$743 million 7.625% senior notes, due 2017 .............ooviiiiiiiiiiiian.. - 743,000
$475 million 11.375% senior notes, due 2018 ................coeviiiiiiiinnn.. 475,000 475,000
$850 million 8.625% senior notes, due 2019 .............cocoiiiiiiiiiii . 850,000 850,000
$500 million 5.25% senior notes, due 2020............cooiiiiiiiiiiie e 500,000 500,000
$1,000 million 6.75% senior notes, due 2020 ............cccooiiiiiniiiiien.. 1,000,000 1,000,000
$1,250 million 6.625% senior notes, due 2021 .............cooiiiiiiiiiin.. 1,250,000 1,250,000
$1,000 million 7.75% senior notes, due 2022 .............cccoiiiiiniiiiin.. 1,000,000 1,000,000
$1,250 million 6% senior notes, due 2023 ............ccoiiiiiiii 1,250,000 1,250,000
$1,050 million 5.625% MGM Growth Properties senior notes, due 2024 ....... 1,050,000 -
$500 million 4.5% MGM Growth Properties senior notes, due 2026 ............ 500,000 -
$500 million 4.625% senior notes, due 2026 .............coeeveieniiiniaainen.. 500,000 -
$0.6 million 7% debentures, due 2036 ...........c.oviiieiniii e, 552 552
$2.3 million 6.7% debentures ($4.3 million at December 31, 2015), due
20000 2,265 4,265
13,144,380 12,824,375
Less: premiums, discounts, and unamortized debt issuance costs, net ........... (156,785) (127,622)
12,987,595 12,696,753
Less: Current POTtION .......vueteett et ettt e et e e e e et eeeeaee e (8,375) (328,442)

$ 12,979220 $ 12,368,311

Debt due within one year of the December 31, 2016 balance sheet was classified as long-term as the
Company has both the intent and ability to refinance current maturities on a long-term basis under its revolving
senior credit facilities with the exception that $8 million of MGP’s quarterly amortization payments under its
senior credit facility were classified as current because MGP used cash to make such amortization payments in
January 2017. At December 31, 2015, the amount available under the Company’s revolving senior credit facility
was less than current maturities related to the Company’s term loan credit facilities and senior notes. The
Company excluded from the December 31, 2015 current portion of long-term debt the amount available for
refinancing under its revolving credit facility.

Interest expense, net consisted of the following:

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)
Total interest incurred ..............ooiiiiiiiiii i, $ 814,731 $ 862,377 $ 846,321
Interest capitalized ............coooiiiiiii (119,958) (64,798) (29,260)

$ 694,773 $ 797,579 $ 817,061
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Senior credit facility. In April 2016, the Company entered into an amended and restated credit agreement
comprised of a $1.25 billion revolving facility and a $250 million term loan A facility. The revolving facility and
the term loan A facility bear interest determined by reference to a total net leverage ratio pricing grid which
results in an interest rate of LIBOR plus 1.75% to 2.75%. Both the term loan A facility and the revolving facility
will mature in April 2021. The term loan A facility is subject to amortization of principal in equal quarterly
installments (commencing with the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2017), with 5.0% of the initial aggregate
principal amount of the term loan A facility to be payable each year. No amounts have been drawn on the
revolving credit facility. The Company incurred a loss on early retirement of its prior credit facility of
approximately $28 million recorded in “Other, net” in the consolidated statements of operations. At
December 31, 2016, the interest rate on the term loan A facility was 3.02%.

The amended and restated credit agreement contains representations and warranties, customary events of
default, and positive, negative and financial covenants, including that the Company maintain compliance with a
maximum total net leverage ratio, a maximum first lien net leverage ratio and a minimum interest coverage ratio.
The Company was in compliance with its credit agreement covenants at December 31, 2016.

The amended and restated credit agreement is secured by (i) a mortgage on the real properties comprising
the MGM Grand Las Vegas and the Bellagio, (ii) a pledge of substantially all existing and future personal
property of the subsidiaries of the Company that own the MGM Grand Las Vegas and the Bellagio; and (iii) a
pledge of the equity or limited liability company interests of the entities that own MGM Grand Las Vegas and
the Bellagio.

Mandatory prepayments of the credit facilities will be required upon the occurrence of certain events,
including sales of certain assets, casualty events and the incurrence of certain additional indebtedness, subject to
certain exceptions and reinvestment rights.

MGM Growth Properties senior credit facility. In April 2016, the Operating Partnership entered into a
credit agreement comprised of a $300 million senior secured term loan A facility, a $1.85 billion senior secured
term loan B facility, and a $600 million senior secured revolving credit facility. The term loan B facility was
originally issued at 99.75% to initial lenders. The revolving credit facility and term loan A facility bear interest
determined by reference to a total net leverage ratio pricing grid which results in an interest rate of LIBOR plus
2.25% to 2.75%. On October 26, 2016 the term loan B facility was re-priced at par and bore interest at LIBOR
plus 2.75%, with a LIBOR floor of 0.75%, which represented a 50 basis point reduction compared to the prior
rate. In addition, the Operating Partnership received a further reduction in pricing to LIBOR plus 2.50%, with a
LIBOR floor of 0.75% as a result of it achieving a minimum corporate family rating of Ba3/BB- in February
2017. All other principal provisions of the existing credit facility remain unchanged. The revolving credit facility
and the term loan A facility will mature in 2021 and the term loan B facility will mature in 2023.

The term loan facilities are subject to amortization of principal in equal quarterly installments, with 5.0% of
the initial aggregate principal amount of the term loan A facility and 1.0% of the initial aggregate principal
amount of the term loan B facility to be payable each year. The Company permanently repaid $8 million of the
term loan A facility and $9 million of the term loan B facility for the year ended December 31, 2016. At
December 31, 2016, the term loan A facility had an amount outstanding of $293 million with an interest rate of
3.52% and the term loan B facility had an amount outstanding of $1.84 billion with an interest rate of 3.52%. No
amounts were drawn on the revolving credit facility as of December 31, 2016.

The credit agreement contains customary representations and warranties, events of default, and positive,
negative and financial covenants, including that the Operating Partnership maintain compliance with a maximum
senior secured net debt to adjusted total assets ratio, maximum total net debt to adjusted assets ratio and a
minimum interest coverage ratio. The Operating Partnership was in compliance with its credit agreement
covenants at December 31, 2016.
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MGM China credit facility. At December 31, 2016, the MGM China credit facility consisted of $1.55
billion of term loans and a $1.45 billion revolving credit facility, which bear interest at a fluctuating rate per
annum based on HIBOR plus a margin that ranges between 1.375% and 2.5% based on MGM China’s leverage
ratio. The MGM China credit facility matures in April 2019, with scheduled amortization payments of the term
loans beginning in October 2017. The MGM China credit facility is secured by MGM Grand Paradise’s interest
in the Cotai land use right, and MGM China, MGM Grand Paradise and their guarantor subsidiaries have granted
a security interest in substantially all of their assets to secure the facility. The outstanding balance at
December 31, 2016 was comprised of $1.56 billion of term loans and $374 million drawn on the revolving credit
facility. At December 31, 2016, the weighted average interest rate on the term loans was 2.73% and the interest
rate on the revolving credit facility was 2.50%.

The MGM China credit facility contains customary representations and warranties, events of default, and
positive, negative and financial covenants, including that MGM China maintains compliance with a maximum
leverage ratio and a minimum interest coverage ratio. MGM China was in compliance with its credit facility
covenants at December 31, 2016. In February 2017, the MGM China credit facility was amended to increase the
maximum total leverage ratio to 6.00 to 1.00 through December 31, 2017, declining to 5.50 to 1.00 at March 31,
2018, 5.00 to 1.00 at June 30, 2018 and 4.50 to 1.00 at September 30, 2018 and thereafter.

MGM National Harbor credit agreement. In January 2016, MGM National Harbor, LLC entered into a
credit agreement consisting of a $100 million revolving credit facility and a $425 million term loan facility. The
revolving and term loan facilities bear interest at LIBOR plus an applicable rate determined by MGM National
Harbor, LLC’s total leverage ratio (2.25% as of December 31, 2016). The term loan and revolving facilities are
scheduled to mature in January 2021 and the term loan facilities are subject to scheduled amortization payments
on the last day of each calendar quarter beginning the fourth full fiscal quarter following the opening date of
MGM National Harbor, initially in an amount equal to 1.25% of the aggregate principal balance and increasing to
1.875% and 2.50% of the aggregate principal balance on the last day of the twelfth and sixteenth full fiscal
quarters, respectively. The outstanding balance at December 31, 2016 was comprised of $425 million of term
loans and $25 million drawn on the revolving credit facility. At December 31, 2016, the interest rate on the term
loan was 3.02% and the interest rate on the revolving credit facility was 2.90%.

The credit agreement is secured by a leasehold mortgage on MGM National Harbor and substantially all of
the existing and future property of MGM National Harbor. Mandatory prepayments will be required upon the
occurrence of certain events, including sales of certain assets, casualty events and the incurrence of certain
additional indebtedness, subject to certain exceptions and reinvestment rights. In addition, to the extent MGM
National Harbor generates excess cash flow (as defined in the credit agreement), a percentage of such excess
cash flow (ranging from 0% to 50% based on a total leverage ratio) will be required to be used to prepay the term
loan facilities commencing with the fiscal year ending 2017.

The credit agreement contains customary representations and warranties, events of default, and positive,
negative and financial covenants, including that MGM National Harbor, LLC and its restricted subsidiaries
maintain compliance with a maximum total leverage ratio and a minimum interest coverage ratio. MGM National
Harbor, LLC was in compliance with its credit agreement covenants at December 31, 2016.

Senior Notes. On August 19, 2016, the Company issued $500 million in aggregate principal amount of
4.625% senior notes due 2026 for net proceeds of $493 million. In September 2016, the Company used the net
proceeds, together with cash on hand, to redeem the $743 million outstanding aggregate principal amount of its
7.625% senior notes due 2017. The Company incurred a loss on early retirement of the 7.625% senior notes of
approximately $16 million recorded in “Other, net” in the consolidated statements of operations. In connection
with the closing of the IPO, on May 25, 2016 (the “Redemption Date”) the Company redeemed for cash all $1.23
billion aggregate principal amount of its outstanding 7.5% senior notes due 2016 and 10% senior notes due 2016
in accordance with the terms of the applicable indenture. The Company incurred a loss on early retirement of
such notes of approximately $22 million recorded in “Other, net” in the consolidated statements of operations.
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In 2015, the Company repaid its $875 million 6.625% senior notes at maturity. The senior notes are
unsecured and otherwise rank equally in right of payment with the Company’s existing and future senior
indebtedness. The senior notes are effectively subordinated to the Company’s existing and future secured
obligations, primarily consisting of its senior credit facility, to the extent of the value of the assets securing such
obligations.

Bridge Facilities. In connection with the Borgata transaction in August 2016, the Company borrowed $545
million under certain bridge facilities, which were subsequently contributed to the Operating Partnership. The
Operating Partnership repaid the bridge facilities with a combination of cash on hand and a draw down on its
revolving credit facility, which it subsequently refinanced with proceeds from its offering of its 4.5% senior notes
due 2026. In connection with the closing of the IPO, the Company borrowed $4.0 billion under certain bridge
facilities, the proceeds of which were used to repay its outstanding obligations under its prior senior credit
facility and were used to repay its 7.5% senior notes due 2016 and its 10% senior notes due 2016 on the
Redemption Date. The bridge facilities were subsequently assumed by the Operating Partnership pursuant to the
master contribution agreement. The Operating Partnership repaid the bridge facilities with a combination of
proceeds from its financing transactions described in Note 1 and the proceeds from the IPO.

MGM Growth Properties senior notes. On August 12, 2016, the Operating Partnership and MGP Finance
Co-lIssuer, Inc. issued $500 million in aggregate principal amount of 4.5% senior notes due 2026 for net proceeds
of $492 million. On April 20, 2016, a subsidiary of the Operating Partnership issued $1.05 billion in aggregate
principal amount of 5.625% senior notes due 2024 and on April 25, 2016, the Operating Partnership entered into
a supplemental indenture through which it assumed the obligations under the notes from such subsidiary (which
merged into the Operating Partnership on such date).

Convertible senior notes. In April 2015, holders of substantially all of the $1.45 billion in aggregate
principal amount of 4.25% convertible senior notes elected to convert the notes into approximately 78 million
shares of the Company’s common stock. The notes were converted at 53.83 shares of common stock per $1,000
principal amount, which is equivalent to a conversion price of approximately $18.58 per share. In addition, the
Company settled the capped call transactions entered into in connection with the initial issuance of $1.15 billion
aggregate principal amount of notes and received approximately 6 million shares from such financial institutions.
Such shares received in connection with the capped call transactions were subsequently retired.

Maturities of long-term debt. Maturities of the principal amount of the Company’s long-term debt as of
December 31, 2016 are as follows:

(In thousands)

Years ending December 31,

20 L7 e $ 137,964
20 L e 1,323,143
200 1,997,019
2020 L e 1,582,563
202 ] 2,057,250
TRCTCAT T . ..ot 6,046,441

$ 13,144,380

Fair value of long-term debt. The estimated fair value of the Company’s long-term debt at December 31,
2016 was $13.9 billion. At December 31, 2015, the estimated fair value of the Company’s long-term debt was
$13.1 billion. Fair value was estimated using quoted market prices for the Company’s senior notes and senior
credit facility.
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NOTE 11 — DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

The Operating Partnership uses derivative instruments to mitigate the effects of interest rate volatility
inherent in its variable rate debt, which could unfavorably impact its future earnings and forecasted cash flows.
The Operating Partnership does not use derivative instruments for speculative or trading purposes.

In December 2016, the Operating Partnership entered into interest rate swap agreements to mitigate the
interest rate risk inherent in its senior secured term loan B facility. These interest rate swaps are designated as
cash flow hedges and have a notional value of $500 million and mature on November 30, 2021. The weighted
average fixed rate paid is 1.825%, and the variable rate received resets monthly to the one-month LIBOR subject
to a minimum rate of 0.75%.

The following table summarizes the fair value and the presentation in the Company’s balance sheet:

Location on Balance Sheet December 31, 2016
(In thousands)
Interest rate swaps - cash flow hedges Other long-term assets, net $ 1,879

As of December 31, 2016, all of the interest rate swaps were valued in net unrealized gain positions and
recognized as asset balances within “Other long-term assets, net.” For the year ended December 31, 2016, the
amount recorded in other comprehensive income related to the gain on derivative instruments was $2 million.
For the year ended December 31, 2016, there was no ineffective portion of the change in fair value derivatives.
During the fourth quarter of 2016, the Company recorded interest expense of $0.4 million related to the swap
agreements.

Amounts reported in accumulated other comprehensive income related to derivatives will be reclassified to
interest expense as interest payments are made on our variable-rate debt. During the twelve months beginning
January 1, 2017, the Company estimates that $4 million will be reclassified as an increase to interest expense.

In January 2017, the Operating Partnership entered into additional interest rate swap agreements through
November 2021 with a total $700 million notional amount to pay a fixed rate of 1.964%, and the variable rate
received resets monthly to the one-month LIBOR, subject to a minimum rate of 0.75%, in order to mitigate the
interest rate risk inherent in its senior secured term loan B facility.

NOTE 12 — INCOME TAXES

The Company recognizes deferred income tax assets, net of applicable reserves, related to net operating
losses, tax credit carryforwards and certain temporary differences. The Company recognizes future tax benefits to
the extent that realization of such benefit is more likely than not. Otherwise, a valuation allowance is applied.

Income (loss) before income taxes for domestic and foreign operations consisted of the following:

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)
DOMmeStic OPErations ............ceeeeeerreerieneanianneaneanns. $ 985,683 $ 155,296 $ (168,135)
Foreign operations.............oovuiiiiiiiiiiiieaiieaananns 273,494 (1,201,539) 579,021

$ 1,259,177 § (1,046,243) § 410,886
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The benefit (provision) for income taxes attributable to income (loss) before income taxes is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)
Federal:
CUITENT ..ttt $ (97,502) $ (13,540) $ (10,448)
Deferred (excluding separate components) ................ (125,181) 280,220 785,225
Deferred—operating loss carryforward..................... - - (277,453)
Deferred—valuation allowance ......................oeeees 222,688 (247,867) (815,851)
Other NONCUITENt . ......o.viiiit i 3,608 (590) 33,130
Benefit (provision) for federal income taxes ............ 3,613 18,223 (285,397)
State:
CUITENT L.\ttt e e 4,069 (1,840) (2,214)
Deferred (excluding separate components) ................ 2,313 (2,768) 4,338
Deferred—operating loss carryforward..................... (16,024) (2,263) 531
Deferred—rvaluation allowance ............................. 23,058 (4,465) 412
Other NONCUITENt . ... . uiiit it (2,901) 7,153 (547)
Benefit (provision) for state income taxes............... 10,515 (4,183) 2,520
Foreign:
CUITENT ..t (2,015) (2,127) (1,656)
Deferred (excluding separate components) ................ (34,425) (5,832) 1,726
Deferred—operating loss carryforward..................... 2,988 10,472 3,495
Deferred—valuation allowance ............................. (2,975) (9,959) (4,396)
Provision for foreign income taxes....................... (36,427) (7,446) (831)
$ (22,299) $ 6,594 $ (283,708)

A reconciliation of the federal income tax statutory rate and the Company’s effective tax rate is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
Federal income tax statutory rate ...................coeovnuenn. 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Foreign tax credit...........oooviiiiiiiiii i (10.5) 63.7 (222.0)
Repatriation of foreign earnings ....................coovennn. 5.2 (32.0) 113.2
Foreign goodwill impairment ......................oooeein.. - (49.1) -
Federal valuation allowance .................ccooiiiiiiinn., (17.7) (23.7) 198.6
Settlements with taxing authorities ............................ - 0.1 (7.6)
Gain on Borgata transaction ..................oceeiiiiiiiiann. (5.4) - -
Foreign jurisdiction income/losses taxed at other than
B0 (3.8) 6.9 (49.1)
Permanent and other items ...l (1.0) (0.3) 0.9
1.8% 0.6% 69.0%
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The major tax-effected components of the Company’s net deferred tax liability are as follows:

December 31,

2016 2015
(In thousands)

Deferred tax assets - federal and state:

Bad debt T8SETVE . .. ne ettt $ 40,330 $ 42,133
Deferred compensation ............o.eveiuiieiiieit it 6,881 4,719
Net operating loss carryforward .............ccoiiiiiiiiiiiii s 9,669 20,084
Capital loss carryforward .............ooiiiiiiiiii e - 2,827
Accruals, reserves and other ......... ... 168,712 42,614
Investments in unconsolidated affiliates .........................ooiiiii. 152,092 198,594
Stock-based COMPENSAtION .........vvuriieit ettt eieeaeens 33,311 32,108
TaX CTEAitS ..ot 2,824,312 2,883,839
3,235,307 3,226,918
Less: Valuation allowance ......... ..o (2,510,140) (2,736,972)
725,167 489,946
Deferred tax assets - foreign:
Bad debt 18SeIVe . ..ottt 895 976
Net operating loss carryforward .............cccoiiiiiiiiiiiii i 72,788 69,800
Accruals, reserves and other ......... ... 3,945 1,270
Property and equipment ...........o.eviiiiiiitii s - 2,837
Stock-based COMPENSAtION .........vveriieit ettt eieeaieeas 3,830 -
81,458 74,883
Less: Valuation allowance ............coooeiiiiiiii e (73,134) (70,159)
8,324 4,724
Total deferred tax SSELS .........iinrie ittt e e $ 733,491 $ 494,670
Deferred tax liabilities - federal and state:
Property and eqUIPMENt ..........c.oouiniiniitiit it $ (2,657,230) $ (2,536,724)
Long-term debt ..ot (146,018) (220,245)
INtangibles .....o.vvii s (124,729) (99,419)

(2,927,977) (2,856,388)

Deferred tax liabilities - foreign:
Property and equipment ..............oiiiiiiii e (4,691)

INtANEIDIES . ..vee i (352,051) (318,858)

(356,742) (318,858)
Total deferred tax liability ............oooiiiiii i $ (3,284,719) $ (3,175,246)
Net deferred tax liability ...........ooeiieiiiii e $ (2,551,228) $ (2,680,576)

Income generated from gaming operations of MGM Grand Paradise, which is owned by MGM China, is
exempted from Macau’s 12% complementary tax, pursuant to approval from the Macau government. Absent this
exemption, “Net income attributable to MGM Resorts International” would have decreased by $25 million in
2016, and “Net loss attributable to MGM Resorts International” would have increased by $25 million in 2015
and net income per share (diluted) would have decreased by $0.04 in 2016 and net loss per share (diluted) would
have increased by $0.04 in 2015.
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Non-gaming operations remain subject to the Macau complementary tax. MGM Grand Paradise had at
December 31, 2016 a complementary tax net operating loss carryforward of $593 million resulting from non-
gaming operations that will expire if not utilized against non-gaming income in years 2017 through 2019.

MGM Grand Paradise’s exemption from the Macau 12% complementary tax on gaming profits does not
apply to dividend distributions of such profits to MGM China. However, MGM Grand Paradise has an agreement
with the Macau government to settle the 12% complementary tax that would otherwise be due by its shareholder,
MGM China, on distributions of its gaming profits by paying a flat annual payment (“annual fee arrangement”)
regardless of the amount of distributable dividends. Such annual fee arrangement was effective until
December 31, 2016. MGM China was not subject to the complementary tax on distributions it received during
the covered period as a result of the annual fee arrangement. Annual payments of $2 million were required under
the annual fee arrangement. The $2 million annual payments for 2016 and 2015 were accrued and a
corresponding provision for income taxes was recorded in each year. MGM Grand Paradise intends to file for an
extension of this agreement in the first quarter of 2017. However, no assurance can be given that an extension
will be granted or that the terms if granted will not be less favorable than the prior agreement.

The Company repatriated $53 million and $304 million of foreign earnings and profits in 2016 and 2015,
respectively. At December 31, 2016, there were approximately $363 million of unrepatriated foreign earnings
and profits, all of which the Company anticipates will be repatriated without the incurrence of additional U.S.
income tax expense due to creditable foreign taxes associated with such earnings and profits. Such foreign taxes
consist of the Macau Special Gaming Tax, which the Company believes qualifies as a tax paid in lieu of an
income tax that is creditable against U.S. income taxes. Accordingly, no deferred tax liability had been recorded
for those earnings. The Company had foreign tax credit carryovers of $2.8 billion as of December 31, 2016
which will expire as follows: $731 million in 2022; $976 million in 2023; $786 million in 2024; and $331
million in 2025. The foreign tax credit carryovers are subject to valuation allowance as described further below.

For state income tax purposes, the Company had Illinois, New Jersey, and Michigan net operating loss
carryforwards of $93 million, $166 million, and $77 million at December 31, 2016, respectively, which equates
to deferred tax assets after federal tax effect and before valuation allowance, of $5 million, $3 million, and $3
million, respectively. The Illinois net operating loss carryforwards will expire if not utilized by 2021 through
2026. The New Jersey net operating loss carryforwards will expire if not utilized by 2029 through 2036. The
Michigan net operating loss carryforwards will expire if not utilized by 2022 through 2024.

The Company recorded a valuation allowance of $2.5 billion against the $2.8 billion foreign tax credit
deferred tax asset at December 31, 2016. In addition, there was a $3 million valuation allowance, after federal
effect, provided on certain state deferred tax assets, a valuation allowance of $71 million on certain Macau
deferred tax assets, and a valuation allowance of $2 million on Hong Kong net operating losses because the
Company believes these assets do not meet the “more likely than not” criteria for recognition.

The foreign tax credits are attributable to the Macau Special Gaming Tax, which is 35% of gross gaming
revenue in Macau. Because MGM Grand Paradise is presently exempt from the Macau 12% complementary tax
on gaming profits, the Company believes that payment of the Macau Special Gaming Tax qualifies as a tax paid
in lieu of an income tax that is creditable against U.S. taxes. On September 7, 2016, MGM Grand Paradise was
granted an additional extension of the complementary tax exemption through March 31, 2020, concurrent with
the end of the term of its current gaming subconcession. A competitor of MGM Grand Paradise subsequently
received an additional extension of its exemption through March 31, 2020, which also runs concurrent with the
end of the term of its current gaming concession. Based upon these developments and the uncertainty concerning
taxation after the concession renewal process, the Company has concluded that it can no longer assume that
MGM Grand Paradise will be entitled to additional exemption periods beyond the end of the extension recently
granted. Thus, for all periods beyond March 31, 2020, the Company has assumed that MGM Grand Paradise will
pay the Macau 12% complementary tax on gaming profits and will thus not be able to credit the Macau Special
Gaming Tax in such years, and has factored that assumption into the assessment of the realization of the foreign
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tax credit deferred tax asset. This change resulted in a reduction in the valuation allowance against the foreign tax
credit deferred tax asset in the amount of $169 million with a corresponding reduction in the provision for
income taxes in 2016.

Due to improvements in its U.S. operations, the Company has generated U.S. operating profits for the past
eight consecutive quarters and as of June 30, 2016 no longer had cumulative U.S. losses in recent years.
Consequently, during the quarter ended June 30, 2016 the Company began to rely on future U.S. source operating
income in assessing future foreign tax credit realization during the 10-year foreign tax credit carryover period.
This change resulted in a reduction in the valuation allowance and a corresponding reduction in the provision for
income taxes of $85 million in 2016.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of gross unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)

Gross unrecognized tax benefitsat January 1 ........................... $ 13,724  § 31,143 § 106,246
Gross increases - prior period tax posSitions ..............c.eeveennn... - - 1,626
Gross decreases - prior period tax positions ...............oevvvnn... (3,375) (14,158) (43,098)
Gross increases - current period tax positions ........................ 3,677 1,222 5,066
Settlements with taxing authorities.......................ooooL. - (2,408) (38,697)
Lapse in Statutes of Limitations ...............cocevvviiiiieiiinnn... - (2,075) -

Gross unrecognized tax benefits at December 31....................... $ 14,026 $ 13,724  § 31,143

The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the effective tax rate was
$9 million and $8 million at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

The Company recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax
expense. The Company accrued less than $1 million in interest related to unrecognized tax benefits at
December 31, 2016 and 2015. No amounts were accrued for penalties as of either date. Income tax expense for
the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 includes interest benefit and expense related to unrecognized
tax benefits as follows: less than $1 million expense in 2016, $4 million benefit in 2015, and $13 million benefit
in 2014.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, various state and local jurisdictions,
and foreign jurisdictions, although the income taxes paid in foreign jurisdictions are not material. As of
December 31, 2016, the Company is no longer subject to examination of its U.S. consolidated federal income tax
returns filed for years ended prior to 2010. During 2016, the IRS opened an examination of the Company’s 2014
U.S. consolidated federal income tax return and notified the Company that it would open an examination of the
2014 income tax return of CityCenter Holdings, LLC, an unconsolidated affiliate treated as a partnership for
income tax purposes. During 2015, the Company received final approval from the Joint Committee on Taxation
of the results of the IRS examination of the 2009 tax year and agreed to all IRS adjustments to the 2010 and 2011
tax years of CityCenter Holdings, LLC. The Company received a refund of $16 million of taxes and associated
interest in connection with the settlement of these examinations, which are now considered settled for financial
accounting purposes. During 2014, the Company received final approval from the Joint Committee on Taxation
of the results of the IRS examination of its consolidated federal income tax returns for the 2005 through 2009 tax
years; the 2007 through 2008 tax years of CityCenter Holdings, LLC; the 2008 through 2009 tax years of MGM
Grand Detroit, LLC, a subsidiary treated as a partnership for income tax purposes; and the 2005 through 2009 tax
years of Marina District Development Holding Company, LLC, an unconsolidated affiliate treated as a
partnership for income tax purposes during such years. These examinations are now considered settled for
financial reporting purposes. The Company previously deposited $30 million with the IRS to cover the expected
cash taxes and interest resulting from the tentatively agreed adjustments for these examinations.
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As of December 31, 2016, other than adjustments resulting from the federal income tax audits discussed
above, the Company was no longer subject to examination of its various state and local tax returns filed for years
ended prior to 2012. During 2015, the state of New Jersey completed its examination of Marina District
Development Holding Company, LLC for the 2003 through 2009 tax years. All adjustments were agreed to by
the members of Marina District Development Holding Company, LLC and the examination is now considered
settled for financial accounting purposes. The Company made a $1 million payment of tax and associated interest
as a result of this settlement. No other state or local income tax returns are currently under examination.

The Company does not anticipate that the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2016
will change materially within the next twelve months.

NOTE 13 — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Leases. The Company leases real estate and various equipment under operating and, to a lesser extent,
capital lease arrangements. Certain real estate leases provide for escalation of rent based upon a specified price
index and/or based upon periodic appraisals.

At December 31, 2016, the Company was obligated under non-cancellable operating leases to make future
minimum lease payments as follows:

(In thousands)

Years ending December 31,

207 e $ 37,173
20 e 33,018
200 29,722
2020 et 29,976
202 e 32,416
) $ T3 =T 51> 1,380,274

Total minimum 1€aSe PAYMENLS ........iietittit ettt ettt ettt et e e eaees $ 1,542,579

The table above excludes the Company’s future lease obligations to a subsidiary of the Operating
Partnership pursuant to the master lease agreement discussed in Note 19. The Company owns 76.3% of the
Operating Partnership units as of December 31, 2016. The current obligations of $9 million under capital leases
due within one year are included in “Other accrued liabilities” and the long-term obligations of $5 million under
capital leases due after one year are included in “Other long-term obligations”. Rental expense for operating
leases was $80 million, $74 million and $65 million for 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Amounts included
short term rentals charged to rent expense. Rental expense in 2016, 2015, and 2014 includes $7 million related to
the Cotai land concession. The Company accounts for the Cotai land concession contract as an operating lease
for which the required upfront payments are amortized over the initial 25-year contract term. Rent recognized for
the Cotai land concession is included in “Preopening and start-up expenses” prior to opening.

In August 2016, in connection with the Borgata transaction, the Company has assumed the liability of a
series of ground leases for a total of approximately 11 acres of land on which the Borgata employee parking
garage, public space expansion, rooms expansion, and modified surface parking lot. The Company recorded an
unfavorable lease liability for the excess contractual lease obligations over the market value of the leases, which
will be amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease contracts through December 2070. The
ground lease is accounted for as an operating lease with rental expense of $2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2016.

In April 2013, the Company entered into a ground lease agreement for an approximate 23 acre parcel of land
in connection with the MGM National Harbor project. The ground lease has an initial term of 25 years and the
right to extend for up to 13 additional six year periods with the first 7 of those additional periods considered to be
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reasonably assured. The Company therefore amortizes the lease on a straight line basis over a 67 year term. The
ground lease is accounted for as an operating lease with rental expense of $16 million, $19 million and $13
million recorded for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Rent recognized for the
ground lease was included in “Preopening and start-up expenses” prior to opening.

Borgata property tax reimbursement agreement. On February 15, 2017, Borgata, the Department of
Community Affairs of the State of New Jersey and Atlantic City entered into an agreement wherein Borgata will
be reimbursed $72 million as settlement for property tax refunds subject to certain terms and conditions. The
payment of the settlement amount is in satisfaction of existing New Jersey Tax Court and Superior Court
judgments totaling approximately $106 million, plus interest for the 2009-2012 tax years and the settlement of
pending tax appeals for the tax years 2013-2015. Those pending tax appeals could potentially have resulted in
Borgata being awarded additional refunds due amounting to approximately $65 million. Under the terms of the
agreement, Atlantic City will pay Borgata the reimbursement amount of $72 million in up to two installments,
with the first installment of $52 million due on or before July 31, 2017 and the second installment for the
remaining balance of $20 million due on or before October 1, 2017. In order to finance the reimbursement,
Atlantic City and the State of New Jersey have agreed to use their best efforts to issue and sell bonds to pay the
reimbursement. Should Atlantic City fail to pay either of the installment payments or petition for relief from
creditors under state or federal law, or should any other event occur that would cause termination of the
agreement, Borgata will be entitled to enforce a consent judgment that is being entered into as part of the
settlement for the 2009-2015 tax years in an amount totaling $158 million.

As part of the purchase and sale agreement, the Company agreed to pay Boyd Gaming half of any net
amount received by the Company as it relates to the property tax refund owed to Borgata. The Company will
recognize the amounts received pursuant to the reimbursement agreement and amounts paid to Boyd Gaming in
current earnings in the periods in which payments are received and paid.

NV Energy. In July 2016, the Company filed its notice to exit the fully bundled sales system of NV Energy
and will purchase energy, capacity, and/or ancillary services from a provider other than NV Energy. The
Company elected to pay the upfront impact payment of $83 million, including $14 million related to CityCenter.
The upfront payments were made in September 2016. The Company and CityCenter are required to make
ongoing payments to NV Energy for non-bypassable rate charges which primarily relate to each entity’s share of
NV Energy’s portfolio of renewable energy contracts which extend through 2040 and each entity’s share of the
costs of decommissioning and remediation of coal-fired power plants in Nevada. As of December 31, 2016, the
Company recorded an estimate of such liability on a discounted basis of $8 million in “Other accrued liabilities”
and $63 million in “Other long-term obligations.” The expense recognized related to the upfront payment and the
initial accrual for the non-bypassable charges liability has been recognized within “NV Energy exit expense” in
the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Subsequent accretion of the liability and changes in
estimates will be recognized within general and administrative expenses.

Grand Paradise Macau deferred cash payment. On September 1, 2016, the Company purchased
188.1 million common shares of its MGM China subsidiary from Grand Paradise Macau (“GPM”), an entity
controlled by Ms. Ho, Pansy Catilina Chiu King (“Ms. Ho™). As part of the consideration for the purchase, the
Company agreed to pay GPM a deferred cash payment of $50 million, which will be paid in amounts equal to the
ordinary dividends received on such shares, with a final lump sum payment due on the fifth anniversary of the
closing date of the transaction if any portion of the deferred cash payment remains unpaid at that time. As of
December 31, 2016, the Company recorded a liability on a discounted basis of $43 million in “Other long-term
obligations.”

Cotai land concession contract. MGM Grand Paradise’s land concession contract for an approximate 18
acre site on the Cotai Strip in Macau became effective on January 9, 2013 and has an initial term of 25 years. The
total land premium payable to the Macau government for the land concession contract is $161 million and is
composed of a down payment and eight additional semi-annual payments. As of December 31, 2016, MGM
China had paid $159 million of the contract’s premium, including interest due on the semi-annual installments,
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and the amount paid is recorded within “Other long-term assets, net.” In January 2017, MGM China paid the
final semi-annual installment of $15 million under the contract. Under the terms of the land concession contract,
MGM Grand Paradise is required to build and open MGM Cotai by January 2018.

T-Mobile Arena. In conjunction with the Las Vegas Arena Company entering a senior secured credit
facility in 2014, the Company and AEG each entered joint and several completion guarantees for the project, as
well as a repayment guarantee for term loan B (which is subject to increases and decreases in the event of a
rebalancing of the principal amount of indebtedness between the term loan A and term loan B facilities). As of
December 31, 2016, term loan A was $150 million and term loan B was $50 million. The completion guarantees
were terminated in February 2017.

Other guarantees. The Company is party to various guarantee contracts in the normal course of business,
which are generally supported by letters of credit issued by financial institutions. The Company’s senior credit
facility limits the amount of letters of credit that can be issued to $250 million, MGP’s senior credit facility limits
the amount to $75 million, MGM China’s credit facility limits the amount to $100 million, and MGM National
Harbor’s credit facility limits the amount to $30 million. At December 31, 2016, the Company had $15 million in
letters of credit outstanding under the Company’s senior credit facility and $39 million in letters of credit
outstanding under MGM China’s credit facility. No amounts were outstanding under the MGP senior credit
facility and the MGM National Harbor credit facility at December 31, 2016. The amount of available borrowings
under each of the credit facilities is reduced by any outstanding letters of credit.

Other litigation. The Company is a party to various legal proceedings, most of which relate to routine
matters incidental to its business. Management does not believe that the outcome of such proceedings will have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

NOTE 14 — STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

The following is a summary of net income attributable to MGM Resorts International and transfers to
noncontrolling interest for the year ended December 31, 2016:

(In thousands)

Net income attributable to MGM Resorts International ...............coooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii . $ 1,101,440
Transfers to noncontrolling interest:
MGP formation tranSaCtiONS ........ouuutiteernntttt e ettt e e e et et e e ieee e e aaaaeens (150,414)
Borgata tranSaction .............eoietiiit e (18,385)
MGM China tranSaACTION ...\ .ttt ettt e et e et e et e e e e et e e e e e e aaaeens (45,554)
Net transfers to noncontrolling INTEreSt ...........ovuiiiitiiii i e eaaees (214,353)

Change from net income attributable to MGM Resorts International and transfers to
NONCONLTOIIING TNTETESE . . ... e ettt ettt et et et et et e eaaees $ 887,087

MGM Growth Properties IPO. The Company adjusted the carrying value of the noncontrolling interests to
reflect MGP’s Class A shareholders’ 26.7% initial ownership interest in the consolidated net assets of MGP
related to the IPO and related transactions discussed in Note 1, with an offsetting adjustment to additional paid in
capital.

Borgata transaction. The Company has adjusted the carrying value of the noncontrolling interests as a
result of the Borgata transaction to adjust for the change in noncontrolling interests ownership percentage of the
Operating Partnership’s net assets, as discussed in Note 1, including assets and liabilities transferred as a part of
the Borgata transaction, with an offsetting adjustment to additional paid in capital.

MGM China common stock acquisition. In September 2016, the Company acquired 188.1 million
ordinary shares of MGM China from GPM. As a result of the transaction, the Company owns approximately 56%
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of MGM China’s outstanding common shares and Ms. Ho owned approximately 22.5% immediately following
the transaction. As consideration for the MGM China shares, the Company issued 7,060,492 shares of its
common stock and paid $100 million to GPM. In addition, the Company agreed to pay GPM a deferred cash
payment of $50 million. See Note 13 for additional information regarding the deferred cash payment. The
Company adjusted the carrying value of the noncontrolling interest and accumulated other comprehensive
income to reflect the change in MGM China’s noncontrolling ownership interest resulting from the transaction.
The difference between the fair value of the consideration paid and the aforementioned adjustments was
recognized as a reduction to additional paid in capital.

MGM Resorts International dividends. On February 15, 2017 the Company’s Board of Directors
approved a quarterly dividend to holders of record on March 10, 2017 of $0.11 per share, totaling $63 million,
which will be paid on March 15, 2017. The Company intends to pay a quarterly dividend in each future quarter
subject to the Company’s operating results, cash requirements and financial conditions, any applicable provisions
of state law that may limit the amount of available funds, and compliance with covenants and financial ratios
related to existing or future agreements governing the indebtedness at the Company’s subsidiaries and any
limitations in other agreements such subsidiaries may have with third parties.

MGM China dividends. MGM China paid the following dividends:

 $46 million final dividend in May 2016, of which $23 million was distributed to noncontrolling interests;

 $58 million interim dividend in August 2016, of which $29 million was distributed to noncontrolling
interests;

» $400 million special dividend in March 2015, of which $196 million was distributed to noncontrolling
interests;

e $120 million final dividend in June 2015, of which $59 million was distributed to noncontrolling
interests;

* $76 million interim dividend in August 2015, of which $37 million was distributed to noncontrolling
interests;

» $499 million special dividend in March 2014, of which $245 million was distributed to noncontrolling
interests;

e $127 million final dividend in June 2014, of which $62 million was distributed to noncontrolling
interests; and

 $137 million interim dividend in September 2014, of which $67 million was distributed to noncontrolling
interests.

On February 16, 2017, as part of its regular dividend policy, MGM China’s Board of Directors announced it
will recommend a final dividend for 2016 of $78 million to MGM China shareholders subject to approval at the
MGM China 2017 annual shareholders meeting to be held in May. If approved, the Company will receive its
56% share, or $44 million, of which $4 million will be paid to GPM under the deferred cash payment
arrangement. See Note 13 for additional information.

MGP dividends. In January 2017 and October 2016, MGP paid quarterly dividends of $0.3875 per Class A
common share, each totaling $22 million. The Company concurrently received $72 million in distributions
attributable to the Operating Partnership units owned by the Company from the Operating Partnership, which
remained within the consolidated entity at each period. In July 2016 MGP paid a $15 million pro-rated quarterly
dividend of $0.2632 per Class A common share. The Company concurrently received a $42 million distribution
attributable to the Operating Partnership units owned by the Company from the Operating Partnership, which
remained within the consolidated entity.

NOTE 15 — STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

MGM Resorts 2005 Omnibus Incentive Plan. The Company’s omnibus incentive plan, as amended (the
“Omnibus Plan”), allows it to grant stock options, stock appreciation rights (“SARs”), restricted stock units
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(“RSUs”), performance share units (“PSUs”) and other stock-based awards to eligible directors, officers and
employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Omnibus Plan is administered by the Compensation
Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board of Directors. The Committee has discretion under the Omnibus Plan
regarding which type of awards to grant, the vesting and service requirements, exercise price and other
conditions, in all cases subject to certain limits, including:

e As amended, the Omnibus Plan allows for the issuance of up to 45 million shares or share-based awards;
and

* For stock options and SARSs, the exercise price of the award must be at least equal to the fair market value
of the stock on the date of grant and the maximum term of such an award is 10 years.

SARs granted under the Omnibus Plan generally have terms of seven years, and in most cases vest in four
equal annual installments. RSUs granted vest ratably over four years, a portion of which are subject to
achievement of a performance target based on operational results compared to budget in order for such RSUs to
be eligible to vest. Expense is recognized primarily on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the awards,
net of estimated forfeitures. Estimated forfeitures are updated periodically with actual forfeitures recognized
currently to the extent they differ from the estimate.

PSUs granted vest subject to a market condition, in which a percentage of the target award granted vests
based on the performance of the Company’s stock price in relation to the target price at the end of a three year
performance period. Specifically, the ending average stock price must equal the target price, which is defined as
125% of the beginning average stock price, in order for the target award to vest. No shares are issued unless the
ending average stock price is at least 60% of the target price, and the maximum payout is capped at 160% of the
target award. If the ending average stock price is at least 60% or more of the target price, then the amount of
units granted in the target award is multiplied by the stock performance multiplier. The stock performance
multiplier equals the ending average stock price divided by the target price. For this purpose, the target and
ending prices are based on the average closing price of the Company’s common stock over the 60 calendar day
periods ending on the grant date and the third anniversary of the grant date, respectively. Expense is recognized
on a graded basis over the performance period beginning on the date of grant. Estimated forfeitures are updated
periodically with actual forfeitures recognized currently to the extent they differ from the estimate.

As of December 31, 2016, the Company had an aggregate of approximately 21 million shares of common
stock available for grant as share-based awards under the Omnibus Plan. A summary of activity under the
Company’s share-based payment plans for the year ended December 31, 2016 is presented below:

Stock options and stock appreciation rights

Weighted
Weighted Average Aggregate
Average Remaining Intrinsic
Units Exercise Contractual Value
(000’s) Price Term (000’s)
Outstanding at January 1, 2016 ...........ccocoveiiiiiiiin... 14,131 $14.82
Granted ... ... 2,557 2591
EXEICiSed ..uviieiiii i (4,522) 11.52
Forfeited or expired ........c.covveiiiiiiiiii i (193) 20.90
Outstanding at December 31,2016 ...............ccoveeinnn. 11,973 18.33 4.27 $125,682
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2016 .......... 11,570 18.12 4.20 $123,841

Exercisable at December 31,2016 ..................ccoeeinn. 6,478 14.16 2.90 $ 94,903
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As of December 31, 2016, there was a total of $37 million of unamortized compensation related to stock
options and SARs expected to vest, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.8
years.

Restricted stock units and performance share units

RSUs PSUs
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Target Average Average
Units Grant-Date Units Grant-Date Target
(000’s) Fair Value (000’s) Fair Value Price
Nonvested at January 1, 2016 .......... 1,578 $ 20.05 1,818 $18.54 $26.18
Granted ..........cooviiiiiii i 776 26.06 785 24.94 31.05
Vested ..o (624) 18.31 (397) 21.01 23.50
Forfeited............oooviiiiiiin. .. (58) 20.70 - - -

Nonvested at December 31, 2016 ...... 1,672 23.47 2,206 20.38 28.40

As of December 31, 2016, there was a total of $30 million of unamortized compensation related to RSUs
which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.9 years. As of December 31, 2016, there
was a total of $28 million of unamortized compensation related to PSUs which is expected to be recognized over
a weighted-average period of 1.7 years.

The Company grants PSUs for a portion of any calculated bonus for a Section 16 officer of the Company
that is in excess of such officer’s base salary (the “Bonus PSU Policy”). Awards granted under the Bonus PSU
Policy have the same terms as the other PSUs granted under the Omnibus Plan with the exception that as of the
grant date the awards will not be subject to forfeiture in the event of the officer’s termination. In March 2016,
2015 and 2014, the Company granted 0.3 million, 0.2 million and 0.3 million PSUs pursuant to the Bonus PSU
Policy with a target price of $23.87, $25.91 and $31.72, respectively. Additionally, the Company granted PSUs
for certain employees of the Company in connection with the Profit Growth Plan (“Profit Growth Plan PSUs”).
Profit Growth Plan PSUs have the same terms as the other PSUs granted under the Omnibus Plan with the
exception of an additional service and performance condition tied to the results of the Profit Growth Plan which
must be achieved for the awards to vest. In October 2015, the Company granted 0.3 million Profit Growth Plan
PSUs with a target price of $25.76. As of December 31, 2016, the performance condition associated with the
Profit Growth Plan PSUs has been met. Awards granted under the Bonus PSU Policy and in connection with the
Profit Growth Plan are excluded from the table above.

The following table includes additional information related to stock options, SARs and RSUs:

Year Ended December 31,

2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)

Intrinsic value of share-based awards exercised or RSUs and

PSUS VESted ..vviiii e $ 86,216 $ 67,420 $ 31,613
Income tax benefit from share-based awards exercised or RSUs
and PSUSs vested ........o.ooviiiiiiii i 29,736 23,288 10,805

The Company net settles SAR exercises, whereby shares of common stock are issued equivalent to the
intrinsic value of the SAR less applicable taxes.

MGM Growth Properties 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan. The Company’s subsidiary, MGP, adopted an
omnibus incentive plan in 2016 for grants of share-based awards to eligible directors, officers and employees of
MGP and its subsidiaries and affiliates, including the Company (“MGP Omnibus Plan”). The MGP Omnibus
Plan is administered by MGP’s Board of Directors, which has the discretion to determine the type of awards to
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grant, the vesting and service requirements, exercise price and other conditions, in all cases subject to certain
limits, including:

» The MGP Omnibus Plan allows for the issuance of up to 2.5 million shares; and

« Limits the maximum amount of shares to be granted, in the aggregate, to any individual participant within
any fiscal year as well as limits the maximum aggregate grant date value (regardless of type(s) of award
granted) in any fiscal year to any non-employee director of MGP.

The majority of RSUs granted under the MGP Omnibus Plan vest ratably over four years with the exception
of RSUs issued to MGM Resorts International employees in connection with the IPO, which vest ratably over
one year. Expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the awards, net of estimated
forfeitures. Estimated forfeitures are updated periodically with actual forfeitures recognized currently to the
extent they differ from the estimate. The RSUs are granted together with dividend equivalent rights that are
subject to the same vesting and forfeiture terms as the underlying RSUs.

Outstanding PSUs granted under the MGP Omnibus Plan vest subject to a market condition, in which a
percentage of the target award granted vests based on MGP’s total shareholder return (“TSR”) relative to a select
group of peer companies at the end of a three year performance period. Depending on MGP’s relative TSR at the
end of the performance period, anywhere from 0% to 160% of the target award may vest. Should MGP’s TSR be
negative during the performance period, then the maximum portion of the target award eligible for vesting is
capped at 100%. Expense is recognized on a graded basis over the performance period beginning on the date of
grant. Estimated forfeitures are updated periodically with actual forfeitures recognized currently to the extent
they differ from the estimate. The PSUs are granted together with dividend equivalent rights that are subject to
the same vesting and forfeiture terms as the underlying PSUs.

As of December 31, 2016, MGP had an aggregate of 2 million shares of common stock available for grant
as share-based awards under the MGP Omnibus Plan. A summary of the activity under the MGP Omnibus Plan
for the period from April 19, 2016 (date of inception) to December 31, 2016 is presented below:

Restricted share units and performance share units

RSUs PSUs
Weighted Weighted
Average Target Average
Units Grant-Date Units Grant-Date
(000’s) Fair Value (000’s) Fair Value
Granted ........coooiiiiiiiii 248§ 21.18 46 $ 20.52
Outstanding at December 31, 2016........ 248 21.18 46 20.52

Shares granted in the above table include dividend equivalent rights related to RSUs and PSUs.

As of December 31, 2016, there was a total of $1.8 million of unamortized compensation related to RSUs
which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 0.8 years. As of December 31, 2016, there
was a total of $0.7 million of unamortized compensation related to PSUs which is expected to be recognized over
a weighted-average period of 2.3 years.

MGM China Share Option Plan. The Company’s subsidiary, MGM China, adopted an equity award plan
in 2011 for grants of stock options to purchase ordinary shares of MGM China to eligible directors, employees
and non-employees of MGM China and its subsidiaries (“MGM China Plan”). The MGM China Plan is
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administered by MGM China’s Board of Directors, which has the discretion to determine the exercise price and
term of the award, as well as other conditions, in all cases subject to certain limits, including:

e The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
MGM China Plan shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue as of the date

of the shareholders’ approval of the MGM China Plan; and

» The exercise price of the award must be the higher of the closing price of the stock on the offer date, or
the average of the closing price for the five business days immediately preceding the offer date, and the

maximum term of the award must not exceed ten years.

Stock options currently granted under the MGM China Plan have a term of ten years, and vest in four equal
annual installments. Expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the awards net of
estimated forfeitures. Estimated forfeitures are updated periodically with actual forfeitures recognized currently

to the extent they differ from the estimate.

As of December 31, 2016, MGM China had an aggregate of approximately 302 million shares of options
available for grant as share-based awards. A summary of activity under the MGM China Plan for the year ended

December 31, 2016 is presented below:

Outstanding at January 1, 2016 .................
Granted........cooeiiiiiii
Exercised.......coooiiiiiiii
Forfeited or expired ............ccoooviiiiiinnnn,

Outstanding at December 31, 2016

Vested and expected to vest at December 31,
2016

Exercisable at December 31, 2016..............

Stock options
Weighted
Weighted Average Aggregate
Average Remaining Intrinsic
Exercise Contractual Value
Price Term (000’s)
2.54
1.45
1.83
2.31
2.11 7.96 $ 22,897
2.14 790 § 20,954
2.53 6.09 $ 1,926

As of December 31, 2016, there was a total of $21 million of unamortized compensation related to stock
options expected to vest, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.7 years.

Recognition of compensation cost. Compensation cost was recognized as follows:

Compensation cost:

Omnibus Plan..............
MGP Omnibus Plan.......................... ..
MGM ChinaPlan ...

Total compensation COSt .............ooevuiiuiinennn.
Less: Reimbursed costs and capitalized cost

Compensation cost after reimbursed costs and capitalized

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)

43,661 $ 33,742 § 29,662
3,401 - -
8,545 9,260 8,706

55,607 43,002 38,368

(1,350) (1,156) (1,104)

54,257 41,846 37,264

(16,782) (11,230) (9,822)

37,475 §

30,616 § 27,442




Compensation cost for SARs granted under the Omnibus Plan is based on the fair value of each award,
measured by applying the Black-Scholes model on the date of grant, using the following weighted-average
assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
Expected volatility ........o.ovviieiii 33% 38% 40%
Expected term ... ..ot 4.9 yrs. 4.9 yrs. 4.9 yrs.
Expected dividend yield ... 0% 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rate .......oouviiuiiiiiiii e 1.9% 1.8% 1.6%
Weighted-average fair value of SARs granted ....................... $ 835 $ 727 S 8.18

Expected volatility is based in part on historical volatility and in part on implied volatility based on traded
options on the Company’s stock. The expected term considers the contractual term of the option as well as
historical exercise and forfeiture behavior. The risk-free interest rate is based on the rates in effect on the grant
date for U.S. Treasury instruments with maturities matching the relevant expected term of the award.

Compensation cost for PSUs granted under the Omnibus Plan is based on the fair value of each award,
measured by applying a Monte Carlo simulation method on the date of grant, using the following weighted-
average assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
Expected volatility ..........cccoovviiiiiiii 33% 39% 31%
Expected term .........ooiiiiiii 3.0 yrs. 3.0 yrs. 3.0 yrs.
Expected dividend yield .............c.ooeiiiiii 0% 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rate .............ccovviiiiiiiiiiiiiiennnnn.. 0.9% 0.9% 1.0%
Weighted-average fair value of PSUs granted ................ $ 2494 § 1773 § 18.39

Expected volatility is based in part on historical volatility and in part on implied volatility based on traded
options on the Company’s stock. The expected term is equal to the three-year performance period. The risk-free
interest rate is based on the rates in effect on the grant date for U.S. Treasury instruments with maturities
matching the relevant expected term of the award.

Compensation cost for RSUs granted under the MGP Omnibus plan is based on the fair value of MGP’s
Class A shares on the date of grant. Compensation cost for PSUs granted under the MGP Omnibus Plan is based
on the fair value of each award, measured by applying a Monte Carlo simulation method on the date of grant,
using the following weighted-average assumptions:

Year Ended
December 31,
_ 016
EXPected VOLAtIIIEY . . .ottt 26%
EXPECtOd tOIIM . ..ttt 3.0 yrs.
Expected dividend yield ..........ooieiiiiiii 0%
RISK-fT@E INTETESE TALE ... .tettt ettt ettt e e et 0.9%
Weighted-average fair value of PSUs granted ..o $ 20.52

Expected volatility is based in part on historical volatility and in part on implied volatility based on traded
shares of MGP’s Class A shares. The expected term is equal to the three-year performance period. The risk-free
interest rate is based on the rates in effect on the grant date for U.S. Treasury instruments with maturities
matching the relevant expected term of the award.
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Compensation cost for stock options granted under the MGM China Plan is based on the fair value of each
award, measured by applying the Black-Scholes model on the date of grant, using the following weighted-
average assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,

2016 2015 2014
Expected volatility .........ccovviiiiiiiii 45% 43% 39%
Expected term ..........coooiiiiiiiiiii 5.6 yrs. 5.8 yrs. 7.9 yrs.
Expected dividend yield ... 3.1% 2.4% 1.6%
Risk-free interest rate .............ooevieiiiiiiiiieniianenne.. 0.9% 1.3% 1.8%
Weighted-average fair value of options granted .............. $ 044 $ 055 $ 1.06

Expected volatilities are based on the historical volatility of MGM China’s stock price. Expected term
considers the contractual term of the option as well as historical exercise and forfeiture behavior of previously
granted options. Dividend yield is based on the estimate of annual dividends expected to be paid at the time of
the grant. The risk-free interest rate is based on rates in effect at the valuation date for the Hong Kong Exchange
Fund Notes with maturities matching the relevant expected term of the award.

NOTE 16 — EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Multi-employer benefit plans. Employees of the Company who are members of various unions are covered
by union-sponsored, collectively bargained, multiemployer health and welfare and defined benefit pension plans.
Of these plans, the Company considers the Southern Nevada Culinary and Bartenders Pension Plan (the “Pension
Plan”), under the terms of collective bargaining agreements with the Local Joint Executive Board of Las Vegas
for and on behalf of Culinary Workers Union Local No. 226 and Bartenders Union Local No. 165, to be
individually significant. The risk of participating in the Pension Plan differs from single-employer plans in the
following aspects:

a) Assets contributed to the multiemployer plan by one employer may be used to provide benefits to
employees of other participating employers;

b) If a participating employer stops contributing to the plan, the unfunded obligations of the plan may be
borne by the remaining participating employers;

c) If an entity chooses to stop participating in some of its multiemployer plans, the entity may be required
to pay those plans an amount based on the underfunded status of the plan, referred to as a withdrawal
liability; and

d) If the Pension Plan is terminated by withdrawal of all employers and if the value of the nonforfeitable
benefits exceeds plan assets and withdrawal liability payments, employers are required by law to make
up the insufficient difference.

Pursuant to its collective bargaining agreements referenced above, the Company also contributes to UNITE
HERE Health (the “Health Fund”), which provides healthcare benefits to its active and retired members. The
Company’s participation in the Pension Plan is outlined in the table below.

Pension Protection Act Zone Expiration Date

of Collective
EIN/Pension Status (1) Bargaining
Pension Fund Plan Number 2015 2014 Agreements (2)
Southern Nevada Culinary and
Bartenders Pension Plan 88-6016617/001 Green Green 5/31/2018

(1) In 2014, the trustees of the Pension Plan elected to apply the extended amortization and the special ten-year asset smoothing rules under
the Pension Relief Act of 2010.

(2) The Company is party to ten collective bargaining agreements that require contributions to the Pension Plan. The agreements between
CityCenter Hotel Casino, LLC, Bellagio, Mandalay Corp., MGM Grand Hotel, LLC and the Local Joint Executive Board of Las VVegas
are the most significant because more than half of the Company’s employee participants in the Pension Plan are covered by those four
agreements.
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Contributions to the Company’s multi-employer pension plans and other multi-employer benefit plans were
as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)

Multi-employer Pension Plans

Southern Nevada Culinary and Bartenders Pension Plan ......... $ 44,001 $ 41,904 $ 33,927
Other pension plans not individually significant .................. 8,592 9,680 7,323
Total multi-employer pension plans ............................. $ 52,593 % 51,584 % 41,250
Multi-employer Benefit Plans Other Than Pensions
UNITEHERE Health ..........c.ooiiii $ 187,356  $ 191,733  $ 202,641
OBRET ettt 11,513 12,840 12,746
Total multi-employer benefit plans other than pensions ....... $ 198,869 $ 204,573 $ 215,387

Pension Plan contributions in 2016 increased when compared to 2015 due to the contribution rate to the
Pension Plan increasing in mid-2016 as defined under the collective bargaining agreements, which was partially
offset by a 3% decrease in hours worked in 2016 compared to 2015. During 2014 an amendment to the collective
bargaining agreements to temporarily divert contributions from the Pension Plan to the Health Fund was in
effect. As a result, contributions to the Pension Plan increased in 2015 compared to 2014 as the amendment
ended in June of 2014. Bellagio, Aria, Mandalay Bay and MGM Grand Las Vegas were listed in the Pension
Plan’s Forms 5500 as providing more than 5% of the total contributions for the plan years ended December 31,
2015 and 2014. At the date the financial statements were issued, Form 5500 was not available for the plan year
ending in 2016. No surcharges were imposed on the Company’s contributions to any of the plans.

Borgata. The above disclosures exclude multi-employer defined benefit pension plans under terms of
collective-bargaining agreements that cover union-represented employees at Borgata (acquired on August 1,
2016). These unions cover certain of its culinary, hotel and other trade workers. Borgata is obligated to make
defined contributions under these plans and is also subject to the risks outlined above for the Company’s other
multi-employer pension plans. Contributions, based on wages paid to covered employees, totaled $4 million, for
the period from acquisition through December 31, 2016. Borgata’s most significant plan is the Legacy Plan of the
National Retirement Fund, Former HEREIU and Local 54 (the “The Local 54 Pension Plan”), which has been
listed in “critical status” (which means it is generally less than 65% funded) and a rehabilitation plan has been
adopted. As a result, the Company is responsible for the payment of surcharges in addition to the contribution
rate specified in the collective bargaining agreement. The Company estimates Borgata’s share of unfunded
vested liabilities related to certain multi-employer pension plans is approximately $288 million as of January 1,
2016, which amount primarily relates to The Local 54 Pension Plan, and which amount is subject to change each
year depending on the applicable plan’s employer contributions, investment performance and other factors.
Borgata has no current intention to withdraw from these plans, which withdrawal could result in the incurrence of
a contingent liability that would be payable in an amount and at such time (or over a period of time) that would
vary based on a number of factors at the time of (and after) withdrawal.

Self-insurance. The Company is self-insured for most health care benefits and workers compensation for its
non-union employees. The liability for health care claims filed and estimates of claims incurred but not reported
was $30 million and $22 million at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The workers compensation
liability for claims filed and estimates of claims incurred but not reported was $53 million and $43 million as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Both liabilities are included in “Other accrued liabilities.”

Retirement savings plans. The Company has retirement savings plans under Section 401(k) of the IRC for
eligible employees. The plans allow employees to defer, within prescribed limits, up to 75% of their income on a
pre-tax and/or after-tax basis through contributions to the plans. The Company matches 50% of the first 6% of
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eligible employee deferrals up to a specified annual maximum dollar amount. The Company recorded charges for
401(k) contributions of $20 million, $16 million and $17 million in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

The Company maintains nonqualified deferred retirement plans for certain key employees. The plans allow
participants to defer, on a pre-tax basis, a portion of their salary and bonus and accumulate tax deferred earnings,
plus investment earnings on the deferred balances, as a deferred tax savings. All employee deferrals vest
immediately. The Company does not contribute to the plan.

The Company also maintains nonqualified supplemental executive retirement plans (“SERP”) for certain
key employees. Until September 2008, the Company made quarterly contributions intended to provide a
retirement benefit that is a fixed percentage of a participant’s estimated final five-year average annual salary, up
to a maximum of 65%. The Company has indefinitely suspended these contributions. Employees do not make
contributions under these plans. A portion of the Company contributions and investment earnings thereon vest
after three years of SERP participation and the remaining portion vests after both five years of SERP
participation and 10 years of continuous service.

MGM China. MGM China contributes to a retirement plan as part of an employee benefits package for
eligible employees. The Company recorded charges related to contributions in the retirement plan of $7 million,
$7 million and $5 million for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014, respectively.

NOTE 17 — PROPERTY TRANSACTIONS, NET

Property transactions, net consisted of the following:

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)

Grand Victoria investment impairment ............................... $ -3 17,050 $ 28,789
Gain on sale of Circus Circus Reno and Silver Legacy

INVESTMENT © .ttt ettt e e e e et e et e e e e eeeeanaas - (23,002) -

Other property transactions, N€t..............coeeeeeeneaneeneaneannn. 17,078 41,903 12,213

$ 17,078  $ 35951 $ 41,002

Grand Victoria investment. See Note 7 for additional information related to the Grand Victoria investment
impairment charges in 2015 and 2014.

Circus Circus Reno and Silver Legacy investment sale. See Note 5 for additional information related to
the sale of Circus Circus Reno and Note 7 for further discussion of the sale of the Company’s 50% investment in
Silver Legacy in 2015.

Other. Other property transactions, net includes miscellaneous asset disposals and demolition costs in the
periods presented in the above table, as well as a loss of $18 million in connection with the trade-in of Company
aircraft in 2015.

NOTE 18 — SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company’s management views each of its casino resorts as an operating segment. Operating segments
are aggregated based on their similar economic characteristics, types of customers, types of services and products
provided, the regulatory environments in which they operate, and their management and reporting structure. The
Company’s principal operating activities occur in two geographic regions: the United States and Macau S.A.R.
The Company has aggregated its operations into two reportable segments based on the similar characteristics of
the operating segments: domestic resorts and MGM China. The Company’s operations related to investments in
unconsolidated affiliates and certain other corporate operations and management services have not been

83



identified as separate reportable segments; therefore, these operations are included in “Corporate and other” in
the following segment disclosures to reconcile to consolidated results.

The Company’s management utilizes Adjusted Property EBITDA as the primary profit measure for its
reportable segments. Adjusted Property EBITDA is a measure defined as Adjusted EBITDA before corporate
expense and stock compensation expense related to the Omnibus Plan and the MGP Omnibus Plan, which are not
allocated to the reportable segments or each operating segment, as applicable. MGM China recognizes stock
compensation expense related to the MGM China Plan which is included in the calculation of Adjusted EBITDA
for MGM China. Adjusted EBITDA is a measure defined as earnings before interest and other non-operating
income (expense), taxes, depreciation and amortization, preopening and start-up expenses, NV Energy exit
expense, gain on Borgata transaction, goodwill impairment charges, and property transactions, net.

The following tables present the Company’s segment information:

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)

Net Revenues

DOMESHIC TESOTES ...ttt et e $ 7,055,718 $ 6,497,361 $§ 6,342,084
MGM China.......ooiiiii i 1,920,487 2,214,767 3,282,329

Reportable segment net revenues ........................ 8,976,205 8,712,128 9,624,413
Corporate and other ...............coviiiiiiiiiii i, 478,918 477,940 457,571

§ 9,455,123 § 9,190,068 § 10,081,984

Adjusted Property EBITDA

DOMESHIC TESOTES vt et e e $ 2,063,016 $ 1,689,966 $ 1,518,307
MGM CRiNa. ... e 520,736 539,881 850,471
Reportable segment Adjusted Property EBITDA ....... 2,583,752 2,229,847 2,368,778
Other operating income (expense)
Corporate and other ...............ccoviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiian, 211,932 9,073 (149,216)
NV Energy exXit eXPense .........cceovvieiriiniainiiiannnnn. (139,335) - -
Preopening and start-up eXpenses ...............oeeveennnn.. (140,075) (71,327) (39,257)
Property transactions, Net ..............ooeveviieinniennnnnn. (17,078) (35,951) (41,002)
Goodwill impairment ................cooviiiiiiiiniiiiniann. - (1,467,991) -
Gain on Borgata transaction ..................ccoeviieiniinnn. 430,118 - -
Depreciation and amortization ......................oouvenn. (849,527) (819,883) (815,765)
Operating income (10SS) ........ccovvviiiiiiiiiiiennn.n. 2,079,787 (156,232) 1,323,538
Non-operating income (expense)
Interest expense, net of amounts capitalized ............... (694,773) (797,579) (817,061)
Non-operating items from unconsolidated affiliates....... (53,139) (76,462) (87,794)
Other, Net ..ot e (72,698) (15,970) (7,797)
......................................................... (820,610) (890,011) (912,652)
Income (loss) before income taxes 1,259,177 (1,046,243) 410,886
Benefit (provision) for income taxes........................ (22,299) 6,594 (283,708)
Net income (loss) 1,236,878 (1,039,649) 127,178
Less: Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling
1T (o] 1 (135,438) 591,929 (277,051)
Net income (loss) attributable to MGM Resorts
International $ 1,101,440 $ (447,720) $ (149,873)
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December 31,

2016 2015
(In thousands)

Total assets:

DOMESHIC TESOTES ...\ uvt ettt et et e et e e $ 16451461 $ 13,261,882
1Y (€ 21 ] 15 8,443,411 7,895,376
Reportable segment total assets ...........ooeveiiiiiiiiiiiiii i 24,894,872 21,157,258
Corporate and Other ...........oiiiiii e 3,333,625 4,099,837
Eliminated in consolidation ................ooiiiiii i (55,196) (41,917)

§ 28173301 § 25,215,178

December 31,
2016 2015
(In thousands)

Property and equipment, net:

DOMESLIC TESOITS ...\ttt ettt et et e et $ 14353971 $ 11,853,802
MGM CRINA ..o e 2,857,626 1,896,815
Reportable segment property and equipment, net ........................... 17,211,597 13,750,617
Corporate and Other .........couuiiiiiii e 1,268,622 1,663,095
Eliminated in consolidation ...............cooiiiiiiiiiiiiii e (55,196) (41,917)

$ 18,425,023 § 15,371,795

Year Ended December 31,
2016 2015 2014
(In thousands)

Capital expenditures:

DOMESHIC TESOTES ... vve et et $ 317,951 $ 383,367 $ 292,463
MGM China......cooviiiiiii e 984,355 590,968 347,338
Reportable segment capital expenditures................ 1,302,306 974,335 639,801
Corporate and other ..............ccoviiiiiiiiiiiiiia, 973,446 504,398 233,173
Eliminated in consolidation........................ooovnen. (13,279) (11,914) (933)

$ 2262473 $ 1466819 $ 872,041

NOTE 19 — RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
CityCenter

Management agreements. The Company and CityCenter have entered into agreements whereby the
Company is responsible for management of the operations of CityCenter for a fee of 2% of revenue and 5% of
EBITDA (as defined) for Aria and Vdara and $3 million per year for Crystals. The Company earned fees of $43
million, $41 million and $38 million for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014. The Company is
being reimbursed for certain costs in performing its development and management services. During the years
ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the Company incurred $387 million, $393 million and $380 million,
respectively, of costs reimbursable by CityCenter, primarily for employee compensation and certain allocated
costs. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, CityCenter owed the Company $77 million and $55 million,
respectively, for management services and reimbursable costs recorded in “Accounts receivable, net” in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Other agreements. The Company entered into an agreement with CityCenter whereby the Company
provides CityCenter the use of its aircraft on a time-sharing basis. CityCenter is charged a rate that is based on
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Federal Aviation Administration regulations, which provides for reimbursement for specific costs incurred by the
Company. For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the Company was reimbursed $2 million, $2
million, and $3 million, respectively, for aircraft-related expenses. The Company has certain other arrangements
with CityCenter for the provision of certain shared services, reimbursement of costs and other transactions
undertaken in the ordinary course of business.

MGM China

Ms. Ho is a member of the Board of Directors of, and holds a minority ownership interest in, MGM China.
Ms. Ho is also the managing director of Shun Tak Holdings Limited (together with its subsidiaries “Shun Tak”),
a leading conglomerate in Hong Kong with core businesses in transportation, property, hospitality and
investments. Shun Tak provides various services and products, including ferry tickets, travel products, rental of
hotel rooms, laundry services, advertising services and property cleaning services to MGM China and MGM
China provides rental of hotel rooms at wholesale room rates to Shun Tak and receives rebates for ferry tickets
from Shun Tak. MGM China incurred expenses of $10 million, $16 million and $28 million for the years ended
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. MGM China recorded revenue of less than $1 million related
to hotel rooms provided to Shun Tak for each of the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014. As of
December 31, 2016 and 2015, MGM China did not have a material payable to or receivable from Shun Tak.

MGM Branding and Development Holdings, Ltd. (together with its subsidiary MGM Development
Services, Ltd., “MGM Branding and Development”), an entity included in the Company’s consolidated financial
statements in which Ms. Ho indirectly holds a noncontrolling interest, is party to a brand license agreement with
MGM China. MGM China pays a license fee to MGM Branding and Development equal to 1.75% of MGM
Macau’s consolidated net revenue, subject to an annual cap of $62 million in 2016 with a 20% increase per
annum for each subsequent calendar year during the term of the agreement. During the years ended
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, MGM China incurred total license fees of $34 million, $39 million and $43
million, respectively. Such amounts have been eliminated in consolidation.

MGM China is party to a development services agreement with MGM Branding and Development to
provide certain development services to MGM China in connection with future expansion of existing projects
and development of future resort gaming projects. Such services are subject to a development fee which is
calculated separately for each casino resort property upon commencement of development. For each such
property, the fee is 2.625% of project costs, to be paid in installments as certain benchmarks are achieved. Project
costs are the total costs incurred for the design, development and construction of the casino, casino hotel,
integrated resort and other related sites associated with each project, including costs of construction, fixtures and
fittings, signage, gaming and other supplies and equipment and all costs associated with the opening of the
business to be conducted at each project but excluding the cost of land and gaming concessions and financing
costs. The development fee is subject to an annual cap of $29 million in 2016, which will increase by 10% per
annum for each year during the term of the agreement. For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, MGM
China incurred $12 million and $10 million of fees, respectively, to MGM Branding and Development related to
development services. Such amount is eliminated in consolidation. No fee was paid for the year ended
December 31, 2014.

An entity owned by Ms. Ho received distributions of $15 million, $15 million and $13 million during the
years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively, in connection with the ownership of a
noncontrolling interest in MGM Branding and Development Holdings, Ltd.

MGP

Pursuant to a master lease agreement by and between a subsidiary of the Company (the “Tenant”) and a
subsidiary of the Operating Partnership (the “Landlord”), the Tenant has leased the contributed real estate assets
from the Landlord. The master lease has an initial lease term of ten years with the potential to extend the term for
four additional five-year terms thereafter at the option of the Tenant. The master lease provides that any
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extension of its term must apply to all of the real estate under the master lease at the time of the extension. The
master lease has a triple-net structure, which requires the Tenant to pay substantially all costs associated with the
lease, including real estate taxes, insurance, utilities and routine maintenance, in addition to the base rent.
Additionally, the master lease provides the Landlord with a right of first offer with respect to MGM National
Harbor and the Company’s development property located in Springfield, Massachusetts, which the Landlord may
exercise should the Company elect to sell these properties in the future.

Subsequent to the Company completing its acquisition of Borgata on August 1, 2016, MGP acquired
Borgata’s real property from a subsidiary of the Company in exchange for MGP’s assumption of $545 million of
indebtedness and the issuance of 27.4 million Operating Partnership units to a subsidiary of the Company. In
connection with this transaction, the Tenant and Landlord entered into an amendment to the master lease to
include the Borgata real property.

The annual rent payments due under the master lease were $550 million prior to MGP’s acquisition of
Borgata’s real property on August 1, 2016. Subsequent to the acquisition, annual rent payments under the master
lease increased to $650 million, prorated for the remainder of the first lease year after the Borgata transaction. Rent
under the master lease consists of a “base rent” component and a “percentage rent” component. For the first year,
the base rent will represent 90% of the initial total rent payments due under the master lease and the percentage rent
will represent 10% of the initial total rent payments due under the master lease. The base rent includes a fixed
annual rent escalator of 2.0% for the second through the sixth lease years (as defined in the master lease).
Thereafter, the annual escalator of 2.0% will be subject to the Tenant and, without duplication, the operating
subsidiary sublessees of the Tenant, collectively meeting an adjusted net revenue to rent ratio of 6.25:1.00 based on
their net revenue from the leased properties subject to the master lease (as determined in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, adjusted to exclude net revenue attributable to certain scheduled subleases and, at
the Company’s option, reimbursed cost revenue). The percentage rent will initially be a fixed amount for
approximately the first six years and will then be adjusted every five years based on the average actual annual net
revenues of the Tenant and, without duplication, the operating subsidiary sublessees of the Tenant, from the leased
properties subject to the master lease at such time for the trailing five calendar-year period (calculated by
multiplying the average annual net revenues, excluding net revenue attributable to certain scheduled subleases and,
at the Landlord’s option, reimbursed cost revenue, for the trailing five calendar-year period by 1.4%). During the
year ended December 31, 2016, the Company made rent payments to the Landlord in the amount of $418 million.

Pursuant to the master lease, upon an event of default the Landlord may, at its option (i) terminate the
master lease, repossess any leased property, relet any leased property to a third party and require that the Tenant
pay damages; (ii) require that the Tenant pay to the Landlord rent and other sums payable with interest calculated
at the overdue rate provided for in the master lease or terminate the Tenant’s right to possession of the leased
property and seek damages; and/or (iii) seek any and all other rights and remedies available under law or in
equity. An event of default will be deemed to occur upon certain events, including: (1) the failure by the Tenant
to pay rent or other additional charges when due; (2) failure by the Tenant to comply with the covenants set forth
in the master lease; (3) certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency with respect to a Tenant or the guarantor;
(4) the occurrence of a default under the guaranty of the master lease; (5) the loss or suspension of a material
license that causes cessation of gaming activity that would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse
effect on the Tenant, the facilities or the leased properties taken as a whole; and (6) the failure of the Company,
on a consolidated basis with Tenant, to maintain an EBITDAR to rent ratio (as described in the master lease) of
at least 1.10:1.00 for two consecutive test periods, beginning with the test periods ending December 31, 2016 and
March 31, 2017. The Company was in compliance with all applicable covenants as of December 31, 2016.

Pursuant to a corporate services agreement, the Company provides MGP and its subsidiaries with financial,
administrative and operational support services, including accounting and finance support, human resources
support, legal and regulatory compliance support, insurance advisory services, internal audit services,
governmental affairs monitoring and reporting services, information technology support, construction services,
and various other support services. The Company is reimbursed for all costs it incurs directly related to providing
the services thereunder.
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All intercompany transactions, including transactions under the corporate services agreement and master
lease, have been eliminated in the Company’s consolidation of MGP. The public ownership of MGP’s Class A
shares is recognized as non-controlling interests in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

T-Mobile Arena

The Las Vegas Arena Company leases the land underlying the T-Mobile Arena from the Company under a
50 year operating lease, which commenced upon the opening of the Arena. In conjunction with Las Vegas Arena
Company obtaining financing and beginning construction in 2014, the Company began accruing rental income.
For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the Company recorded income of $3 million, $3 million
and $1 million, respectively, for the T-Mobile Arena ground lease. The Company leases the MGM Grand Garden
Arena to Las Vegas Arena Company. For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company recorded income of
$2 million.

NOTE 20 — CONSOLIDATING CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

As of December 31, 2016, all of the Company’s principal debt arrangements are guaranteed by each of its
material domestic subsidiaries, other than MGP and the Operating Partnership, MGM Grand Detroit, LLC, MGM
National Harbor, LLC and Blue Tarp reDevelopment, LLC (the company that will own and operate the
Company’s proposed casino in Springfield, Massachusetts), and each of their respective subsidiaries. The
Company’s international subsidiaries, including MGM China and its subsidiaries, are not guarantors of such
indebtedness. Separate condensed financial statement information for the subsidiary guarantors and non-
guarantors as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 and for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, are
presented below. Within the Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows for the periods ending
December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company has presented net changes in intercompany accounts as investing
activities if the applicable entities have a net asset in intercompany accounts and as a financing activity if the
applicable entities have a net intercompany liability balance.

Certain of the Company’s subsidiaries (“OPCOs”) collectively own 76.3% of the Operating Partnership
units as of December 31, 2016, and each subsidiary accounts for its respective investment under the equity
method within the condensed consolidating financial information presented below. At these subsidiaries, such
investment constitutes continuing involvement, and accordingly, the contribution and leaseback of the real estate
assets do not qualify for sale-leaseback accounting. The real estate assets that were contributed to and owned by
the Operating Partnership in connection with the IPO, along with the related transactions, are reflected in the
balance sheets of the MGM subsidiaries that contributed such assets. In addition, such subsidiaries recognized
finance liabilities within “Other long-term obligations” related to rent payments due under the Master Lease and
recognized the related interest expense component of such payments. These real estate assets are also reflected
on the balance sheet of the MGP subsidiary that received such assets in connection with the contribution. The
condensed consolidating financial information presented below therefore includes the accounting for such
activity within the respective columns presented and in the elimination column. For all periods prior to the
commencement of the Master Lease arrangement, the condensed consolidating financial information set forth
herein has been retrospectively adjusted to conform prior periods to the current presentation, as the transactions
occurred between entities, which are considered businesses under common control. Accordingly, the real estate
assets and associated operations in all periods prior to the IPO date were reclassified to conform to the current
organizational structure, and are reflected in the MGP subsidiary that currently has legal title to such assets.
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION

Current assets .................
Property and equipment, net.
Investments in subsidiaries ..

Investments in the MGP Operating

Partnership .................

Investments in and advances to

unconsolidated affiliates ..
Intercompany accounts ......
Other non-current assets .....

Current liabilities .............
Intercompany accounts .
Deferred income taxes, net ..
Long-term debt .....
Other long-term obligations .

Total liabilities.............

Redeemable noncontrolling interests .........

MGM Resorts International stockholders’

CQUILY v
Noncontrolling interests ..

Total stockholders’ equity

Current assets .................
Property and equipment, net.
Investments in subsidiaries ..

Investments in and advances to

unconsolidated affiliates ..
Intercompany accounts ......
Other non-current assets .....

Current liabilities .............
Intercompany accounts .
Deferred income taxes, net ..
Long-term debt .....
Other long-term obligations .

Total liabilities.............

Redeemable noncontrolling interests .........

MGM Resorts International stockholders’

CQUILY vt
Noncontrolling interests ..

Total stockholders’ equity

December 31, 2016
Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries
Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries MGP Other El tion lidated

(In thousands)
103,934 $ 981,705 $ 368,622 $ 783,920 $ (8,594) $ 2,229,587
- 13,599,127 9,079,678 4,837,868 (9,091,650) 18,425,023
18,907,988 3,338,752 - - (22,246,740) -
- 3,553,840 - 636,268 (4,190,108) -
- 1,189,590 - 5,853 25,000 1,220,443
- 4,796,713 - - (4,796,713) -
50,741 934,836 58,440 5,302,132 (47,901) 6,298,248
19,062,663 $ 28,394,563 $ 9,506,740 $ 11,566,041 $  (40,356,706) $ 28,173,301
184,281 § 1,301,423 ' $ 139,099 § 837,844 $ (169,226) $ 2,293,421
3,406,699 - 166 1,389,848 (4,796,713) -
2,202,809 - 25,368 348,419 (25,368) 2,551,228
7,019,745 2,835 3,613,567 2,343,073 - 12,979,220
28,949 7,360,887 120,279 1,051,754 (8,235,888) 325,981
12,842,483 8,605,145 3,898,479 5,970,938 (13,227,195) 18,149,850
- - - 54,139 - 54,139
6,220,180 19,729,418 4,274,444 3,125,649 (27,129,511) 6,220,180
- - 1,333,817 2,415,315 - 3,749,132
6,220,180 19,729,418 5,608,261 5,540,964 (27,129,511) 9,969,312
19,062,663 $ 28,394,563 $§ 9,506,740 $ 11,566,041 § (40,356,706) $ 28,173,301

December 31, 2015
Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries
Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries MGP Other El tion lidated

(In thousands)
561,310 $ 932,374 § - 8 915979 $ 914) $ 2,408,749
- 5,089,726 7,793,639 2,500,401 (11,971) 15,371,795
18,491,578 2,956,404 - - (21,447,982) -
- 1,460,084 - 6,413 25,000 1,491,497
- 3,234,271 - - (3,234,271) -
38,577 444,333 - 5,460,227 - 5,943,137
19,091,465 $ 14,117,192 $ 7,793,639 $ 8,883,020 $  (24,670,138) $ 25,215,178
536,165 $ 994,570 $ - S 708,130 $ ©14) $ 2,237,951
2,390,461 - - 843,810 (3,234,271) -
631,763 - 1,734,680 314,133 - 2,680,576
10,393,197 4,837 - 1,970,277 - 12,368,311
19,952 67,212 - 70,499 - 157,663
13,971,538 1,066,619 1,734,680 3,906,849 (3,235,185) 17,444,501
- - - 6,250 - 6,250
5,119,927 13,050,573 6,058,959 2,325,421 (21,434,953) 5,119,927
- - - 2,644,500 - 2,644,500
5,119,927 13,050,573 6,058,959 4,969,921 (21,434,953) 7,764,427
19,091,465 $ 14,117,192 $ 7,793,639 $ 8,883,020 $ (24,670,138) $ 25,215,178
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME INFORMATION

Netrevenues............cooeevvennnen.
Equity in subsidiaries’ earnings......
Expenses........ccoovviiiiiiiiii..
Casino and hotel operations .......
General and administrative ........
Corporate eXpense..................
NV Energy exit expense............
Preopening and start-up
CXPENSES .. eevnvereneeaiinenenns
Property transactions, net ..........
Gain on Borgata transaction........
Depreciation and amortization ....

Income (loss) from unconsolidated
affiliates ...l

Operating income (10ss) ..............

Interest expense, net of amounts
capitalized ...

Other,net ...........coooviiiiiin. ..

Income (loss) before income taxes...
Benefit (provision) for income
BAXES L.

Net income (10SS) ......ooovevniinn...
Less: Net income attributable to
noncontrolling interests .........

Net income (loss) attributable to
MGM Resorts International .......

Net income (10SS) ......oovevniinn...
Other comprehensive income (loss),
net of tax:
Foreign currency translation
adjustment .......................
Unrealized gain (loss) on cash
flow hedges ......................

Other comprehensive income
(10SS) v

Comprehensive income (loss) ........
Less: Comprehensive income
attributable to noncontrolling
INterests ...........coeeveeninnin.

Comprehensive income (loss)
attributable to MGM Resorts
International ........................

Year Ended December 31, 2016

Non-Guarantor

Subsidiaries
Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries MGP Other Elimination Consolidated
(In thousands)

- $ 6918748 $ 467,548 $ 2,539,794 $ (470,967) $ 9,455,123

1,780,707 175,729 - - (1,956,436) -

9,063 3,894,478 - 1,595,542 (3,419) 5,495,664

6,834 1,137,110 68,063 214,839 (48,229) 1,378,617

131,938 160,956 20,360 (194) (286) 312,774

- 139,335 - - - 139,335

- 8,775 - 131,300 - 140,075

- 16,449 4,684 (2406) (3,809) 17,078
- (430,118) - - - (430,118)

- 524,123 220,667 261,730 (156,993) 849,527

147,835 5,451,108 313,774 2,202,971 (212,736) 7,902,952

- 527,934 - (318) - 527,616

1,632,872 2,171,303 153,774 336,505 (2,214,667) 2,079,787
(562,536) (1,500) (115,438) (15,299) - (694,773)
(7,864) (324,141) (726) (93,145) 300,039 (125,837)

1,062,472 1,845,662 37,610 228,061 (1,914,628) 1,259,177
38,968 (22,579) (2,264) (36,424) - (22,299)

1,101,440 1,823,083 35,346 191,637 (1,914,628) 1,236,878
- - (29,938) (105,500) - (135,438)

1,101,440 $ 1,823,083 § 5,408 §$ 86,137 $ (1,914,628) $ 1,101,440

1,101,440 $ 1,823,083 $ 35,346 $ 191,637 $ (1,914,628) $ 1,236,878
(1,477) (1,477) - (2,680) 2,954 (2,680)

1,434 - 1,879 - (1,434) 1,879
(43) (1,477) 1,879 (2,680) 1,520 (801)

1,101,397 1,821,606 37,225 188,957 (1,913,108) 1,236,077
- - (30,383) (104,297) - (134,680)

1,101,397 $ 1,821,606 $ 6,842 $ 84,660 $ (1,913,108) $ 1,101,397
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS INFORMATION

Year Ended December 31, 2016

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries MGP Other Elimination  Consolidated

(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities ... $ (603,136) $ 1,312,165 $§ 297,781 $ 527,162 $ - $ 1,533,972

Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditures, net of construction

payable......c.oooiiiiii - (290,455) (138,987)  (1,833,031) - (2,262,473)
Dispositions of property and equipment ...... - 1,940 - 2,004 - 3,944
Proceeds from partial disposition of

investment in unconsolidated affiliates .... - 15,000 - - - 15,000
Acquisition of Borgata, net of cash

ACQUITEd ...t - (559,443) - - - (559,443)
Investments in and advances to

unconsolidated affiliates..................... - (3,633) - - - (3,633)
Distributions from unconsolidated affiliates

in excess of cumulative earnings - 542,097 - - - 542,097
Intercompany accounts .................. . - (1,562,442) - - 1,562,442 -
Other......ooovviiiiii - (7,651) - (4,045) - (11,696)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing

ACHIVILIES .veeieiiii i - (1,864,587) (138,987)  (1,835,072) 1,562,442 (2,276,204)

Cash flows from financing activities
Net borrowings (repayments) under bank
credit facilities - maturities of 90 days or

LESS ettt (2,016,000) 4,094,850 (2,411,600) 823,782 - 491,032
Borrowings under bank credit facilities -
maturities longer than 90 days .............. 1,845,375 - - - - 1,845,375
Repayments under bank credit facilities -
maturities longer than 90 days .............. (1,845,375) - - - - (1,845,375)
Issuance of long - term debt ................... 500,000 - 1,550,000 - - 2,050,000
Retirement of senior notes ................ . (2,255,392) (2,661) - - - (2,258,053)
Repayment of Borgata credit facility ......... - (583,598) - - - (583,598)
Debt iSSuance Costs ...........ooevvenieneennnn. (29,871) - (77,163) (32,550) - (139,584)
Issuance of MGM Growth Properties
common stock in public offering ........... - - 1,207,500 - - 1,207,500
MGM Growth Properties Class A share
ISSUANCE COSES . .vnvvenrenianienieieeniananns - - (75,032) - - (75,032)
Acquisition of MGM China shares............ (100,000) - - - - (100,000)
MGP dividends paid to consolidated
SUbSIAIATIES ... - - (113,414) - 113,414 -
Distributions to noncontrolling interest
[0 1 I - - (37,415) (65,952) - (103,367)
Excess tax benefit from exercise of stock
OPLIONS .ttt 13,277 - - - - 13,277
Intercompany accounts ..................ooeeen. 4,082,303 (2,952,624) 158,822 387,355 (1,675,856) -
Proceeds from issuance of redeemable
noncontrolling interests ..................... - - - 47,325 - 47,325
Other......ooovuiiiii (30,042) - - (36) - (30,078)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing
ACHIVILIES .vvneieiiiiii e 164,275 555,967 201,698 1,159,924 (1,562,442) 519,422
Effect of exchange rateoncash ................ - - - 921) - (921)
Cash and cash equivalents
Net increase (decrease) for the period ........ (438,861) 3,545 360,492 (148,907) - (223,731)
Balance, beginning of period .................. 538,856 304,168 - 827,288 - 1,670,312
Balance, end of period ......................lL $ 99,995 $ 307,713 $ 360,492 $ 678,381 §$ - $ 1,446,581
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME INFORMATION

Year Ended December 31, 2015

Non-Guarantor

Subsidiaries
Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries MGP Other Elimination Consolidated
(In thousands)
Net reVenues .......oovvvvveiiniiiiiiiinennens $ - $ 6,429,103 $ - $ 2,763,862 $ (2,897) $ 9,190,068
Equity in subsidiaries’ earnings ............ 376,074 (566,270) - - 190,196 -
Expenses
Casino and hotel operations.............. 6,717 3,807,569 - 1,813,987 (2,897) 5,625,376
General and administrative............... 4,959 1,038,053 58,473 207,619 - 1,309,104
Corporate eXpense .............o.eeeeen... 120,615 154,424 - (488) - 274,551
Preopening and start-up expenses ....... - 4,973 - 66,354 - 71,327
Property transactions, net ................ - 24,688 6,665 1,472,589 - 1,503,942
Depreciation and amortization........... - 348,159 196,816 274,908 - 819,883
132,291 5,377,866 261,954 3,834,969 (2,897) 9,604,183
Income (loss) from unconsolidated
affiliates ... - 259,002 - (1,119) - 257,883
Operating income (108S)..................... 243,783 743,969 (261,954) (1,072,226) 190,196 (156,232)
Interest expense, net of amounts
capitalized ... (762,529) (1,057) - (33,993) - (797,579)
Other, et .......coevvvuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiine. 49,497 (84,958) - (56,971) - (92,432)
Income (loss) before income taxes ......... (469,249) 657,954 (261,954) (1,163,190) 190,196  (1,046,243)
Benefit (provision) for income taxes .... 21,529 (7,125) - (7,810) - 6,594
Net income (10SS) ....ovvvveiiiiiniiiinnn. (447,720) 650,829 (261,954) (1,171,000) 190,196  (1,039,649)
Less: Net loss attributable to
noncontrolling interests................ - - - 591,929 - 591,929
Net income (loss) attributable to MGM
Resorts International...................... $ (447,720) $ 650,829 $ (261,954) $ (579,071) $ 190,196 $ (447,720)
Net income (10SS) ....vevenvininiiininenn.. $§ (447,720) $ 650,829 $§ (261,954) $ (1,171,000) $ 190,196 $ (1,039,649)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of
tax:
Foreign currency translation
adjustment ..., 1,703 1,703 - 3,727 (3,406) 3,727
Other.......ooovviiiiiiii (672) (672) - - 672 (672)
Other comprehensive income
(10SS) weveieiiii e 1,031 1,031 - 3,727 (2,734) 3,055
Comprehensive income (loss) .............. (446,689) 651,860 (261,954) (1,167,273) 187,462  (1,036,594)
Less: Comprehensive loss attributable
to noncontrolling interests............. - - - 589,905 - 589,905
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable
to MGM Resorts International ........... § (446,689) § 651,860 $ (261,954) $ (577,368) $ 187,462 $§ (446,689)
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS INFORMATION

Year Ended December 31, 2015
Non-Guarantor

Subsidiaries
Guarantor
Parent  Subsidiaries MGP Other Elimination Consolidated
(In thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating
ACHIVIHICS «.'veiii it $ (776,996)$ 1,375,703 $ (58,473)S 464,845 § - $ 1,005,079
Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditures, net of construction payable.... - (353,245) (129,308)  (984,266) - (1,466,819)
Dispositions of property and equipment .............. - 7,901 - 131 - 8,032
Proceeds from sale of business units and investment
in unconsolidated affiliates.......................... - 92,207 - - - 92,207
Investments in and advances to unconsolidated
affiliates ........oooviiii (141,390) (54,672) - - - (196,062)
Distributions from unconsolidated affiliates in
excess of cumulative earnings ...................... - 201,612 - - - 201,612
Investments in cash deposits - maturities longer than
90 daYS. .. et (200,205) - - - - (200,205)
Proceeds from cash deposits - maturities longer than
90 dayS. ..ot 770,205 - - - - 770,205
Intercompany accounts ..............ocooeiiiiiiiinn.. - (1,059,181) - - 1,059,181 -
Other. ..ot - (7,516) - 3,488 - (4,028)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing
ACHIVILIES +.vttittit i 428,610 (1,172,894) (129,308) (980,647) 1,059,181 (795,058)
Cash flows from financing activities
Net borrowings (repayments) under bank credit
facilities - maturities of 90 days or less ............ (28,000) - - 1,005,275 - 977,275
Borrowings under bank credit facilities - maturities
longer than 90 days ............cooeviviiiiiniinnnn.. 3,768,750 - - 1,350,000 - 5,118,750
Repayments under bank credit facilities - maturities
longer than 90 days ............ccovviiiiiiiinnnn.. (3,768,750) - - (1,350,000) - (5,118,750)
Retirement of senior notes ...............ccoeeeiuennn.. (875,504) - - - - (875,504)
Debt iSSuance CoSts .......oovuieiiieiniiniiaiianiann.. - - - (46,170) - (46,170)
Intercompany accounts ..............ocooeiiiiiiiinn.. 1,003,750 (157,958) 187,781 25,608 (1,059,181) -
Distributions to noncontrolling interest owners ...... - - - (307,227) - (307,227)
Excess tax benefits from exercise of stock options .. 12,369 - - - - 12,369
Proceeds from issuance of redeemable
noncontrolling interests ..................c.oeiiln. - - - 6,250 - 6,250
Other......ovuiiiii (24,881) - - 9 - (24,872)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing
ACHIVILIES .+t e 87,734  (157,958) 187,781 683,745 (1,059,181)  (257.879)
Effect of exchange rateoncash ........................ - - - 793 - 793
Cash and cash equivalents
Net increase (decrease) for the period................. (260,652) 44,851 - 168,736 - (47,065)
Change in cash related to assets held for sale ........ - 3,662 - - - 3,662
Balance, beginning of period .......................... 799,508 255,655 - 658,552 - 1,713,715
Balance, end of period .................c $ 538,856 $ 304,168 $ -$ 827,288 $ - $1,670,312

93



CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME INFORMATION

Netrevenues ...........cooeevveennn...
Equity in subsidiaries’ earnings ....
Expenses .......c.ooociiiiiiiiiii.
Casino and hotel operations......
General and administrative.......
Corporate expense ................
Preopening and start-up
EXPENSES .vuvviiiiiiiieanan
Property transactions, net ........
Depreciation and amortization ...

Income (loss) from unconsolidated
affiliates ...

Operating income (loss).............

Interest expense, net of amounts
capitalized ..................ool

Other,net.............cooviiiiinnn.

Income (loss) before income
TAXES ..t
Provision for income taxes.......

Net income (10SS) ......evveennennn..
Less: Net income attributable to
noncontrolling interests........

Net income (loss) attributable to
MGM Resorts International ......

Net income (10S8) ......oovvveninn...
Other comprehensive income
(loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation
adjustment ......................

Other comprehensive income
(10SS) weveiiiiiii

Comprehensive income (loss) ......
Less: Comprehensive income
attributable to noncontrolling
Interests ...........oooeveininn..

Comprehensive income (loss)
attributable to MGM Resorts
International .......................

Year Ended December 31, 2014

Non-Guarantor

Subsidiaries
Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries MGP Other Elimination Consolidated
(In thousands)

$ -3 6,270,708 $ - $ 3,813,736 $ (2,460) $ 10,081,984
938,712 339,312 - - (1,278,024) -
5,482 3,810,711 - 2,554,965 (2,460) 6,368,698
4,743 1,046,803 59,980 207,223 - 1,318,749
72,116 150,938 - 15,757 - 238,811
- 5,384 - 33,873 - 39,257
- 36,612 - 4,390 - 41,002
- 329,589 186,262 299,914 - 815,765
82,341 5,380,037 246,242 3,116,122 (2,460) 8,822,282
- 64,014 - (178) - 63,836
856,371 1,293,997 (246,242) 697,436 (1,278,024) 1,323,538
(794,826) (574) - (21,661) - (817,061)
50,793 (90,679) - (55,705) - (95,591)
112,338 1,202,744 (246,242) 620,070 (1,278,024) 410,886
(262,211) (20,735) - (762) - (283,708)
(149,873) 1,182,009 (246,242) 619,308 (1,278,024) 127,178
- - - (277,051) - (277,051)
$ (149,873) § 1,182,009 $§ (246,242) $ 342,257 $ (1,278,024) $ (149,873)
$ (149,873) § 1,182,009 $ (246,242) $ 619,308 $ (1,278,024) $ 127,178
(762) (762) - (1,293) 1,524 (1,293)
1,250 1,250 - - (1,250) 1,250
488 488 - (1,293) 274 (43)
(149,385) 1,182,497 (246,242) 618,015 (1,277,750) 127,135
- - - (276,520) - (276,520)
$ (149,385 § 1,182,497 § (246,242) § 341,495 $ (1,277,750) $ (149,385)
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS INFORMATION

Year Ended December 31, 2014

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Guarantor

Parent

Subsidiaries

MGP Other Elimination Consolidated

Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities

$ (718,756) $1,

(In thousands)

163,402 § (59,980) $§ 721,004 $ 25,000 $ 1,130,670

Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditures, net of construction

payable ... - (289,431)  (90,504)  (492,106) - (872,041)
Dispositions of property and equipment.... - 6,631 - 1,020 - 7,651
Investments in and advances to

unconsolidated affiliates .................. (31,400) (46,640) - - (25,000)  (103,040)
Distributions from unconsolidated

affiliates in excess of cumulative

CAMMINGS ..ottt - 132 - - - 132
Investments in treasury securities -

maturities longer than 90 days............ - (123,133) - - - (123,133)
Proceeds from treasury securities -

maturities longer than 90 days............ - 210,300 - - - 210,300
Investments in cash deposits - original

maturities longer than 90 days............ (570,000) - - - - (570,000)
Intercompany accounts....................... - (704,785) - - 704,785 -
Payments for gaming licenses ............... - - - (85,000) - (85,000)
Other......cooooiiii - 10,981 - - - 10,981

Net cash provided by (used in) investing

ACHIVILIES ..vveeieiiiiii e (601,400)  (935,945)  (90,504)  (576,086) 679,785  (1,524,150)
Cash flows from financing activities
Net repayments under bank credit facilities

- maturities of 90 days or less............. (28,000) - - - - (28,000)
Borrowings under bank credit facilities -

maturities longer than 90 days............ 3,821,250 - - 1,350,000 - 5,171,250
Repayments under bank credit facilities -

maturities longer than 90 days............ (3,821,250) - - (1,350,000) - (5,171,250)
Issuance of long-term debt................... 1,250,750 - - - - 1,250,750
Retirement of senior notes ................... (508,900) - - - - (508,900)
Debt issuance costS .........c..cevvveeieianne.. (13,681) - - - - (13,681)
Intercompany accounts....................... 1,045,048  (204,794) 150,484 (285,953)  (704,785) -
Distributions to noncontrolling interest

OWIIETS ettt eeneee et eaeeeaeeennas - - - (386,709) - (386,709)
Other.......oooiiiiiiii (4,213) (803) - (367) - (5,383)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing

ACHIVILIES ...ovveiniiii i 1,741,004  (205,597) 150,484 (673,029)  (704,785) 308,077
Effect of exchange rate on cash ......... - - - (889) - (889)
Cash and cash equivalents -

Net increase (decrease) for the period ...... 420,848 21,860 - (529,000) - (86,292)
Change in cash related to assets held for

Sale ... - (3,662) - - - (3,662)
Balance, beginning of period ................ 378,660 237,457 - 1,187,552 - 1,803,669
Balance, end of period ....................... $ 799,508 $ 255,655 $ - $ 658,552 $ - $ 1,713,715
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NOTE 21 — SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL RESULTS (UNAUDITED)

Quarter
First Second Third Fourth Total
(In thousands, except per share data)
2016
NEETEVENUES ... e eeeteeteeee et et et e e eeeeaeaans $ 2,209,686 $ 2,269,502 $ 2,515,115 $ 2,460,820 $ 9,455,123
Operating iNCOME.......vuuerieetieeeiieeiaeeeeeennen 315,954 769,055 712,755 282,023 2,079,787
NEtINCOME ...ttt 91,198 514,498 561,260 69,922 1,236,878
Net income attributable to MGM Resorts
International ... 66,799 474,353 535,619 24,669 1,101,440
Basic income pershare...............cooeviiiiiiiinann... $ 0.12 $ 0.84 $ 094 $ 0.04 $ 1.94
Diluted income per share ....................ooooviin.n. $ 012 $ 083 $ 093 $ 004 $ 1.92
2015
NEETEVENUES ..ottt $ 2,332,244 $ 2,385,135 § 2,280,816 $ 2,191,873 § 9,190,068
Operating income (10SS).........ovuevuiiiiiiiiiininin.. 395,104 348,521 297,377 (1,197,234) (156,232)
Net income (10SS) ...enveeneieiniitiiniiieiaaaans 212,646 126,467 94,735 (1,473,497) (1,039,649)
Net income (loss) attributable to MGM Resorts
International ..............cooiiiiiiiii 169,850 97,459 66,425 (781,454) (447,720)
Basic income (loss) per share.................coooeina... $ 035 $ 0.18 $ 0.12 § (1.38) $ (0.82)
Diluted income (loss) per share ........................... $ 033 $ 0.17 $ 012 $ (1.38) $ (0.82)

Because income (loss) per share amounts are calculated using the weighted average number of common and

dilutive common equivalent shares outstanding during each quarter, the sum of the per share amounts for the four
quarters does not equal the total loss per share amounts for the year. The following sections list certain items
affecting comparability of quarterly and year-to-date results and related per share amounts. Additional
information related to these items is included elsewhere in the notes to the accompanying financial statements.

Certain items affecting comparability for the year ended December 31, 2016 are as follows:

¢ First Quarter. None;
e Second Quarter. In the second quarter and the full year, the Company recorded a $406 million and a

$401 million gain, respectively, ($0.57 and $0.56 per share in the quarter and full year of 2016,
respectively) for its share of CityCenter’s gain related to the sale of Crystals;

Third Quarter. The Company recorded a $430 million ($0.60 and $0.61 per share in the quarter and full
year of 2016, respectively) gain related to the acquisition of Borgata. Additionally, the Company recorded
a $139 million ($0.18 loss per share in the quarter and full year of 2016) charge related to NV Energy exit
expense and a $13 million ($0.02 loss per share in the quarter and full year of 2016) charge related to our
share of CityCenter’s NV Energy exit expense associated with the Company’s strategic decision to exit
the fully bundled sales system of NV Energy; and

¢ Fourth Quarter. None.
Certain items affecting comparability for the year ended December 31, 2015 are as follows:

* First Quarter. The Company recorded an $80 million ($0.09 and $0.10 per share in the quarter and full

year of 2015, respectively) gain for its share of CityCenter’s gain resulting from the final resolution of its
construction litigation and related settlements;

Second Quarter. None;

Third Quarter. None; and

Fourth Quarter. The Company recorded a $1.5 billion ($1.33 and $1.38 loss per share in the quarter and
full year of 2015, respectively) impairment charge related to goodwill of its MGM China reporting unit
and a $17 million ($0.02 loss per share in the quarter and full year of 2015) impairment charge related to
its investment in Grand Victoria. The Company recorded a $23 million ($0.03 per share in the quarter and
full year of 2015) gain on sale of Circus Circus Reno, and the Company’s 50% interest in Silver Legacy
and associated real property.
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INVESTOR INFORMATION

The graph below matches MGM Resorts International’s cumulative 5-Year total
shareholder return on common stock with the cumulative total returns of the Dow
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Executive Vice President — General Counsel and Secretary
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The stock price performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.

The following table represents the high and low trading prices of the Company’s common stock.

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2016 2015

HIGH LOW HIGH LOW
FIRST QUARTER $22.97 $16.18 $23.25 $18.82
SECOND QUARTER $25.29 $20.59 $22.65 $17.50
THIRD QUARTER $26.49 $22.33 $22.77 $16.84
FOURTH QUARTER $30.62 $25.25 $24.41 $18.19

The Company’s common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “MGM.” There were approximately 3,881 record holders of our common stock as of
February 24, 2017. On February 15, 2017, the Board of Directors approved a quarterly dividend of $0.11 per share. This dividend was paid on March 15, 2017, to stockholders of record as of the
close of business on March 10, 2017. The amount, declaration and payment of any future dividends will be subject to the discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors who will evaluate our
dividend policy from time to time based on factors it deems relevant. In addition, as a holding company with no independent operations, the Company’s ability to pay dividends will depend
upon the receipt of cash from the Company’s operating subsidiaries to generate the funds from operations necessary to pay dividends on the Company’s common stock. Furthermore, the
Company’s senior credit facility contains financial covenants and restrictive covenants that could restrict the Company’s ability to pay dividends, subject to certain exceptions. In addition,
the MGM National Harbor, MGM Growth Properties Operating Partnership, and MGM China credit facilities each contain limitations on the ability of the applicable subsidiary under each
credit agreement to pay dividends to the Company. There can be no assurance that the Company will continue to pay dividends in the future.

CAUTIONARY LANGUAGE CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS: Statements in this annual report that are not historical facts are “forward-looking” statements and
“safe harbor statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and other related laws that involve risks and/or uncertainties, including risks and/
or uncertainties described in the Company’s public filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Company has based these forward-looking statements on management’s
current expectations and assumptions and not on historical facts. Examples of these statements include, but are not limited to, statements regarding the Company’s expectations regarding
future results and the Company’s financial outlook, the payment of any future cash dividends on the Company’s common stock, its ability to generate future cash flow growth and to
execute on future development and other projects and the Company’s ability to execute its strategic plan and improve its financial flexibility. Among the important factors that could
cause actual results to differ materially from those indicated in such forward-looking statements include effects of economic conditions and market conditions in the markets in which the
Company operates and competition with other destination travel locations throughout the United States and the world, the design, timing and costs of expansion projects, risks relating to
international operations, permits, licenses, financings, approvals and other contingencies in connection with growth in new or existing jurisdictions and additional risks and uncertainties
described in the Company’s Form 10-K, Form 10-Q and Form 8-K reports (including all amendments to those reports). In providing forward-looking statements, the Company is not
undertaking any duty or obligation to update these statements publicly as a result of new information, future events or otherwise except as required by law.
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